
 
 

 
eastsussex.gov.uk 

EAST SUSSEX HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
TUESDAY, 12 APRIL 2016 
 
2.30 PM COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, LEWES 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP -  Councillor Keith Glazier (Chair), Councillors Bill Bentley, Pat Rodohan, 

Trevor Webb; Councillor Martin Kenward, Councillor Mike Turner, 
Dr Elizabeth Gill, Dr Martin Writer, Amanda Philpott, Stuart Gallimore, 
Keith Hinkley, Cynthia Lyons, Sarah MacDonald and Julie Fitzgerald 
 

ALSO PRESENT - Councillor Margaret Salsbury, Councillor Linda Wallraven, Councillor Claire 
Dowling, Becky Shaw, Marie Casey, Paula Head, Colm Donaghy, Katy 
Bourne. 

 
A G E N D A  
 
1   Minutes of meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held on 26 January 2016  (Pages 3 - 

8) 
 

2   Apologies for absence   
 

3   Disclosure by all members present of personal interests in matters on the agenda   
 

4   Urgent items   

Notification of items which the Chair considers to be urgent and proposes to take at the 
end of the agenda. Any members who wish to raise urgent items are asked, wherever 
possible, to notify the Chair before the start of the meeting. In so doing, they must state 
the special circumstances which they consider justify the matter being considered 
urgently 

 
5   East Sussex Armed Forces Community  (Pages 9 - 20) 

 Report by the Director of Sussex Collaborative 

 
6   The East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Strategic Plan 2015-18 Progress 

Report  (Pages 21 - 38) 

 Report by the Independent Chair of East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

7   Update on Mental Health Crisis Concordat  (Pages 39 - 56) 

 Report by the Head of Strategic Commissioning for Mental Health, ESCC and 
the Service Director for East Sussex, Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

 
8   Better Care Fund 2016/17  (Pages 57 - 128) 

 Joint Report by the Director of Adult Social Care and Health, ESCC and East 
Sussex CCGs 

 
9   NHS Updates  (Verbal Report) 

 High Weald Lewes and Havens CCG – Dr Elizabeth Gill 

 Eastbourne, Seaford and Hailsham CCG – Dr Martin Writer 

 Hasting and Rother CCG – Amanda Philpott 



 

 

 
10   Date of next meeting: Tuesday 4 October 2016, 2.30pm   

 
 
 
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive   
County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent 
LEWES BN7 1UE 4 April 2016 
 
Contact Harvey Winder, Democratic Services Officer, 01273 481796,  
 
Email: harvey.winder@eastsussex.gov.uk  
 
 
 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website and the record archived for future viewing. The 
broadcast/record is accessible at 
 www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm 
 



 
 
 

 

EAST SUSSEX HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, 
Lewes on 26 January 2016. 
 

 
 
PRESENT Councillors Keith Glazier (Chair), Bill Bentley, Pat Rodohan, Trevor Webb; 

Councillor Martin Kenward, Dr Elizabeth Gill, Dr Martin Writer, 
Amanda Philpott, Stuart Gallimore, Keith Hinkley, Cynthia Lyons and 
Julie Fitzgerald 
 
 

ALSO PRESENT Councillors Mike Turner, Linda Wallraven and Claire Dowling; Becky 
Shaw, Marie Casey and Paula Head. 
 

 
 
 
15 MINUTES OF MEETING OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD ON 06 
OCTOBER 2015  
 

15.1 The Board RESOLVED to agree that the minutes were a correct record of the meeting 
held on 6 October 2015. 

 
 
16 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

16.1 Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Margaret Salsbury and Sarah Macdonald. 

 
 
17 HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY: 6 MONTHLY REPORT  
 

17.1 The Board considered a report by the Chief Executive providing an update on the 
progress to date on delivering the East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-2016. 

17.2 The Board discussion included the following topics: 

 Length of stay at hospital – The strategy target: “reduce the time they spend in 
hospital”, was given a “red” rating in the progress report; it was pointed out that this was 
a national issue and length of stay for patients varied between Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) areas. A number of initiatives were being undertaken to reduce length of 
stay for patients at hospital including integrated locality teams and Health and Social 
Care Connect (HSCC) – developed as part of the East Sussex Better Together (ESBT) 
programme – and co-ordinating and focussing hospital discharge plans around the 2% 
of patients who take up 15-18% of emergency hospital admissions. 

 Hospital admissions for falls – The target “Reduce the rate of older people admitted to 
hospital due to falls” had gone from rated “green” to “red”. This is a long standing issue 
in East Sussex; health and social care providers are trying different solutions, for 
example, setting up a Joint Community Rehabilitation Service; and developing a 
business case for improved community therapy, including falls and fracture prevention, 
from 2016/17. Less successful solutions – like ‘Otego’ exercise classes – have been 
discontinued. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 
 
 

 

 Winter planning – The CCGs prepare throughout the year for crises and escalation and 
have robust winter resilience plans in place that are developed and monitored by a multi-
disciplinary System Resilience Group. The CCGs are confident that their winter 
resilience plans are robust enough to cope with pressures in all but exceptional 
circumstances – such as during incidents of high staff sickness or ward closures due to 
outbreaks of illness.  

 

17.3 The Board RESOLVED to: 

1) agree that it had considered and commented on the report; and 

2) agree the proposed amendment and deletion to measures and targets at paragraph 4.1 and 
4.2.  

 
 
18 DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT  
 

18.1 The Board considered a report by the Acting Director of Public Health outlining the 
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015-16, called Strengthening Personal 
Resilience in East Sussex. The Board was also provided with a printed copy of the Annual 
Report.  

18.2 It was pointed out that a robust community and voluntary sector (CVS) was vital to 
strengthening personal resilience in East Sussex; however, it was becoming more difficult to 
support the CVS via the direct funding of service provision in the current financial climate. The 
East Sussex Better Together (ESBT) programme includes a workstream looking at community 
resilience. The ESBT programme board has agreed with representatives of the CVS, through 
regular liaison meetings, that it will strengthen CVS engagement in the ESBT programme in 
order to find the best ways to deliver the objectives of the workstream in the current 
environment of diminishing resources. 

18.3 The Board RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
 
19 EAST SUSSEX BETTER TOGETHER UPDATE  
 

19.1 The Board considered a report by the Director of Adult Social Care and Health outlining 
the next steps and key phases in the ESBT programme for moving to an accountable care 
model in East Sussex, and to highlight the timescales to deliver new arrangements. 

19.2 Healthwatch welcomed the ESBT approach and commitment to integrated community 
health and social care. Healthwatch was keen to engage in the design and governance aspects 
of ESBT in order to both fulfil its role as a statutory consumer champion for patients, and to 
ensure that the people of East Sussex see ESBT as a positive development. 

19.3 The Board discussion included the following topics: 

 The challenge East Sussex County Council faces – following the withdrawal of High 
Weald Lewes Havens CCG (HWLH CCG) from ESBT – in developing a solution to 
provide social care in the HWLH CCG area separately to the ESBT “accountable care 
model” in the rest of the county.  

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 How the integrated community health and social care delivered by ESBT is unlikely to 
affect patient choice in any noticeable way. This is because most choices made by 
patients about where they receive medical treatment are made after a referral by a GP to 
a specialist within the acute sector.  

19.4  The Chief Officer, Hastings & Rother (HR CCG) and Eastbourne, Hailsham & Seaford 
CCGs (EHS CCG) provided an oral update on the development of a five-year NHS 
Sustainability & Transformation Plan (STP), which are ‘place-based’ integrated health and social 
care plans that all CCGs must develop or sign up to.  

19.5 The Chief Officer explained that: 

 The most compelling and credible STPs – those deemed by NHS England to have 
‘exemplar status’ – will attract early access to additional transformation funding. 

 ESBT is in an advanced stage of development which makes East Sussex CCGs well 
placed already to fulfil the criteria that need to be met to achieve ‘exemplar status’.  

 HR CCG and EHS CCG propose to submit the ESBT programme to NHS England as a 
core footprint plan that meets the criteria of an STP for community and social care 
services. At the same time, ESBT will be put forward as an exemplar STP. 

 Whilst ESBT would be their core focus, HR CCG and EHS CCG will proactively 
contribute to the wider acute network footprints in recognition of the need to ensure the 
sustainability of acute hospital services across wider networks and geographies. The 
CCGs anticipate, on the basis of the historic evidence and the patient flows east into 
Kent and west into Brighton, that this would be best achieved on a Kent, Surrey, Sussex 
footprint. 

 HR CCG and EHS CCG requested endorsement of this proposal by the East Sussex 
Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB). 

19.6 The Board RESOLVED to: 

1) agree that it had considered and discussed the key phases in the collaborative approach to 
developing and delivering accountable care in East Sussex; 

2) note the timescales for delivering the new arrangements in relation to the East Sussex Better 
Together (ESBT) Programme objectives; and 

3) endorse Hastings & Rother CCG and Eastbourne, Seaford and Hailsham CCG submitting 
ESBT as a ‘footprint’ Sustainability and Transformation Plan to NHS England. 

 
 
20 NHS UPDATES  
 

20.1     The Board considered a presentation from the Deputy Chair of High Weald Lewes 
Havens CCG (HWLH CCG) providing updates on the latest NHS commissioning activity in the 
High Weald Lewes Havens area of East Sussex.  

20.2     During the presentation: 

         HWLH CCG explained that its decision to withdraw from the ESBT was in order to 
concentrate its resources to match the needs of its local population – 67% of whom 
receive healthcare outside of East Sussex.

Page 5



 
 
 

 

         HWLH CCG was asked what consultation it had undertaken in reaching its decision, 
and described its decision-making process. 

         HWLH CCG said it was developing its own integrated health and social care at the point 
of delivery for the patient.

20.3     The Director of Adult Social Care and Health, East Sussex County Council (ESCC), 
raised concerns about the withdrawal of HWLH CCG from the ESBT programme, including: 

        The partner organisations involved in ESBT had agreed from the outset that the best 
way to manage patient flows was to build community, primary and social care services 
around community localities in partnership with broader stakeholders. Planning focused 
on acute pathways would not be an appropriate way to deliver this longer term goal.  

        Significant engagement with stakeholders on what is the most effective model for 
community health and social care in East Sussex has already taken place, and ESBT is 
at the stage where implementation is being taken forward. It will be a challenge to 
reassess these plans in the absence of HWLH CCG.

        ESCC will have to deal with increased management capacity costs – as will the wider 
health and social care system – as a result of there being two models of care in East 
Sussex. 

        There is currently no agreed programme for health and social care in the High Weald, 
Lewes and the Havens area that could be submitted to NHS England as a ‘footprint’ 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), nor have any priorities been agreed in 
consultation with HWLH CCG.  

        ESCC will no longer implement integrated health and social care teams with integrated 
line management (as agreed in the ESBT programme) in the High Weald, Lewes and 
the Havens. ESCC has agreed, however, to work with HWLH CCG on future priorities 
for joint working.

         The Director of Adult Social Care and Health had not been made aware that local 
members were consulted about the decision to withdraw from ESBT.

20.4     The Board considered a verbal update on the latest NHS commissioning activity in the 
rest of East Sussex from the Chief Officer of Hastings and Rother CCG and Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG. 

20.5     Healthwatch welcomed HR CCG’s decision to undertake co-commissioning of GP 
services with NHS England – which now meant all three CCGs co-commission GP services – as 
it will likely lead to improved patient satisfaction towards GPs in the area. 

20.6     The Board resolved to: 

1) note the updates from the three CCGs; 

2) defer the decision of whether to endorse High Weald Lewes Havens CCG’s proposed 
‘footprint’ Sustainability and Transformation Plan until a more detailed report has been 
considered at a future meeting.  

  

 
 
21 NATIONAL AND LOCAL GUIDANCE UPDATES  

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 

21.1 The Board considered reports by a) the Head of Quality, Eastbourne Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG and Hastings and Rother CCG; and b) the East Sussex Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) Independent Chair. The reports provided a) an update on the CCGs’ 
progress against the Transforming Care agenda; and b) an outline of the LSCB Annual Report.   

21.2 The Board discussed how a wide range of mental health support can be made available 
to children at school, up to and including a referral to the Children and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS). 

21.2 The Board RESOLVED to note both reports and their appendices.  

 
 

The meeting ended at 4.25 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Keith Glazier 
Chair  
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Date: 
 

12 April 2016 

By: Director of Sussex Collaborative, Lead Sussex Armed Forces 
Network 
 

Title: East Sussex Armed Forces Community 
 

Purpose: To aid the Board’s understanding, identify gaps, provide assurance 
on progress to meet the needs of the armed forces community.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The Board is recommended to: 

1) Note the progress made to date by Sussex Armed Forces Network and services and 
partners within Health and Social Care; 

2) Support and encourage the continuation of the work of the system working together to 
deliver the needs for this community; 

3) Note the work undertaken by the East Sussex Safer Communities Team to review data 
held on veterans and agree this is used, where possible, to implement these 
recommendations; 

4) Continue joint working across Sussex through the Sussex Armed Forces Network to 
provide leadership, champion the needs of this community and raise its profile; and 

5) To agree that consideration is given by all agencies, through the East Sussex Safer 
Communities partnership to improve data collection. 

 

 

1 Background 

1.1 The East Sussex Community Covenant was signed by the East Sussex Strategic 
Partnership and Ministry of Defence (MoD) in May 2013. The East Sussex Strategic Partnership 
(ESSP) brings together different parts of the local community – there are 22 member 
organisations, representing public services, local businesses, community groups and voluntary 
sector organisations.  The ESSP was set up in 2000 to help organisations work together in a co-
ordinated way to plan local services, tackle the issues that matter to local people and improve 
quality of life in East Sussex.  The ESSP works under the principles of the Armed Forces 
Community Covenant.  However, unlike in other areas with armed forces barracks or training 
bases, there is not a separate Civilian Military Partnership Board (CMPB) for the county. The 
needs of cadets, reservists and veterans in the community for council services (at county and 
district / borough level) are considered through assessments and any issues arising specifically 
from a person’s military status are picked up and considered and addressed through the 
assessment process. Further information about the work down under the Covenant is at para 2.7 
below.  In relation to improvements in health services provision to current or veteran armed forces 
personnel, the Sussex Armed Forces Network, which is administered and led by the NHS, working 
across East and West Sussex and Brighton & Hove. This is a report from that network.  

1.2 There is an obligation to meet the requirements of the Armed Forces Covenant reinforced 
by the NHS Constitution, Social Care Acts and other national contracts for both social care and the 
NHS to look after this vulnerable community.  

1.3 Identifying the needs for the Armed Forces Community has taken place using the Sussex-
wide Need Assessment from 2012 and local data held by the network.  East Sussex has not 
undertaken a more recent localised Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) but a review 
capturing the information and intelligence held by the multiagency Safer East Sussex Team was 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



undertaken by Safer East Sussex Team. Further insights about the needs in East Sussex have 
been obtained via feedback from veterans, reservists, their families and from the wider armed 
forces community.  

1.4 The aim is to enable the community as a whole to be better facilitated to provide excellent 
support to the Armed Forces Community across Sussex.  Those who serve in the Armed Forces 
whether Regular or Reserve, those who have served in the past and their families, should face no 
disadvantage and receive the integrated care and support they require tailored to their particular 
needs in accordance with the Armed Forces Covenant. 

1.5 The Sussex Armed Forces Network (SAFN) was established in 2011 by NHS Sussex.  The 
SAFN is managed and supported by the 7 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) through the 
Sussex Strategic Clinical Commissioning Executive Committee. Unlike other County Councils 
there is no CMPB in East Sussex.  Work is addressed within the current structures, so to date East 
Sussex County Council has not identified a need for a Civilian Military Partnership Board. 

1.6 The Network works with CMPBs across Sussex where they have been established and 
ensure the different groups complement each other and are most efficient and effective in delivery 
to meet the needs of this community. 

1.7 The Sussex Armed Forces Network has representation from Ministry of Defence (MoD); 
Armed Forces organisations, Armed Forces charities, NHS (physical and mental health); 
community and voluntary sector, local further education establishments and local authority 
representatives from Housing, HR and Adult Social Care, Criminal Justice System, and the Police. 

1.8 Reports are regularly provided by these groups and there are work programmes with aims 
to deliver the needs identified by the JSNA. 

1.9 The key areas of work being developed and delivered are: 

 pathways which cross organisational boundaries and are built on networks and 
understanding of others to provide integrated care; 

 awareness raising; 

 training and education; 

 data and infrastructures of support. 

 

2 Supporting information 

2.1 This briefing is presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board to aid understanding to meet 
the needs of the armed forces community and to agree the following recommendations: 

 To note the progress made to date within the Sussex Armed Forces Network and services 
and partners within Health and Social Care. 

 Provide leadership and support, improving the links across the system to deliver the needs 
for this community. 

 To improve data collection which could be delivered through equality and diversity routes. 

Needs Assessment of the Armed Forces Community 

2.2 A Joint Needs Assessment was undertaken in 2012 covering Sussex Armed Forces 
Community across Sussex. Though considerable work has occurred in Sussex the themes still 
remain with key areas to be addressed. 

2.3 Where possible, East Sussex needs to implement recommendations from the Sussex 2012 
needs assessment. This included the following recommendations: 

1 Data Collection- Improve data Collection to aid establish of need in the community, referral 
and treatment in line with Covenant 

2 Support for reservists – Local public sector organisation as employers should have policies 
should support reservist and post-mobilisation reactions in veterans 

Page 10



3 Physical Health – Consider prosthetics and rehabilitation services, alcohol consumption and 
access to IVF (This has progressed to MSK, loss of sight and Hearing Loss) 

4 Mental Health – Meet specific needs such as alcohol misuse and PTSD and the needs of 
reservists. (This is now classed for all mental health disorders) 

5 Support for ex-service personnel in prison – Better identification, extension of veterans in 
custody schemes, in-reach service and divert offenders schemes. 

6 Department for Communities and Local Government Guidance – Housing to ensure 
guidance into allocation schemes and policies re in place and implemented. 

7 At risk leavers are identified with appropriate signposting in place to specialist support 

8 Confirmation that national guidance has been implemented. 

2.4 A review was undertaken by ESCC in by the Safer East Sussex Team which provides a 
local profile for Sussex.  

Armed Forces Community 

2.5 Service in the Armed Forces is different from other occupations.  Apart from the obvious 
uncertainties and dangers, Service people relinquish some of their own civil liberties and put 
themselves in harm’s way to protect others. 

2.6 The risk of death (occupational attributable mortality) for the Army overall is currently 
around 1 in 1000 per year, or about 150 times greater than for the general working population.  
Risk of serious injury (for example loss of limbs, eyes or other body parts) is substantially 
increased. 

2.7 The East Sussex Community Covenant was signed by the East Sussex Strategic 
Partnership (ESSP) and MoD in May 2013 and since then  work has focused on : 

 publicising the Grant Fund http://www.essp.org.uk/What-we-do/East-Sussex-Community-
Covenant/community-covenant-grant-fund (on the ESSP website, in Funding News and 
Health & Wellbeing News) and  

 Supporting people with applications, such as the “Home Fires Newhaven and Seaford 
WW1 project (also known as Using arts and culture as a vehicle for raising awareness and 
improving community cohesion in Newhaven and Seaford.)  

2.8 Veterans include anyone who has served for at least one day in the Armed Forces (Regular 
or Reserve), as well as Merchant Navy seafarers and fishermen who have served in a vessel that 
was operated to facilitate military operations by the Armed Forces. 

2.9 The Sussex Military Veterans Needs Assessment was conducted in 2012.  It noted that 
identifying the number of veterans, at national or local level, is difficult.  Applying the national 
estimates suggests that there are around 46,555 military veterans within the county of East Sussex 
(not including Brighton & Hove).  Of these veterans, the vast majority are men (estimated at 87%) 
and 66% are aged 65 years or over.  

2.10 Discharge numbers from the MoD show there were 77 out of 272 veterans registered as 
resettling in East Sussex in 2010/11 

2.11 As of March 2014 there were 1905 veterans in East Sussex receiving a pension under the 
Armed Forces Pension Scheme and 945 veterans receiving compensation for injuries sustained 
during service, but this doesn’t include all disabled or injured veterans.   

2.12 Of the SSAFA (Sussex branch) total workload of 490 cases in 2014, 326 (67%) came from 
East Sussex.  This is an increase from 365 out of 595 (61%) for 2013. 

2.13 In addition, in the last financial year the Royal British Legion in Sussex has also provided 
welfare support across a range of needs; however, the major areas of concern were mobility, 
housing and debt & bankruptcy.  This is a trend that has continued into this financial year and 
continues to be the main focus of welfare support. 

2.14 This does not take into account a veteran’s family who are also covered by the covenant  

Page 11

http://www.essp.org.uk/What-we-do/East-Sussex-Community-Covenant/community-covenant-grant-fund
http://www.essp.org.uk/What-we-do/East-Sussex-Community-Covenant/community-covenant-grant-fund


2.15 There are Reservists within East Sussex and this is 4 Platoon, B Company, 3rd Battalion, 
The Prince of Wales’s Royal Regiment which is based in Eastbourne. 

2.16 Detailed information about the Armed Forces Community for Sussex and East Sussex can 
found on the SAFN website in the community information document (see appendix 1).  

Delivery 

Awareness Raising 

2.17 The pathway project is now completed and the pathways information is available in hard 
copies and via the SAFN (partners have also distributed this to their networks including SERFCA, 
Dept of Work and Pensions, B&H and West Sussex council teams in Adult Social Care, Referral 
Teams and Access Point and to all staff via the council’s Intranet) website.  The Armed Forces 
Champions and Charities are using the pathways and sharing them within their organisations.  The 
Brighton and Hove Carers Centre has produced a leaflet and has trained its staff, linking with other 
charities to train them in services/support available for carers across Sussex.  The original project 
has been extended, with additional funding from SAFN, to design a carer awareness, families and 
young people training package. 13 eLearning modules are now complete and live via the SAFN 
website. 

2.18 Care for the Carers in East Sussex has adopted and localised the leaflets and information. 
They are now part of the network and have trained champions.  

2.19 The Carers Centre has advised that out of the adult carers supported in the period 14/15 for 
Brighton & Hove, the armed forces carers would be 5.6% of clients. East Sussex Care for the 
Carers has started to collect data. 

2.20 The next step: To develop the young carers support, elearning modules and work with a 
national charity on family needs. 

2.21 www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk is being used by all sectors of the SAFN and 
CMPBs by providing a source of information, training and education, press releases, and sign 
posting.  It is regularly being updated.  Professionals, veterans and families have also started to 
use it as way to access the Network to get advice and support. 

2.22 Next Step: To continue to develop further elearning modules and update existing modules 
as further advances are made both locally and nationally. 

2.23 The Department of Work & Pensions (DWP) (members of the some of the CMPB) are also 
leading on best practice by having  information on their Intranet for colleagues to find out about 
volunteering as reservists and providing armed forces community factsheets for staff across all Job 
Centre sites.   

Integrated Support and MDT Working 

Armed Forces Champion Network 

2.24 An integral part of the vision was to set up a network of champions who would not only be 
able to support and advise the armed forces community first hand but also work together to help 
individuals across boundaries.  There are now over 140 champions in Sussex who come from a 
range of backgrounds.  Although it originally started with mainly mental health organisations, 
membership is now much wider with attendance from County Councillors, the Probation Service, 
Police, Fire Service, MSK services, mental health, Substance Misuse, Charities and other statutory 
organisations.  The network formed from these champions is helping to break down barriers and 
make vital connections throughout the community. 

2.25 There are two Champion Coordinators, both of whom have experience in mental health.  
One is a veteran and a reservist themself, supporting the network to enable the initial two day 
training programme, the on-going learning, focused mental health events and other specific sector 
training that might be required.  The experience, passion and knowledge they offer to the 
champions and the network is invaluable, helping to ensure the model in Sussex is sustainable and 
embedded for the future.   

Page 12

http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/


2.26 The team have also produced several products to aid local clinicians including Provider and 
GP fact sheets and a specific needs assessment. 

2.27 This work has won national awards and is being used as a Best Practice Case Study in the 
National Annual Armed Forces Covenant Report 2015. 

2.28 Louisa Havers, Head of Safer Communities, East Sussex County Council attended the 
Armed Forces Champion training on the 16th -17th March 2016. 

2.29 Next Step: Interest is significantly increasing with providers with middle management levels 
taking an interest.  The courses are now being run twice a year.  Case Studies are being collated 
and started to be shared to learn lessons and share impact and value of the network.  Links have 
been made to the NHS Employers and their Reservist Champions roles which were launched on 
7th October 2015. 

Housing/Homelessness.  

2.30 Access to housing and vulnerability around homelessness are key issues faced by ex-
service men and women.  Migration to the south coast was popular with younger ex armed forces 
personnel.  The Royal British Legion were seeing an increase in younger veterans in the Bexhill 
and Hastings areas and less in Brighton because of the costs of living.   

2.31 The council’s present allocations policy has specific mention that serving armed forces are 
exempt from the local connection criteria.  

2.32 In other areas of Sussex Adult Social Care, First Base Homeless Day Centre, Rough 
Sleepers, Supported Accommodation and related services for single homeless people and 
Substance Misuse Services have been monitoring the armed forces community as vulnerable in 
the stats.  

2.33 Next Step: Under statutory direction from central government, consideration should be 
given to serving personnel and ex personnel within the last five years to be given Band A priority 
for those that qualify, and this will be looked at formally in the council’s review of the allocations 
policy, East Sussex needs to possibly consider this group as vulnerable and put in steps to ensure 
that they are supported.  

Data Collection 

2.34 It is essential that the identification of this community occurs to enable/take account of the 
cultural, additional and possible complex needs to be addressed to support the individual and/or 
family.  

2.35 East Sussex County Council on their Equality Form does not currently ask the following 
question about Armed Forces Service.  This could be a way of collecting and understanding the 
demand from this hard to reach community: 

 Are you currently serving in the UK Armed Forces (this includes reservists or part-time 
service, e.g.: Territorial Army)? 

 Have you ever served in the UK Armed Forces? 

 Are you a member of a current or former serviceman or woman’s immediate 
family/household?  

2.36 Some services do their own analysis and use the information to improve their provision.  
The annual Adult Social Care survey that was undertaken in 2014/15 asked all 419 respondents to 
the survey if they have served in the armed forces.  

2.37 The results below show that 68 (16%) had and that these individuals were largely aged 75+ 
with 57% falling in the higher age bracket of 85+.  

Age n % 

45-54 1 1% 

55-64 5 7% 

65-74 5 7% 

Page 13



75-84 18 26% 

85+ 39 57% 

2.38 It is in the NHS Contract that this group is not disadvantaged and to enable this, providers 
have to ask the above questions.  The Mental Health and IAPT services (approx. 600 cases have 
been treated in Sussex)  are asking the question.  Other organisations in Sussex have also been 
sent information about their responsibilities under the NHS Constitution and contracts and 
reminded to review access policies; this will be reviewed via the statutory performance meetings. 

2.39 The availability of information and quality of data is increasing as services improve their 
submissions to the national dataset.  

2.40 Next Step: To monitor all data that is available to enable an understanding of demand and 
where the community is being supported.  As part of the GP training and Practice Awareness 
Programme the need to collect data is being raised.  It is in the GP contracts and the READ codes 
are now available on all GP IT systems. 

Focus for next 6 Months 

2.41 GPs, Practice Managers and primary care raising awareness work has already started.  
This work needs to spread Sussex-wide. The information and support has been developed and the 
SAFN will be working with Communication Teams, Charities, and GPs to significantly raise the 
understanding within the primary care community of the needs, support available and what they 
should do for the armed forces community.  

2.42 Currently, the Sussex Armed Forces Network is undertaking a research project which 
started in Brighton and Hove to find out about the voluntary sectors understanding of the Armed 
Forces Community and its needs.  The information has been collated and written up into a report to 
enable an understanding of the level of awareness of the Armed Forces Community within the 
voluntary sector.  This work is now been undertaken in East and West Sussex. The aim is to then 
target raising awareness and to improve the care for this community.  The work is going through 
the Community and Voluntary Sector Forums. 

2.43 Mapping of champions, services and integration with mental health is occurring in Criminal 
Justice pathways.  Probation services and other services have been involved with the network.  It 
was thought as a priority to take a stocktake particularly with recent changes in structure and 
providers. 

 

3 Important considerations and implications 

3.1 The Sussex Armed Forces Network has both statutory and community and voluntary 
sectors partners who disseminate information to their organisations. 

3.2 There is currently a Voluntary Sector Survey taking place to understand what the current 
gaps are in the understanding of the armed forces community and what their needs are. 

3.3 Legal - There are no legal implications arising from this report. The Civil Military Partnership 
Board would be an advisory body, reporting annually to Policy & Resources Committee and Full 
Council. 

3.4 There are however requirements for Social and NHS Services to meet: 

Statutory Requirements 

 Armed Forces Act 2011: Annual duty to report to progress against the Military Covenant to 
Parliament including Health. 

 Health & Social Care Bill 2011: Includes duty of the NHS Commissioning Board (now NHS 
England) to commission services on behalf of the Armed Forces. 

 NHS Mental Health Strategy 2011 includes specific provision for veterans. 

 NHS Operating Framework. 

Page 14



 Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 NHS Contracts to contain the principle of “no disadvantage”. 

 NHS Constitution to include the “covenant”. 

NHS responsibilities 

3.5 The general principle set out by government is simply for ‘no disadvantage’ to veterans and 
their families due to their military service, compared with society generally.”  

NHS England responsibilities: 

 NHS England is responsible for ensuring that services are commissioned to support 
consistently high standards of quality across the country, promote the NHS Constitution, 
deliver the requirements of the Secretary of State’s Mandate with NHS England and are in 
line with the commitments made by the Government under the Armed Forces Covenant.   

 Commissioning all secondary and community health services for members of the Armed 
Forces, mobilised Reservists and their families if registered with DMS Medical Centres in 
England (although community health services currently remain commissioned by CCGs on 
a risk share agreement); 

 Some mental health services for veterans 

 Specialised services, including specialist limb prosthesis and rehabilitation services for 
veterans 

 IVF treatment for serving Armed Forces couples – even if only one of them is serving. 

CCG Requirements 

 Delivery of the Armed Forces Covenant  

 Armed Forces dependents and veterans are the responsibility of the NHS in the same way 
as normal residents and their families (serving families not covered by Defence Medical 
Centres) 

 Continuation of the principle of ‘no disadvantage’ 

 The continuation and development of the Armed Forces Networks 

 Transfer of commissioning of ‘Mental Health for veterans’ into CCG leadership 

 NHS Contracts now contain the principle of ‘no disadvantage’ 

 NHS Constitution has a new principle 4 which includes the covenant. 

Finance 

3.6 Sussex through the Brighton & Hove Armed Forces Community Covenant have 
successfully bid for funding which has supported the carers programme, pathway work and some 
of champions training. See progress Update from the Civil Partnership Board to the Leaders Group 
of Brighton and Hove.  

3.7 The resources to support the Covenant and associated activities to date have been met 
from within current budgets.  Additional activities will be funded as planned through 2015/16 
budgets and external funding through the grant scheme. 

3.8 The 7 CCGs provide the leadership for the Sussex Armed Forces Network through the 
Director of the Sussex Collaborative.  There is additional funding currently available from NHS 
England for Sussex (£50k for 2015/16 and a further £25k for 2016/17) which is used by the Sussex 
Armed Forces Network to pay for mental health clinical leadership and governance, administration, 
training, awareness raising and champion co-ordinators. 

3.9 A Veterans Mental Health Stakeholder Engagement exercise is being undertaken by NHS 
England in January 2016 to aid the decision on the future service models for veterans’ mental 
health services. 

Page 15



Equalities 

 

Risk Description 
Action to avoid or mitigate 

risk 

There is a risk that the 
Armed Forces Community 
does not receive the 
understanding and care they 
deserve.  

Veterans, reservists and 
families could enter the 
health and social services a 
number of ways, the 
services are not all skilled to 
treat the actual needs of the 
individuals. 

Raising awareness, 
commissioning services and 
providing the skills would 
enable this group to be 
cared for. 

 

3.10 ESCC Equality of Opportunity and Diversity Policy Statement sets out the County Council’s 
commitment to equality of opportunity and diversity, as well as explaining the key principals, drivers 
and duties that inform this responsibility.  Impact Assessments are completed as part of any new, 
or review of, a Council strategy, policy or service 

3.11 The Armed Forces Community are a hidden group within the community.  The culture is 
that they do not usually seek help or raise the fact that they have served and many do not see 
themselves as a veteran and/or a carer.  

Sustainability 

3.12 ‘The Environment Strategy for East Sussex’ has an associated equality impact assessment 
to ensure the measures set out in the Strategy are assessed in terms of equalities, in order to 
promote equality and ensure that the Strategy does not discriminate against any group.  

3.13 The models and work being undertaken in Sussex Armed Forces Network is sustainable 
and reinforces the system working as an integrated care model linking with social care public 
health, health, voluntary sector, MOD and other services together.  

3.14 There is a vision that resources are saved by utilising and integrating services to achieve 
better outcomes for the individuals.  This results in the Armed Forces Community and services 
having every opportunity to contribute to healthy lives, communities and environments using limited 
resources and by using current services rather than investing in additional services which may not 
be sustainable. 

Health, social care, children’s services and public health  

3.15 Actions to address issues will continue to be considered as work progresses.  Key areas 
have been prioritised and this includes homelessness, social, carers, mental and physical health 
and family needs. 

 All services need to ask the question of clients or patients, 

 All services/organisation should have a champion, 

 All services need to address the needs of this community. 

3.16 Assessments for Adult Social Care and Housing Services are personalised, so any issues 
regarding needs arising specifically from a person’s veteran or current military status would be 
picked up and appropriately considered and addressed, in line with the Armed Forces Covenant. 

 

 

Crime & Disorder Implications: 

3.17 Actions to address crime and disorder issues will be considered as the East Sussex Armed 
Forces Covenant is developed. 

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications: 

Page 16



3.18 There is a risk that East Sussex County council does not prioritise the needs of this 
community and therefore they will not meet the vision and criteria for the East Sussex Armed 
Forces Covenant.   

3.19 With minimal increased leadership the needs of the community could be better understood 
and improved significantly through early identification and integrated coordinated care. 

Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

3.20 The Armed Forces Covenant supports a number of council priorities within the Corporate 
Plan 2015-19 including Increasing Equality, Health and Wellbeing and Citizen Focused and 
therefore could make a positive impact. 

4 Conclusion and reasons for recommendations  

4.1 Needs have been identified for the armed forces community and significant work is 
occurring through the Network supported by the CCGs and the local providers resulting in 
improved care for the individuals.   

4.2 In East Sussex there is work occurring to support this hard to reach group who often 
require individualised integrated complex care to meet their needs. When this community does 
need help the requirements are often multifaceted and need to occur at the same time to break the 
cycles. 

4.3 The needs for this group can be illustrated through the work being undertaken and data 
provided by the military charities and the mental health services. There are significant numbers for 
East Sussex seeking help from Armed Forces Charities particularly for social/financial reasons 
where the Hasting armed forces community particularly has a high demand for support.  

4.4 There is further work which needs to occur to develop further the integration of this 
community and then the sharing of learning from this multidisciplinary way of working across other 
communities. 

KATE PARKIN 
Director Sussex Collaborative, Lead Sussex Armed Forces Network 

 

Contact Officer: Kate Parkin, Director Sussex Collaborative, Lead Sussex Armed Forces Network 
Tel. No. 01273 403693 
Email: kate.parkin@nhs.net 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

None 

Page 17

mailto:kate.parkin@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank



Further Information 
 

All key documents referred to in the report can be found electronically on the following links: 

 JSNA Military Veteran Brighton and Hove 2015 
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Brighton-
and-Hove-JSNA-Military-veterans-FINAL-2015.doc  

 Information and intelligence held by the multi-agency Safer East Sussex Team 2016 

http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Military-
Veterans-Final-2016.pdf  

 Military Veterans Health Needs Assessment Sussex 2012 
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/PH-
Assessment-Military-Veterans-HNA-2012.pdf  

 SAFN 6 Month Report Sept 2015 https://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2015/12/SAFN-6-month-report-2015v1.pdf  

 SAFN Community Information http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2015/12/SAFN-Community-November-2015-General-v1.pdf   

 Annual Leaders Group Report from CMPB 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-
hove.gov.uk/files/Armed%20Forces%20Community%20Covenant%20Annual%20Upd
ate%20June%202015.doc 

 
Many of the papers can be found on the Sussex Armed Forces Website under professional, 
resources and then National Guidance and Local Documents 

http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/professionals/resources/  
 
National Guidance 

 National Documentation and legislation in relation to Armed Forces, Community 
Covenants and Commissioning, White Papers  

 Ministry of Defence papers nationally and local intelligence  

 NHS England Regional and National papers including JSNA 

 National Charity Reports 
 
Local Documents and Guidance 

 Specific Data from local Charities, SSAFA and Royal British Legion, IAPT data 
and information are collated into documents. 

 Sussex Armed Forces Network Documents – various documents available. i.e. 
SAFN Annual Report April 2015 

 

Champions Trained in East Sussex (not including those training in March 2016) 
Role Organisation Department Geographical Area 

Customer Services 
Assistant 

The Horder Centre MSK East Sussex 

Employment Specialist 
Sussex Partnership 
Foundation Trust (SPFT) 

Southdowns Eastbourne 

Clinical Support 
Worker 

SPFT 
Secure and 
Forensic Mental 
health 

Hellingly 

Assistant Director of ESHT Health  East Sussex 

Page 19

Appendix 1

http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Brighton-and-Hove-JSNA-Military-veterans-FINAL-2015.doc
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Brighton-and-Hove-JSNA-Military-veterans-FINAL-2015.doc
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Military-Veterans-Final-2016.pdf
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Military-Veterans-Final-2016.pdf
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/PH-Assessment-Military-Veterans-HNA-2012.pdf
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/PH-Assessment-Military-Veterans-HNA-2012.pdf
https://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/SAFN-6-month-report-2015v1.pdf
https://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/SAFN-6-month-report-2015v1.pdf
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/SAFN-Community-November-2015-General-v1.pdf
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/SAFN-Community-November-2015-General-v1.pdf
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Armed%20Forces%20Community%20Covenant%20Annual%20Update%20June%202015.doc
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Armed%20Forces%20Community%20Covenant%20Annual%20Update%20June%202015.doc
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Armed%20Forces%20Community%20Covenant%20Annual%20Update%20June%202015.doc
http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/professionals/resources/


Role Organisation Department Geographical Area 

Performance & 
Delivery 

Community Support 
Worker 

SPFT SOAM HLHW 

Charge Nurse SPFT Mental health Hellingly 

Cognitive Nurse 
Therapist 

SPFT Mental Health Hastings 

Primary Care Mental 
Health Practitioner 

SPFT 
Primary Care- 
HiM 

East Sussex 

Primary Care Mental 
Health Nurse 
Practitioner 

SPFT Health in Mind Eastbourne 

AOT Hastings SPFT Mental health  Hastings 

Senior Administrator Sussex Collaborative CCG Lewes 

CBT Therapist SPFT ATS Eastbourne 

Offender 
Rehabilitation Team 

Probation Service Criminal Lewes 

Involvement Officer Care for the Carers Carers Eastbourne 

Community Mental 
Health Nurse 

SPFT 
Older adults 
inreach 

East Sussex 

CPN SPFT CRHT Eastbourne 

CPN SPFT Amberstone East Sussex 

Income Recovery 
Officer 

Brighton Housing Trust Arrears team Brighton/Eastbourne 

CPN SPFT 
Urgent 
Response team 

Eastbourne 

Primary Care Mental 
Health Nurse 
Practitioner/Team lead 

SPFT Health in Mind HLHW 

Housing Advice Officer Lewes District Council Support officer Lewes 

Community Mental 
Health 
Nurse/Champion 
Coordinator 

SPFT Mental Health HLHW 

Specialist Medicines 
Management 
Technician 

SPFT 
Secure and 
Forensic Mental 
health 

Hellingly 

 

 

Page 20



  

Report to:   East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

Date:  12 April 2016 

Title:  The East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Strategic Plan 
2015-18 Progress Report 

By: Independent Chair of East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board  

Purpose: To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of progress to date on the 
delivery of the SAB Strategic Plan 2015-18. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report.

 

1. Background 

1.1 The Care Act 2014, implemented from April 2015, specifies that Safeguarding Adults 
Board’s (SAB) must publish a strategic plan outlining its future priorities. Key priorities for 
East Sussex have been agreed, and these priorities have been used to inform this Strategic 
Plan for 20a15-18 (see Appendix 1). 

1.2 In developing the Strategic Plan, there has been consultation with Healthwatch and the 
Client and Carer Safeguarding Advisory Network (CCSAN); SAB members have also been 
engaged and provided feedback. 

 
2. The Strategic Plan 

2.1. This sets out the aims and objectives of the SAB for 2015-18, and provides direction and 
continuity to the annual work plan which is refreshed each year. It sets out five key areas of focus, 
relating to the priorities agreed for the year ahead. The five areas are as follows: 

 Accountability and Leadership 

 Policies, Procedures and Care Act Implementation 

 Performance, Quality and Audit 

 Prevention and Engagement 

 Integration / Training and workforce development. 

2.2. The plan reflects the commitment of active collaboration between organisations, working 
together on prevention strategies and listening to the voice of those who use care and support 
services to deliver positive outcomes. 

 

3. The Strategic Plan progress overview 

3.1. The annual work plan outlines the progress made in 2015-16 across partner agencies. 
Highlights contained in the report are as follows: 

 Partners take a more active role to ensure the effectiveness of the SAB and contribute 
resources. This includes the Sussex Police and Healthwatch chairing subgroups of the SAB. 

 Strategic learning across the SAB takes place including learning events following case 
reviews to ensure the learning is embedded into frontline practice. 

 Significant progress has been made to improve protective measures for adults who have 
been financially abused. East Sussex has also been commissioned by the College of Fellows 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



  

at the National Chartered Trading Standards to research if early intervention with scam 
victims enables victims to remain independent longer in their own homes.  

 Organisations are aware of their adult safeguarding responsibilities following the 
implementation of the Care Act 2014. This has been achieved by updating the Sussex 
Safeguarding Policies & Procedures, alongside information roadshows and learning 
workshops. 

 There has been an increased focus on personalising safeguarding interventions that bring 
safety and people’s desired outcomes together. 

 Safeguarding awareness campaigns have taken place in different locations across the 
county to ensure people know what to do if they have a safeguarding concern. Targeted 
campaigns have also taken place in relation to financial abuse, self neglect as well as 
targeting specific groups such as Primary Care. 

 
4. Conclusion and reason for recommendations 

4.1. There has been significant progress in adult safeguarding across organisations that 
demonstrates the Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) principles are starting to embed into 
practice. This approach puts individuals at the centre of decisions and any interventions. 

4.2. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board note the East Sussex Safeguarding 
Adults Board Strategic Plan 2015-18. 
 

GRAHAM BARTLETT 

Independent Chair of East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board  

 

Background documents 

None 

 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

East Sussex Safeguarding 

Adults Board 

 

Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 
 

Page 23

Appendix 1



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 1 of 13 

 

The East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is a partnership of key 

agencies in East Sussex.  These include: 

 

 Adult social care 

 Health 

 Emergency services 

 Prison and probation services 

 Housing 

 Education 

 Carers 

 Residential and home care services 

 Trading Standards 

 

A full list of the partners of the East Sussex SAB is included as Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

We work together to ensure that people in East Sussex are safeguarded from harm, 

and can live their lives independently and free from abuse and neglect.  

 

The work of safeguarding adults boards is now directed by legislation – the Care Act 

2014.  The Act sets out the core purpose of the board as ensuring that local 

safeguarding arrangements are effective and take account of the views of the local 

community. 

 

 

 

 

Our strategic plan sets out:  

  

 Our vision  This sets out the vision of the SAB and the 

outcomes we want to achieve for the people of East Sussex. 

 

 Our strategic plan for 2015 – 18  This outlines our aims and 

objectives to achieve our vision.  The strategic plan provides 

direction and continuity to our annual work plan. 

 

 Our annual work plan  This includes key actions and target 

timescales to achieve our strategic plan. 

Who we are 

What we do 

Our strategic plan 

p2 

p3 

p8 

Page 24



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 2 of 13 

  

 

 

 

 

Our vision is for all agencies to work together effectively to enable the 

citizens of East Sussex to live free from abuse and neglect, and to 

promote widely the message that safeguarding is everybody’s business. 

 

 

To achieve this vision, the Board will: 

 Actively promote collaboration and commitment between 

organisations. 

 Work together on prevention strategies. 

 Listen to the voice of clients and carers to deliver positive outcomes. 

 

The East Sussex SAB is committed to the principles of Making Safeguarding 

Personal ie. to listen to what the adult or their representative would like to 

achieve, and by ensuring the most appropriate support is available.   

 

 

  

Our vision 

“ 

” 

Page 25



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 3 of 13 

 

 

 

 

Strategic objectives 

 To oversee and lead effectively on safeguarding activities that 

contribute to the prevention of abuse and neglect. 

 To put mechanisms in place to make sure all stakeholders are 

held to account for their safeguarding practice. 

 To make sure clear and transparent annual budget plans are in 

place for all SAB activities. 

 

Our progress so far 

 We are recruiting an Independent Chair for the SAB, to be in 

place by July 2015.  This will enable greater scrutiny of and 

accountability for all agencies represented on the SAB.  

 Senior managers from a range of key agencies interested and 

involved in adult safeguarding actively contribute to SAB 

discussions and activities.  

 All members of the SAB have signed up to our Terms of 

Reference.  These require members to champion safeguarding 

practice, and ensure appropriate policies and procedures are in 

place to protect adults from abuse and neglect.  

 We have developed a budget for the SAB for 2015 – 16, with key 

partners confirming their contributions.  

 

Future plans 

 We will update our work plan each year to make sure it is in line 

with our strategic objectives and reflects progress made. 

 We will renew the SAB budget and review its effectiveness at the 

end of the 2015 – 16 financial year. 

 We will gain feedback from Healthwatch and the local community 

on the accessibility of our plans and annual reports. 

  

Our three year strategic objectives 

 
1 Accountability and leadership 

 

Page 26



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 4 of 13 

 

 

Strategic objectives 

 To make sure there are clear policies in place for safeguarding 

adults work that is in line with the Care Act 2014, and that 

organisations use these policies to work together to respond to 

abuse and neglect. 

 To put mechanisms in place to gain feedback on safeguarding 

procedures (from both professionals and clients and carers). 

 To adopt clear pathways for responding to quality of care 

concerns alongside individual safeguarding enquiries. 

 

 

Our progress so far 

 The Sussex Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures have 

been rewritten, and were launched in April 2015. 

 Workshops and roadshows have been held across the county to 

raise awareness of the new procedures, and how safeguarding 

concerns will be responded to. 

 Members of the SAB have been asked to provide feedback on 

updates to their internal safeguarding policy and procedures to 

make sure they comply with the Care Act. 

 

 

Future plans 

 The new procedures will be reviewed by East Sussex, Brighton & 

Hove and West Sussex SABs.  The review will take account of 

feedback given by professionals and clients and carers.  The first 

review is planned for October 2015 and annually thereafter. 

 Quality pathways will be agreed by commissioners, providers, 

and regulators to ensure a consistent approach to concerns 

about the quality of care is adopted. 

 Sharing objectives and priorities across Sussex to ensure a 

consistent and cohesive approach both strategically and 

regionally.  This includes closer links with the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and the Safer East Sussex Team on responses 

to issues such as hate crime and domestic abuse.  

 

2 Policies, procedures and Care Act implementation 

Page 27



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 5 of 13 

 

Strategic objectives 

 To make sure safeguarding outcome measures effectively 

capture the adult’s views and wishes, and clearly demonstrate 

the impact of safeguarding interventions. 

 To make sure all partner organisations understand the process 

for sharing safeguarding information to inform operational and 

strategic practice. 

 To make sure learning and action plans from any Safeguarding 

Adults Reviews (SARs) or other case reviews are taken forward 

and future practice improved. 

 

Our progress so far 

 Adult Social Care undertakes interviews with adults and / or their 

representatives, as well as other key stakeholders, following a 

safeguarding intervention to gain feedback on how effective this 

was and to identify any future learning. 

 SAB members have signed-up to an information sharing protocol 

to ensure safeguarding interventions are as joined-up and 

effective as possible. 

 Safeguarding outcome measures have started to take account of 

outcomes defined by adults themselves, including the extent to 

which they feel safer, whether they have had access to justice, 

and whether they have an increased sense of dignity and 

respect. 

 

Future plans 

 Further analysis of the outcomes that adults wish to achieve 

through a safeguarding intervention will be undertaken. 

 Reflective practice forums for staff across agencies will be 

developed to share learning from case reviews or SARs. 

 Agencies will share safeguarding outcome data to identify 

patterns or areas that require particular focus and intervention. 

 

  

3 Performance, Quality and Audit 

Page 28



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 6 of 13 

 

 

Strategic objectives 

 To produce information and reports for the local community that 

are easily accessible. 

 To put mechanisms and resources in place to raise awareness of 

safeguarding among the general public. 

 To develop safeguarding policy and practice based on the views 

of adults who have experienced, or are at risk of, abuse and 

neglect. 

 To make sure all stakeholders within adult safeguarding have the 

opportunity to influence safeguarding policy and practice 

development. 

 

Our progress so far 

 The local Healthwatch chair a sub-group of the Board, the Clients 

and Carers Safeguarding Advisory Network (CCSAN).  The aim 

of this Network is to strengthen the voice of clients and carers in 

safeguarding practice. 

 A roadshow is being planned to raise awareness for the public.  

 

Future plans 

 Lay members will be recruited to the SAB through Healthwatch, 

to assist in building stronger links with the community and 

enabling the voice of local people to be heard. 

 The CCSAN will be further developed to include wider 

representation from carers and clients.  The Network will provide 

regular feedback on safeguarding policy and practice in East 

Sussex. 

 A communication strategy to be developed through Healthwatch 

and CCSAN.  

 

  

4 Prevention and engagement  

 

Page 29



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 7 of 13 

 

 

Strategic objectives 

 To develop a training strategy in partnership with key 

stakeholders.  The strategy will be suitable for the needs of all 

stakeholders in safeguarding practice, and will incorporate local 

and national policy and learning.   

 To ensure clients and carers receive the most appropriate 

support and interventions where abuse and neglect is suspected 

by putting in place safeguarding competencies for staff which are 

used effectively by all agencies. 

 

Our progress so far 

 A wide range of safeguarding training courses is available to staff 

working for the agencies and organisations represented on the 

SAB.  This is evidenced through an annual audit. 

 Safeguarding competencies for Adult Social Care and Health 

staff are being used through supervision and appraisal 

processes. 

 

Future plans 

 Partner organisations will develop a training strategy.  This will 

incorporate existing training and include training on the new 

categories of abuse in the Care Act – modern slavery, domestic 

abuse, and self-neglect.  The strategy will also create more 

opportunity for multi-agency learning.    

 Partner organisations will review and update the safeguarding 

competencies, and make sure they can be used across all 

relevant organisations. 

 

 

 

5 Integration/Training and workforce development 

 

Page 30



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 8 of 13 

 

 

Strategic Aim 1  –  Accountability and leadership 

SAB Priority 1.1 Ensure the effectiveness and transparency of the SAB to oversee and lead adult safeguarding and the 

prevention of abuse 

Action / Measure Lead Timescale Progress as of March 2016 

Oversee and lead on adult safeguarding activities 

that contribute to prevention of abuse, by inviting 

relevant local representatives as required. 

SAB Ongoing Homecare represented from April 2015. 

Further Education now represented in line with 

Care Act recommendations.  

Ensure that each member is a champion for 

safeguarding within their own organisation, as 

evidenced by signing up to the updated Terms of 

Reference (TOR) of the SAB. 

SAB July 2015 New members signed up to the TOR of the SAB. 

Recruitment of Independent Chair in line with Care 

Act recommendations. 

SAB July 2015 Recruitment process completed and Independent 

Chair in post. 

Agree budget plan with partner contributions and 

report on budget spend annually. 

SAB July 2015 Core SAB partners contribute to the SAB budget. 

Work continuing to increase the range of partners 

contributing. 

Annual report, strategic plan and relevant 

documents to be available on SAB web page. 

SAB July 2015 Currently, ESCC web pages host this facility. The 

SAB’s own web site will be up and running from 

May 2016. 

Sub-groups have been reviewed for wider partner 

involvement, and progress of each to be regularly 

fed back to SAB. 

PQA / CCSAN October 2015 The Performance Quality and Audit sub group of 

the SAB chaired by Sussex Police. Progress 

reports received by the SAB. 

Our annual work plan 2015-2016 

 

P
age 31



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 9 of 13 

Develop strategic learning across agencies, boards 

and borders, learning from national best practice 

and Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SAR). 

Ops / PQA Ongoing A Sussex/Surrey meeting has taken place to 

discuss cross border issues and learning. Another 

meeting is planned, hosted by East Sussex. 

 

Regional learning is shared via the ADASS 

Regional Safeguarding Network meeting. 

Topic based multi-agency workshops agreed via 

the Operational Practice Sub-group. 

A multi-agency learning event has taken place 

following a case review. This learning has also 

been shared with another authority 

Independent Chair attends, contributes to and 

brings learning back from national SAB chair 

network meetings. 

All partners to undertake annual self-assessment 

of strategic and organisational arrangements to 

safeguard and promote well-being of adults. 

PQA Ongoing Self-assessment tool has been updated and 

circulated to SAB members to complete. This is to 

be collated and next reported at the April 2016 

SAB. 

Strategic Aim 2  –  Policies, procedures and Care Act implementation  

SAB Priority 2.1 Ensure Section 42 safeguarding arrangements are in place under the Care Act, with appropriate feedback and 

review arrangements 

Action / Measure Lead Timescale Progress 

Ensure SAB members are aware of their 

responsibilities and implications of the Care Act, as 

demonstrated through annual multi-agency audit 

process, and updated internal procedures. 

Ops / PQA November 

2015 

Launch event has taken place on April 16th for SAB 

Partners. 

Roadshows have also taken place across the 

County. 

P
age 32



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 10 of 13 

SCIE Care Act compliance checklist completed. 

Sussex Safeguarding Adults Policy and 

Procedures have been reviewed to reflect Care 

Act.   

SAB April 2015 Hard copies made available as well as web page. 

Annual review of procedures to provide opportunity 

for changes needed and create audit trail. 

Ops / Sussex-

wide forum 

March 2016 This has been completed and a more fundamental 

review is planned in 2017 by a Sussex wide group 

consisting of statutory SAB members in place. 

Advocacy and support arrangements in place, to 

be regularly monitored via Ops sub-group. 

Ops October 2015 Commissioning and provider arrangements in 

place. 

Referral rates and capacity being monitored via the 

Operational Practise sub group of the SAB. 

SAB Priority 2.2 Develop clear mechanisms for responding to and monitoring quality concerns  

Action / Measure Lead Timescale Progress 

Virtual Quality Hub being developed to share 

intelligence and agree quality pathways. 

Ops November 

2015 

Following meeting with commissioners, a 

workshop has taken place in November 2015 to 

discuss pathways and thresholds. A multi-agency 

group is now testing how the new arrangements 

will work. 

Address gaps regarding information sharing by 

agencies, in line with Care Act requirements. 

PQA July 2015 Progressed through PQA sub-group to enable 

effective and consistent information sharing 

arrangements. 

Monitor the use of information and its strategic 

application through audits, client feedback and 

national returns. 

PQA Ongoing  Continued discussions held via PQA sub group. 

P
age 33



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 11 of 13 

Strategic Aim 3  –  Performance, Quality and Audit  

SAB Priority 3.1 Focus on personalising, defining and measuring safeguarding outcomes that bring safety and people’s wishes together 

Action / Measure Lead Timescale Progress 

Embed outcomes focused engagement with clients 

through the Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 

roll-out.  To be demonstrated by case audits, and 

client feedback. 

Ops / PQA Ongoing  Workshops and training emphasise MSP 

approach.  

This has also included multi-agency workshops 

Develop safeguarding responses that incorporate 

client’s views through collated outcome data. 

CCSAN / Ops October 2015 Network meetings have been developed as part of 

a safeguarding response.  

Data on client outcomes has started to be collated 

for analysis.  

Strategic Aim 4  –  Prevention and engagement  

SAB Priority 4.1 Allow the voice of clients, carers, and the local community to be heard in safeguarding policy and practice  

Action / Measure Lead Timescale Progress 

Healthwatch representative chairing CCSAN. CCSAN Ongoing  This is now in place. 

Client feedback to be obtained and presented to 

SAB. 

CCSAN / PQA October 2015 Survey developed through CCSAN to capture 

client and carer views on safeguarding policy and 

practice. 

Feedback from CCSAN to be incorporated into 

SAB annual report and strategic plan to be 

published. 

CCSAN July 2015 Regular feedback sought. 

P
age 34



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 12 of 13 

SAB to recruit lay member through Healthwatch, 

as another mechanism for consultation with local 

community. 

SAB October 2015 Role description developed with Healthwatch. 

Lay member recruited and attends the SAB 

SAB Priority 4.2 Ensure that people are aware of safeguarding and know what to do if they have a concern 

Action / Measure Lead Timescale Progress 

Develop and deliver a targeted awareness raising 

campaign with primary care. 

TFG January 2016  Three training sessions have taken place and 

further sessions are being planned 

ASC safeguarding information leaflets have been 

updated to reflect Care Act changes. 

SAB April 2015  Leaflets have been updated including an easy 

read version 

Revise SAB web content for clear information for 

the public. 

SAB October 2015 
SAB website to be up and running by May 2016 

and hosted by PHEW service provider  

Healthwatch roadshow planned for September 

2015 to involve Safeguarding Development Team 

to raise public awareness. 

CCSAN September 

2015 

Roadshow taken place and information distributed 

Strategic Aim 5  –  Integration/Training and workforce development  

SAB Priority 5.1 Ensure that all people involved in safeguarding have the appropriate skills, knowledge and competencies  

Action / Measure Lead Timescale Progress 

Safeguarding competencies to be revised and 

updated for multi-agency use  

TFG October 2015 Negotiations have now concluded to purchase the 

license on behalf of all SAB members to use the 

National Safeguarding competency framework. 

Sussex-wide training forum to be developed with 

the three safeguarding leads and other agencies 

STF March 2016  Sussex wide group consisting of statutory partners 

to include training as part of review of policy and 

P
age 35



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 13 of 13 

as appropriate. procedures.  

SAB multi-agency training strategy to be 

developed to include new categories in Care Act, 

Link with LSCB training where appropriate, and 

address training needs identified in annual multi-

agency audit. 

TFG October 2015 
Training strategy has been reviewed to reflect 

changes in the Care Act 2014. 

Domestic abuse training group includes reps from 

both adult training and LSCB.  

 

P
age 36



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 14 of 13 

Key 

SAB Safeguarding Adults Board 

STF Sussex Training Forum 

TFG Task & Finish Group 

PQA Performance, Quality & Audit Sub-group 

Ops Operational Practice Sub-group 

CCSAN Client & Carer Safeguarding Advisory Network 

P
age 37



 

SAB Strategic Plan 2015 – 18 Page 1 of 13 

 

 

 

 

Partners of the East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board are: 

 

 East Sussex Adult Social Care 

 Sussex Police 

 Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

 East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 

 Trading Standards 

 East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service 

 South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

 Eastbourne, Hailsham & Seaford Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Hastings & Rother Clinical Commissioning Group 

 High Weald Lewes Havens Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Residential Care Association  

 Lewes Prison  

 National Probation Service 

 Kent, Surrey, Sussex Community Rehabilitation Service 

 Homecare representatives 

 Lewes District Council Housing  

 Sussex Downs College 

 Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 

 Care for the Carers 

 Healthwatch  

 NHS England  

 

 

Appendix 1  –  Partners of the East Sussex SAB 

 

Page 38



Report to:   East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board 

Date:  12 April 2016 

Title:  Update on the East Sussex Crisis Care Concordat 

By:  Head of Strategic Commissioning for Mental Health, ESCC and Service 
Director for East Sussex, Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

Purpose: To update the Board on progress against Action Plans  

 

RECOMMENDATION: The Board is recommended to note the progress being made to improve 
outcomes for people experiencing mental health crisis as a result of the local Crisis Care 
Concordat.

 

1. Background 

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board last received a Report in January 2015 about the Crisis 
Care Concordat, which is a nationally led initiative requiring local areas to develop plans for 
“improving outcomes for people experiencing mental health crisis”. 

1.2 The initiative was centrally driven by Ministers and had high national visibility, requiring for 
example that all submissions were published on an open-access web-site to ensure 
transparency and accountability.  

1.3 Central to local plans was that they be developed collaboratively between agencies, and a 
mandated list of signatories was required to accompany first a local ‘Declaration’ in 
December 2014, and then detailed action plans in March 2015 being submitted to NHS 
England (as the lead national agency).  

1.4 Papers provided to the Health and Wellbeing Board in January 2015 described findings 
from an analysis comparing local services with newly-set national standards, which also 
identified gaps.  

1.5 Actions plans for East Sussex were then produced which set out, alongside the identified 
gaps, how these would be addressed by what actions, being taken by which agencies, and 
by when. 

1.6 A further submission summarising local progress against the actions set out in these plans, 
was made to NHS England in October 2015.  

2. Report 

2.1. The Report attached as Appendix 1 brings our local progress against actions plans up to 
date, and illustrates that in many areas good progress has been made. Highlights include: 

 Significant reductions in Mental Health Act detentions by police and in their use of custody 
suites (4.3.1) 

 Provision of identified alternatives to conveyance for ambulance services attending people 
in mental health crisis (5.3.3) 

  More rapid attendance and conveyance by ambulance to places of safety for people 
detained by the police (5.3.5) 

 Specialist training for A&E staff and provision of enhanced on-site psychiatric liaison 
services (6.2) 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



 Provision of an ‘urgent care lounge’ within psychiatric facilities providing a less stigmatising 
alternative to A&E (6.3.1), in response to service user lobbying 

 A funded programme of transformational change for children and young people presenting 
with mental health problems, including those in crisis (8.1) 

 A new rapid response service to assess adults in crisis in the community rather than 
requiring their attendance at A&E (10.3.3) 

 Demonstration of the effectiveness of ‘street triage’ as a means to improve collaborative 
working between the police and mental health services, disseminate best practice and de-
escalate crises in order to avoid detention(s) (10.3.6) 

 Sustainability of new services through recurrent investment in street triage, rapid response 
services and enhanced psychiatric liaison. 

2.2. Whilst further work remains to be done, for example, in establishing an urgent care lounge at 
the Conquest Hospital – helping more GPs, GP out-of-hours services, and ambulance crews to 
divert more people from A&E (by accessing rapid response services) – as noted above, good 
progress has otherwise been made. 

2.3. As importantly, the Crisis Care Concordat has in many ways succeeded in its aim of 
improving inter-agency working at local level, and there is now a more firm foundation on which to 
build further improvements for people experiencing a mental health crisis. 

3. Recommendations 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note the progress being made to improve 
outcomes for people experiencing mental health crisis as a result of the local Crisis Care 
Concordat. 

 
MARTIN PACKWOOD 
Head of Strategic Commissioning for Mental Health, ESCC; and  
 
NEIL WATERHOUSE 
Service Director for East Sussex, Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

 

Contact Officer: Martin Packwood  
Tel No: 01273 336042 
Email: martin.packwood@eastsussex.gov.uk  

 

 

Background Documents 

None 

 

 

Page 40

mailto:martin.packwood@eastsussex.gov.uk


EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

1 
 

Ref: Actions Lead Timescales 2015/16 – Q4 Update 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPFT clinical managers are working with South East Coast 
Ambulance services which provides 111 in Sussex, to develop 
protocols / pathway algorithms via which callers can be triaged 
and provided facilitated access to suitably proportionate 
responses. These might include transfers to national 
counselling / mental health advice lines, as well as potentially 
to the new SPFT provided rapid response services (see 10.3.3).  
 
This could provide a more clearly defined replacement to 
current arrangements and a more patient focussed telephone 
service that provides not only support, advice and guidance, 
but also directed access to mental health services based on 
presenting needs. 
  

Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 
(SPFT) (RB) and 
South East Coast 
Ambulance 
Service (BB) 
 
SPFT and CCG 
Commissioners  
 

Protocol 
Development – Q2 
Adoption of Protocol 
– Q3 
 
 
 
 
Possible consultation 
on future 
arrangements / 
impact on MH Line – 
Q3/Q4 

Development of more effective protocols to 
assure proportionate responses has been 
delayed although 111 continues to operate with 
accurate information on current access 
arrangements to mental health services. 
 
 
 
Health-Watch East Sussex has completed a 
consultation and report on the MH Line across 
Sussex, which reached conclusions similar to 
those identified in the Crisis Care Concordat Gap 
Analysis about its effectiveness. This suggests a 
reconsideration of its role within first access 
points as proposed, is likely to be supported.  

3.3.5 A new set of response time standards for GP referrals to SPFT 
was launched in East Sussex from October 2014: 
 

 Emergency – 4 hours 

 Urgent – 5 days 

 Routine – 4 weeks 
 
Levels of demand and responsiveness have been evaluated and 
reviewed in a facilitated workshop held between CCG clinical 
commissioning leads and Trust medical and nursing staff. 
 
Further identified actions include more widely promoting the 
availability of the 5 day response standard and adoption of 
electronic referral forms.  
 
The outcome is anticipated to be a further increase in the use 
of this referral option and consequent release of CRHT capacity 
to better respond to emergencies within 4 hours.  

Sussex 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(SPFT) with CCG 
clinical 
commissioning 
leads 
 

Introduced from Q3 
2014 
 
 
Workshop and 
further actions 
identified Q4 2014 
for action from Q1 
2015. 
 

GPs have been engaged and are aware of the 
new range response times for referrals of 
different levels of urgency. 
 
These are promoted on the GP information 
system ‘DXS’ for example, together with an 
electronic referral form on which level of urgency 
can be indicated.  
 
 
  

 

 

P
age 41

A
ppendix 1



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

2 
 

 
CRHT capacity is also being enhanced by deployment of new 
staff to provide a rapid response service – see 10.3.3.  
 

3.3.6 One of the aims of the enhanced psychiatric liaison service is 
not only to attend within 2 hours, but also to assess patients 
presenting in A&E with a mental health crisis and enable 
decisions to be taken on admission or discharge within 4 hours 
– see 6.2. 
 
 

Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 

New enhanced 
psychiatric liaison 
service effective from 
Q1 

New enhanced psychiatric liaison service was in 
place from Q1. 
 
Baseline numbers of A&E attendances for mental 
health reasons in 2014/15 and involvement of 
liaison, as well as 4 hour breaches data is being 
consolidated by local CSU Business Intelligence. 
 
Quarterly monitoring reports for 2015/16 
performance are also being generated.  
 
An ‘urgent care lounge’ in the Department of 
Psychiatry in Eastbourne has also been created, 
to which patients can be transferred from A&E 
(or directed) which aims to improve experience 
by providing a calm space whilst waiting for 
assessment. 
 
This is an initiative which addresses concerns 
raised in stakeholder consultations undertaken 
prior to development Concordat Action Plans.  
 
The use of Urgent care lounge continues to have 
a positive impact on enabling decisions to be 
taken on admission or discharge within 4 hours 
from A&E and A&E colleagues are pleased with 
the impact. 
 
 
 

P
age 42



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

3 
 

4.3.1 A Sussex-wide ‘Section 136 Place of Safety Operational 
Planning Group’ has been established led by SPFT, which meets 
fortnightly with attendance by Service Directors and 
Commissioners from East Sussex as well as senior officers from 
Sussex Police. 
 
 
 
The Group is planning operational responses to ensure 
detentions in custody are reduced, with a clearly defined target 
date of the end of 2015/16 for these to have been halved 
compared to 2014/15.  
 
The Group is also the forum in which SPFT and the police are 
working towards agreeing a definition of ‘exceptional 
circumstances’. The process for achieving this is by jointly 
reviewing every custody detention over the last year to 
establish the circumstances that gave rise to this being used 
rather than a health-based s136 suite.  
 
The overall number of s136 detentions is reducing as a result of 
the introduction of street triage across East Sussex (see 10.3.6), 
taking pressure off the need for detention in any setting 
including custody. The positive benefits of this in terms of 
understandings between the police and healthcare agencies 
about what are ‘exceptional circumstances’ as well as the 
decision making process ‘in the field’ about where to take 
people who may be detained, is expected to improve joint 
working practices and reduce both numbers detained and 
detained in custody. 
 
 
 
 

SPFT-led S136 
Place of Safety 
Operational 
Group 

Established from 
March 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Target agreed in 
March 2015. 
 
 
 
Audit completed by 
July 2015. 
Definition of 
‘exceptional 
circumstances’  by 
August 2015. 
 
Street triage in place 
across all of East 
Sussex from April 
2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Established from March 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Target agreed in March 2015. 
 
 
 
 
Audit completed by July 2015 and definition of 
exceptional circumstances agreed by August 
2015. 
 
 
 
 
Street triage was in place across all of East Sussex 
from April 2015. 
 
Section 136 detentions reduced in 2015/16 
compared to 2014/15 – Q1 from 105 to 79; Q2 
from 122 to 85; Q3 from 105 to 77. 
 
Section 136 detentions to custody reduced to 
zero in Eastbourne and in Hastings to only ten in 
the first two quarters of 2015/16, and in quarter 
three were one and three respectively. 
 
 
 

P
age 43



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

4 
 

The effect of reducing overall numbers detained under s136 
will reduce demand and hence occupancy of health based 
suites, and arrangements are being put in place from April 
2015, (when the availability of custody as a place of safety for 
s136 has been withdrawn by Sussex police), such that if the 
health-based suite is occupied, recourse will be made to the 
next most closely located / available health suite.  
 
Similarly from April 2015, no child under the age of 18 will be 
detained in custody, and protocols specifying how recourse is 
made to the most locally available health-based suite is always 
made are in place, with the additional option for their 
accommodation in the local tier 4 CAMHS in-patient facilities. 
Detention of children in custody as a s136 place of safety will 
therefore be treated as a never-event from April 2015.  
 
The ‘Section 136 Place of Safety Operational Planning Group’ is 
also exploring what role on-call duty psychiatrists can play in 
safely resolving police concerns about persons’ mental state 
without the need for s136 detention, through voluntary 
conveyance to health facilities where an expert psychiatric 
determination can be made on the need for MH act 
assessments, as well as where a non-statutory assessment can 
be carried out by the new rapid response service – see 10.3.3.  
This has the potential to reduce demands on s12 doctor and 
AMHP and improved response times in circumstances when 
MH Act assessment is essential.  
 
Finally, options are being explored for an alternative location to 
health based s136 suites for those who are intoxicated to be 
safely cared for preparatory to their being fit for the 
undertaking of a MH Act assessment. 
 

Target agreed in 
March 2015 – see 
above 
Protocol agreed for 
adults in Eastbourne 
March 2015. 
 
 
Protocol agreed for 
children across East 
Sussex in March  
 
 
 
 
 
Role determination 
by July 2015, with 
roll-out thereafter if 
confirmed for 
adoption 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To be determined 
July 2015 with 
options for location 
assessed if feasible 
and implemented 
before year-end. 

Protocol agreed in March 2015.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Protocol agreed in March 2015.  
No child under the age of 18 has been admitted 
to custody in East Sussex in 2015/16.  
 
 
 
 
 
Not pursued as necessary due to drastic 
reductions in numbers of s136 detentions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
People who are intoxicated do now use health-
based places of safety in line with a newly agreed 
joint protocol.   

P
age 44



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

5 
 

5.3.3 Two senior clinical managers from with SPFT have been 
identified to lead a project to increase numbers of ‘advanced 
care planning directives’ uploaded on to IBIS. This will enable 
ambulance services to take suitable safe alternative action to 
dispatching an ambulance / conveying to A&E those who are 
known to SPFT and can have their crisis addressed in other 
ways, including by accessing the new rapid response service – 
see 10.3.3. 
 
 
 
 
This will include a project to obtain (as necessary through 
pseudo-anonymised data analysis) those who most frequently 
call ambulance services when in crisis, outcomes from which 
can be used by SPFT to prioritise those most likely to benefit 
from being diverted to their services. 

SPFT (AB and LB) 
with South East 
Coast Ambulance 
Service (BB) 

Project established 
July 2015. 
Uploads on to IBIS 
from Q2 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Project established 
Q2 2015.  Results 
from to inform 
upload priorities to 
year-end. 

Training of SPFT staff in the use and uploading of 
IBIS was completed by mid-November 2015.  
 
Within Eastbourne the rapid response service is 
accepting direct referrals from Secamb.  This 
avoids A&E attendance when the person does 
not have a medical need.  Such referral numbers 
are increasing with positive outcomes for 
patients and feedback from Secamb colleagues 
that they are find this a very helpful alternative 
to A and E conveyance. 
 
Criteria for identifying those for whom IBIS 
uploads would be most beneficial were discussed 
between SPFT and SECAmb. Fifty-one of the 
highest users of ambulance services known to 
SPFT have had their details uploaded on to IBIS. 
 
Discussions between SPFT and SECAmb are 
ongoing and are developing in to closer 
partnership working relationships particularly via 
calls into rapid response service.  
 
 
   

5.3.5 Following a national decision by the Association of Ambulance 
Service Chief Executives, South East Coast Ambulance Services 
have agreed to adapt ‘NHS Pathways’ protocols to increase the 
priority to be accorded calls from the police in respect of s136 
detentions, and commit to attend within 60 minutes and 
convey persons as necessary to an  appropriate place of safety. 
 
 
 

South East Coast 
Ambulance 
Service 
 

In place from 
December 2014. 

In place from December 2014. 

P
age 45



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

6 
 

6.1 SPFT offer training for A&E staff which has been taken up by 
some staff but not all. Further offers of SPFT training of A&E 
staff should continue to be made and rates of take-up 
monitored / kept under review. 
 
Options for how patients seen by or within the care of mental 
health services could have any necessary physical examinations 
completed will be explored as part of closer working between 
A&E and liaison services, in which such liaison could be 
facilitated in both directions - see 6.3.1 
 

Sussex 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(SPFT) lead 
 

On-going with review 
at end Q2 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Updated training plan agreed with East Sussex 
Healthcare Trust (ESHT) with roll-out from 
November 2015. 
 
 
Protocols governing responsibilities in relation to 
physical examinations agreed between SPFT 
SECAmb and ESHT A&E staff, including escalation 
procedures.   
 
Monthly management meetings between SPFT 
and ESHT are convened to review joint working 
and address any issues. 
 
ESHT team(s) will work across facilities’ 
boundaries as necessary to ensure physical 
health and safety of patients transferred to and / 
or directed to urgent care lounge in Eastbourne.  
This work is ongoing.   

6.2 Adoption of a formal triage tool by A&E staff is being 
considered for inclusion as a CQUIN in contract negotiations 
with the East Sussex Healthcare Trust (ESHT).   
 
System Resilience Funds of £330,000 has been agreed for 
2015/16 to increase Liaison psychiatry provision in the 
Conquest and Eastbourne General Hospital Accident and 
Emergency departments. 
 
The aim of specialist mental health assessment in A&E is to 
identify needs and to either directly provide, or direct access to 
services able to meet immediate needs or make arrangements 
for these to be met in an appropriate and timely way in the 
future. 
 

CCG lead 
commissioner 
(EHST) 
Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject to 
negotiation of 
inclusion in contract. 
 
Recruitment begun in 
early 2015.  
Staff due to be in 
post and service 
commencement in 
Q1. 
 
 
 
 
 

SPFT has provided ESHT staff with triage tools, 
(though formal adoption has not been associated 
with a CQUIN).  
 
New enhanced psychiatric liaison service was in 
place from Q1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 46



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

7 
 

One of the aims of the enhanced psychiatric liaison service is 
not only to attend within 2 hours, but also to assess patients 
presenting in A&E with a mental health crisis and enable 
decisions to be taken on admission or discharge within 4 hours.  
 
As part of the evaluation of Liaison Psychiatry services funded 
through resilience funds, baseline activity and regular reports 
of those presented in A&E departments are being shared by 
ESHT. SPFT are also able to identify those referred most 
frequently to liaison services as well as those who are known to 
them.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
This will help assess the current sufficiency of liaison capacity 
and opportunities for diversion, by making direct access to 
mental health services more easy without recourse to A&E 
attendance (see rapid response service - 10.3.3). It is 
anticipated that this evaluation will also provide background 
information to local bids for national funds (of £30 million), 
available in 2015/16 for “adequate and effective liaison 
psychiatry for all ages”. 
   

 
 
 
 
 
SPFT and CCG 
lead 
commissioner 
(mental health) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SPFT and CCG 
lead 
commissioner 
(mental health) 
 

95% of patients 
attending A&E from 
July 2015 will meet 
this 4 hour standard 
 
Between Q2 and Q3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As opportunity arises 
/ national bids 
invited 

Baseline numbers of A&E attendances for mental 
health reasons in 2014/15 and involvement of 
liaison, as well as 4 hour breaches data is being 
consolidated by local CSU Business Intelligence. 
 
Quarterly monitoring reports for 2015/16 
performance are also being generated.  
These show a large increases in recorded A&E 
attendance for mental health presentations, and 
breaches in 4 hour waits of around one-fifth, 
though data sets consolidating contact and 
response times for liaison services have not yet 
been possible to produce to identify where 
improvements can been made. MH breaches do 
however remain a very small proportion (< 5%) 
of their total numbers. 
 
Non-recurrent funding has been received from 
NHS England and proposals put forward for 
release of their second-tranche to develop liaison 
services further towards meeting ‘core-24’ 
standards. 
 
These proposals include additional staff-grade 
psychiatric post joining liaison and working with 
medical colleagues in A&E, and additional 
specialist child and adolescent mental health 
(CAMHS) nurses also joining the liaison teams at 
both hospital sites.  
 
Children and Young People’s Transformation 
Funds have been identified by CCGs to make 
CAMHS liaison services enhancements recurrent 
from 2016/17. 

P
age 47



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

8 
 

6.3.1 The option is being explored for basing the new rapid response 
service in psychiatric facilities on hospital sites and / operating 
these as the place where patients in mental health crisis 
conveyed by ambulance and / or presenting in A&E are taken 
for psychiatric ‘triage’ without triggering an ‘A&E attendance’. 
Complex issues including how any necessity for physical 
examinations could be satisfied in this context, will be explored 
as part of these considerations.  

Sussex 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Determination of 
assessment location 
options in Q1, 
extension in Q2, Q3 
and Q4 (subject to 
negotiated access / 
arrangements for 
physical health 
exams). 

Current location is with acute psychiatric facilities 
located at each hospital site in East Sussex. 
 
Establishment of the urgent care lounge at the 
Department of Psychiatry on Eastbourne DGH 
site means A&E attendances can now be 
avoided. 
 
Work is in progress including on recruitment to 
establish an urgent care lounge at the Conquest 
site in Hastings to mirror that in Eastbourne. 
However SECamb staff also know they can call 
the rapid response service and seek advice about 
callers from any part of the county. 
 

7.3.3 
 
 
 
 

ESCC has committed to increasing AMHP capacity, in part by 
increasing numbers in training through a focus on timely 
support for suitable applications going forward to Brighton 
University. This had already resulted in newly qualified AMHPs 
joining the East Sussex rota in staffing it in full in 2014/15. This 
initiative will be repeated annually to ensure this remains the 
position in both 2015/16 and future years. 
 

East Sussex 
County Council 
Adult Social Care 
/ Head of Mental 
Health Services 

On-going / annual Take-up of training in 2015/16 has been lower 
than in previous years in a context of pressures 
on Adult Social Care services’ reducing the ability 
of teams to release staff. 
 
However, AHMP rotas remain fully 
complemented and it is anticipated that take-up 
of training in 2016/17 will revert to levels seen in 
previous years. 

8.1 Following on from the CAMHS needs assessment an action plan 
has been produced which addresses training needs. This is 
being taken forward in a number of ways: 
 
Mental Health awareness training is being promoted by the 
primary mental health workers and they offer: 
 

 consultation and training to the wider children’s 
workforce (eg GPs, school nursing, parent support 
advisors, school staff) 

SFPT (PJ) and CCG 
Commissioner 
(AF)  
 

Ongoing with 
quarterly monitoring 
through the SPFT 
CAMHS subgroup 
 

In the Autumn, East Sussex produced a CAMHS 
transformation plan and mental health 
awareness and training was reflected in that. 
 
 
There is also a commitment within it to review 
our digital offer through the creation of on-line 
collection of information, advice and guidance 
and resources for young people and families. This 
work commenced in January 2016. 

P
age 48



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

9 
 

 early mental health assessments and interventions in 
community settings such as schools 

 information about other local services that are 
available to support the emotional well-being needs of 
children, young people and their families an interface 
between Tier3 CAMHS and the wider children’s 
workforce 

 

  
There are also plans to build capacity within children’s services 
workforce through joint working and training between 
specialist CAMHS and children’s services e.g. on brief 
interventions to support better mental health in young people. 
 
There is an on-going programme of training at East Sussex 
Healthcare Trust and Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals 
Trust to the general paediatric ward staff and A&E to enable 
them to manage children and young people with challenging 
behaviours. 
 
There is also agreement for provision of bank staff to provide 
one-to-one support for young people in crisis on wards out of 
hours 
 
 
 
 
Staff within acute hospitals are able to access the urgent 
helpline provided by CAMHS services out of hours, the 
consultation line and the on call psychiatrist for telephone 
advice and guidance. There is regular training provided to staff 
to enable them to manage challenging behaviour on the 
general wards and further work is planned to look at how to 
support general ward staff.  
 

 
Professional 
Development 
lead in Children’s 
services (JA) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SFPT (PJ) and 
Commissioner 
(AF)  
 
 
 
 
SPFT and CCG 
lead 
commissioner 
(CAMHS) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Q3 with ongoing 
monitoring  
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This will be addressed by the initiatives within 
our transformation plan, through the additional 
investment in mental health liaison, including 
upskilling of ward staff and training in supporting 
children with mental health issues in acute 
hospitals. Requests for additional support will be 
considered when they arise. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 49



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

10 
 

The ESCC Assistant Director for Safeguarding, LAC and Youth 
Justice and the SPFT Service Director within CAMHS will take 
joint training forward in accordance with the commitment to 
support children in crisis. 
 
 
It is anticipated that local bids will be made for national funds 
(of £30 million), available in 2015/16 for “adequate and 
effective liaison psychiatry for all ages”. 
 

Ongoing As part of our CAMHS transformation plan we 
will clarify roles and responsibilities across 
CAMHS, social care and acute hospital services to 
understand the risk shared across services 
through joint training across professional groups. 
 
A bid has been put forward to NHSE following the 
announcement of non-recurrent funds, earlier 
this month, for the provision of mental health 
nursing liaison to support children in acute 
hospitals. This area is also reflected in our 
CAMHS transformation plan and sustainability of 
the above proposal will be through 
transformational funding. 
 

9.2 It is planned to develop a protocol between SPFT and third 
sector organisations, (that provide mental health support such 
as day centres, community links workers and so on), to 
designate individuals to be given authority to access the new 
rapid response service (10.3.3) and seek an assessment for 
those in contact with them whose mental health is felt to be 
deteriorating / reaching crisis point. SPFT would provide 
information, guidance and support, as well as some training to 
these designated individuals to help them fulfil this role safely 
and effectively.  
 
Access to services by carers acting on behalf of their cared-for 
can be problematic in the context of issues of consent, but it is 
planned to ensure that within already established protocols 
that in individual care-plans, opportunities are taken to record 
in advance those circumstances in which a care-for person 
indicated their carer may take specified actions on their behalf 
in contacting and accessing mental health services. 

Sussex 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 
and Third Sector 
Organisations, 
facilitated by CCG 
Commissioners 

Protocol 
development in Q1. 
Agreement of 
protocol in Q2. 
Adoption of protocol 
by Q3. 

Nominations of staff at supervisor / management 
level were invited from Third Sector provider 
organisations to participate in training being 
provided by SPFT. 
 
This was to focus on how to access mental health 
services for users who Third Sector providers 
may have concerns have deteriorating mental 
health which would benefit from more specialist 
interventions. 
 
This training was successfully rolled out and 
positively received by third sector partners with 
clear processes / protocols being agreed on how 
and when to directly access mental health 
services when a person they are supporting is 
deteriorating or reaching a crisis point. 
 
 

P
age 50



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

11 
 

10.2 A new GP web-based information system ‘DXS’ is being 
populated with detailed information provided by SPFT about 
what services they provide, for who (referral criteria), how 
quickly they will respond, and what they need to know in order 
to ensure the person referred to them gets the best and most 
timely suitable response, care and treatment. 

CCG DXS Project 
Management 
Team 

Site live from 
September 2014. 

Site was live from September 2014 and 
subsequently kept under review for regular 
updating eg. guidance added on GP access to 
early intervention in psychosis (EIP) services. 

10.3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

System Resilience Funds of £541,000 have been agreed for 
2015/16 to increase CRHT capacity and provide a new 
community-based ‘rapid response service’ operating between 
9am and 9.30 pm 7 days per week and offering assessments of 
mental health needs. 
 
This new service will form an important and integral part of 
new improvements in responsiveness to mental health crisis in 
East Sussex, as will be seen from frequent references to it 
relation to other actions described above. 
 
The new service will be accessible via the same contact number 
for access to the Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams 
(CRHTs), but will significantly increase capacity and enable 
different functions to those of CRHTs to be undertaken. 
 
These will include an intention to provide an initial contact and 
preliminary assessment of the circumstances of the crisis 
within 30 minutes and if necessary a face to face assessment 
within 4 hours. This will be confirmed once demand and 
capacity modelling is developed. 
 
The service will initially be open to referrals from GPs and GP 
out of hours services to reduce the frequency with which their 
patients are directed to A&E. As noted (see 3.3.5) GPs already 
have been recently provided with a new 5 day response 
standard (from CMHTs or Assessment & Treatment Teams as 
these are known locally), enabling an appropriately 

Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 
 

Recruitment begun in 
early 2015.  
Staff due to be in 
post and service 
commencement in 
Q1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Three additional specialist mental health nurses 
and three supported workers have been 
recruited as at end of Q2 with bank staff being 
deployed as necessary to cover hours of 
availability required. Team fully established in Q3 
 
Capacity and provision of ‘rapid response service’ 
is currently operational. 
 
CCGs have allocated recurrent funding in full to 
ensure the new rapid response service continues 
in 2016/17. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The CRHT are now accommodating all requests 
from GPs for urgent support for their patients, 
who can be directed to the new urgent care 
lounge at the Department of Psychiatry on the 
Eastbourne DGH site if an immediate response is 
required. 

P
age 51



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

proportionate range of responses in all circumstances of crisis, 
and ensuring best use of resources. 
 
In line with other development actions (such as in relation to 
111, Ambulance services / IBIS and potentially designated 
representatives of third sector organisations), access to the 
new rapid response service will be extended over the course of 
2015/16. 
 
The service will initially operate from psychiatric facilities on 
hospital sites where they will be able to see patients, and 
thereby provide an alternative location to A&E for 
assessments. Consideration is also being given to deploying 
staff from these services in locations from which GP out of 
hours services operate, again with an assumption that these 
would be locations to which people could be invited or 
directed to be seen for face to face assessments.  
 
The existing option to see people in their own homes will also 
remain in parallel with these potential new locations from 
which these services may operate.  
 

 
 
 
Incremental 
extension of access in 
Q2, Q3 and Q4 
(subject to demand / 
capacity modelling)  
 
Adoption of location 
options in Q2, 
extension in Q3 and 
Q4 (subject to 
negotiated 
availability) 

 
 
 
Protocol agreed with SECAmb in relation to 
access. 
  
 
 
 
Pilot will be reviewed during Dec for extension 
across hours venues and stakeholders  
 
All stakeholders have access to the urgent care 
lounge at the Department of Psychiatry on the 
Eastbourne DGH site as an to attending A&E for 
access to rapid mental health crisis assessment. 

10.3.4 One of the aims of the enhanced psychiatric liaison service is 
not only to attend within 2 hours, but also to assess patients 
presenting in A&E with a mental health crisis and enable 
decisions to be taken on admission or discharge within 4 hours 
– see 6.2. 
 

Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 

Recruitment begun in 
early 2015.  
Staff due to be in 
post and service 
commencement in 
Q1. 
 

New enhanced psychiatric liaison service was in 
place from Q1. 
 
Baseline numbers of A&E attendances for mental 
health reasons in 2014/15 and involvement of 
liaison, as well as 4 hour breaches data is being 
consolidated by local CSU Business Intelligence. 
 
Quarterly monitoring reports for 2015/16 
performance are also being generated – see 6.2 
above. 
 

P
age 52



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

13 
 

10.3.5 An analysis has shown that contracted occupied bed days are 
otherwise largely sufficient to meet demand over the course of 
an annual cycle, but problems do arise in accessing beds when 
peaks in demand arise, which can be exacerbated by small 
numbers for whom discharge is delayed (not as formally 
defined DTCs – delayed transfers of care), due to their complex 
presentations which require highly specialised services and / or 
placements, including in services commissioned by NHS 
England. 
 
There are good working relationships between SPFT and Adult 
Social Care managers who are able to respond quickly to peaks 
in demand which place additional pressures on the local 
availability of acute in-patient beds. Discussions are also 
planned with NHS England to ensure clearer arrangements are 
put in place to access their commissioned services. 
 
 
 
SPFT have been incentivised throughout 2013/14 (via a 
‘CQUIN’), to develop proposals for introducing new services for 
people with personality disorders, by diverting funds from their 
current use across the health care system. 
 
 
 
A pseudo-anonymised data analysis of people with personality 
disorders found that small numbers were often attending A&E 
with very high frequency, and were also often admitted for 
short periods before being discharged. Very high utilisation by 
this relatively small group of SPFT community services and 
acute in-patient beds, means in the absence of dedicated care 
pathways and services considerable costs are being incurred 
which could be reinvested in dedicated PD services. 

SPFT and CCG 
lead 
commissioner 
(mental health) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SPFT and ESCC 
Adult Social Care 
Services / Head of 
Mental Health 
Services. 
SPFT, NHS 
England and CCG 
Commissioners. 
 
Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 
and lead 
commissioner 
(mental health). 
 
Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 
and lead 
commissioner 
(mental health) – 
Business Case for 
reinvestment. 

On-going / updated 
analyses of demand 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On-going 
 
 
 
 
Q1 
 
 
 
End Q4 2014/15. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
End Q1 2015/16. 
Implementation by 
year-end. 
 
 
 
 
 

A fortnightly conference call is now held between 
the local SPFT Service Director, the Head of 
Mental Health Services at East Sussex County 
Council and the Head of Strategic Commissioning 
for Mental Health to monitor bed occupancy and 
escalate and address problematic DTCs. 
 
Ongoing. 
 
 
SPFT and ASC staff are also engaged in work to 
review and improve patient discharge pathways 
to address any potential DTC issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It has not been possible to agree a Business Case 
for developing specialist services for people with 
PD, which it had been hoped may be resolved by 
end Q3 following a presentation of proposals to 
senior CCG clinicians and commissioners. 

P
age 53



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

14 
 

10.3.6 System Resilience Funds of £350,000 has been agreed to 
continue street increase for Eastbourne in 2014/15 and on in to 
2015/16, and to extend it to also cover the rest of East Sussex 
also in 2015/16. Formal evaluation will be undertaken to 
determine its effects and case for longer-term investment, 
which is being undertaken by a Health Economist from Centre 
for the Economics of Mental and Physical Health at the 
Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience at King's 
College London 
 
A pro-rata reduction of 61% is already being projected in the 
use of the Eastbourne custody compared to 2011/12, based on 
data from the first quarters of 2014/15, due in large part to an 
overall reduction in s136 detentions.  
 
This development appears to have been successful in not only 
reducing overall numbers of s136 detentions where it has been 
operating to date, a phenomenon that is it hoped will be 
replicated with the roll-out across East Sussex in 2015/16, but 
also in significantly improving understandings between the 
health services and Sussex police about how differing 
circumstances can be responded to in proportionate ways, the 
definition of ‘exceptional circumstances’, in the context of our 
developing a wider range of options.   
 
 
 
 
 

Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 
and lead 
commissioner 
(mental health). 
 

Street triage in place 
across East Sussex 
from Q1. 
 
Evaluation on-going / 
concluded by year-
end. 

Street triage was in place across all of East Sussex 
from April 2015 and CCGs have allocated 
recurrent funding to ensure continuation in 
2016/17. 
An economic evaluation of street triage in East 
Sussex has been completed by Dr Margaret 
Heslin from King’s Health Economics 
Institute of Psychiatry, and published in the 
British Medical Journal – Open. 
  
Section 136 detentions have reduced in 2015/16 
compared to 2014/15 – Q1 from 105 to 79; Q2 
from 122 to 85; Q3 from 105 to 77. 
 
Section 136 detentions to custody reduced to 
zero in Eastbourne and in Hastings to only ten in 
the first two quarters of 2015/16, and in quarter 
three were one and three respectively. 
 
Activity: 
Street Triage Eastbourne (Oct 2013 – end Jan 
2016) received 1606 referrals, conducted 1138 
assessments and avoided 393 s136 detentions.   
 
Street Triage Hastings (Jan 2015 – end Jan 2016) 
Received 744 referrals, conducted 436 
assessments and avoided 99 s136 detentions.   
 
Increased knowledge and understanding has 
continued to influence responses to MH crisis 
from Sussex police.  Working in partnership has 
increased joint understanding of MH challenges 
and resulted in better outcomes for service 
users. 

P
age 54



EAST SUSSEX CRISIS CARE CONCORDAT: PART TWO - Action Plans 
 

15 
 

10.3.6 The ‘Section 136 Place of Safety Operational Planning Group’ 
referred to earlier as having been established across Sussex, is 
leading the work not only on defining ‘exceptional 
circumstances’ in which police custody may be necessary, but 
also on the skill mix and capacity requirements with health-
based places of safety to manage significant levels of disturbed 
behaviour and / or intoxication and / or history of aggression or 
violence. 

SPFT-led S136 
Place of Safety 
Operational 
Group 

Audit completed by 
July 2015. 
Definition of 
‘exceptional 
circumstances’ by 
August 2015. 
 

Audit completed by July 2015 and definition of 
exceptional circumstances agreed in August 
2015. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board  

 
Date of meeting: 
 

 
12  April 2016  

By: Director of Adult Social Care and Health  
 

Title: Better Care Fund 2016/17 
 

Purpose: To provide a summary of the Better Care Fund (BCF) requirements 
for 2016/17, the East Sussex plans and the arrangements for the 
Section 75 Pooled Budgets. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The Board is recommended to: 

1) Note the requirements for 2016/17 Better Care Fund; 

2) Approve the East Sussex Better Care Fund Plans, subject to any final amendments, prior 
to submission by 25 April 2016; 

3) Note and approve the 2016/17 Better Care Fund Section 75 Pooled Budget arrangements; 
and 

4) Agree that authority for final approval of the plans and the revised pooled budget 
governance be delegated to Adult Social Care (ASC) and Clinical Commissioning Group 
Chief Officers pending any final minor amendments prior to submission.   

 
 

1 Background 

1.1 Within the Spending Review Statement in June 2013, the government announced the 
introduction of a £3.8bn pooled budget for health and social care services from 2015/16, now 
known as the “Better Care Fund”. This funding is to be pooled between the NHS and local 
authorities to deliver better outcomes and greater efficiencies from more integrated services for 
older and disabled people. Although this is a new fund, the money is drawn primarily from existing 
NHS funding streams. 

1.2 The East Sussex Better Care Fund plans (see Appendices 1 and 2) for 2015/16 were 
reviewed by NHS England and approved on 6th February 2015. 

1.3 In 2015/16 the Better Care Fund plans supported the developments agreed within the East 
Sussex Better Together programme and other transformational projects.  

1.4 Within East Sussex, the 2015/16 Better Care Fund was established under a single Section 
75 Pooled Budget agreement. Subsequent changes in governance arrangements within East 
Sussex Better Together mean that for 2016/17 there will be two pooled budgets; for East Sussex 
County Council (ESCC) Hastings and Rother and Eastbourne Hailsham Seaford Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), and  ESCC and High Weald Lewes Havens Clinical 
Commissioning Group (see Appendices 3 and 4). For both pooled budgets, ESCC will continue to 
act as host authority, with responsibility for the day-to-day governance and accountancy for the 
pooled resources set out in paragraph 2.3. 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



2 Supporting information 

2.1 The Better Care Fund Policy Framework for 2016/17 was issued in December 2015 
followed by the minimum contributions and planning guidance in February 2016.  

2.2 The existing Section 75 pooled budget has been separated into two agreements, as set out 
at Appendix 3 and 4. These agreements will support the delivery of the 2016/17 Better Care Fund 
plans as set out in Appendix 1 and 2.  

2.3 The value of the 2016/17 Better Care Fund, with contributions from partners to the pooled 
budget, is set out below: 

 ESCC/ESBT ESCC/HWLH Total 

 £m £m £m 

High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 0 10.583 10.583 

Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG 12.955 0 12.955 

Hastings and Rother CCG 13.263 0 13.263 

East Sussex County Council 5.016 1.682 6.698 

Total 31.234 12.265 43.499 

2.4 In addition to the national conditions associated with the Better Care Fund in 2015/16, there 
are 2 additional requirements for 2016/17:   

Condition 7:  Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services. This 
replaces the national payment-for-performance element of the Fund, linked to delivering a 
reduction in non-elective activity that was a condition in 2015-16. £1 billion of the total national 
CCG contribution will continue to be ring-fenced and local areas should agree how they will 
use their share of this to fund NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services and/or hold as a 
contingency in the event of excess NHS activity.   

Indicative budgets have been set for each scheme or set of schemes and in some cases these 
will continue to fund existing expenditure commitments. Details of the planned expenditure on 
NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services can be found in Appendix 2.  

Condition 8: Agreement on a local action plan to reduce delayed transfers of care 
(DTOC) and improve patient flow.  All areas should consider their performance in relation to 
DTOC (and patient flow) and work together to develop a proportionate plan to improve their 
position. 

It is recognised that this is an important piece of work for East Sussex and to ensure this is 
taken forward in an inclusive and thorough way, it is planned for a countywide commissioning 
and provider steering group to be established.  

2.5 The targets for 2016/17 included in Appendix 2 which relate to admissions to residential 
care, reablement and service user reported quality of life are currently proposed targets and 
subject to approval by ASC Performance Board on 8th April 2016.   

2.6 The East Sussex Better Together Programme and the proposed Connecting 4 You 
Programme will be responsible for leading the transformation of health and social care in the 
county, taking into account the full available joint investment of approximately £1bn. Within this 
context the deployment of the Better Care Fund is one part of much broader programmes which 
will oversee effective deployment and monitoring of the Better Care Fund, ensuring the schemes 

Page 58



supported by the fund are aligned to the health and social care transformation ambitions within 
East Sussex. 

 

3. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations  

3.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note and approve the 2016/17 Better 
Care Fund Section 75 Pooled Budget arrangements. 

3.2 The Board is recommended to note the requirements for the 2016/17 Better Care Fund and 
that the East Sussex submission is consistent with the local approach to health and social care 
transformation.  

3.3 The Board is also recommended to approve the East Sussex Better Care Fund Plans for 
2016/17. 

3.4 The Board is recommended to agree for the final approval of the BCF plans and pooled 
budget governance to be delegated to ASC and CCG Chief Officers pending any final 
amendments prior to submission by 25 April 2016.  

 

KEITH HINKLEY  
Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

 

Contact Officer: Sally Reed – Joint Commissioning Manager  
Tel. No. 01273 481912 
Email: sally.reed@eastsussex.gov.uk  

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

None 

Page 59

mailto:sally.reed@eastsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

East Sussex Better Care Fund 2016/17 

PART ONE: NARRATIVE PLANS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version 1.4 

Page 61

Appendix 1



 

1 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. The local vision for health and social care services ........................................................................ 2 

3. The evidence base supporting the case for change ........................................................................ 3 

4. Our coordinated and integrated plan of action for delivering that change ................................... 4 

5. How we plan to meet each national condition ............................................................................... 5 

i) Plans to be jointly agreed ........................................................................................................... 5 

ii) Maintain provision of social care services (not spending) .......................................................... 5 

iii) Agreement for the delivery of 7-day services across health and social care to prevent 

unnecessary non-elective admissions to acute settings and to facilitate transfer to alternative care 

settings when clinically appropriate ................................................................................................... 6 

iv) Better data sharing between health and social care, based on the NHS number ...................... 7 

v) Ensure a joint approach to assessments and care planning and ensure that, where funding is 

used for integrated packages of care, there will be an accountable professional ............................. 9 

vi) Agreement on the consequential impact of the changes on the providers that are predicted 

to be substantially affected by the plans ............................................................................................ 9 

vii) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services ..................................... 9 

viii) Agreement on a local target for Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) and develop a joint local 

action plan ........................................................................................................................................ 10 

6. An agreed approach to financial risk sharing and contingency. ................................................... 10 

 

Version Control 

 
Version Author Date Change 

V1.0 Sally Reed 16.03.16  First draft  

V1.1 Sally Reed 18.03.16 Additional information added following discussion at 
FSG 

V1.2 Sally Reed 21.03.16 Updated to include additional comments  

V1.3 Sally Reed 30.03.16 Additional information added to support final 
submission  

V1.4 Sally Reed 5.04.16 Table amended on page 11 following FSG meeting  

 

Page 62



 

2 

 

1. Introduction 

These plans build upon the 2015/16 BCF plan and outlines how we plan to deliver against 

the 8 national conditions defined with in the Planning Guidance for 161/17. These plans 

should be read alongside the emerging Strategic Transformation Plans (STP) and the five 

year strategic investment overviews which will inform longer term strategic planning for 

each of the CCGs in East Sussex.  

2. The local vision for health and social care services  

Our ambition is that by 2018 there will be a fully integrated health and social care system 

locally that will ensure every patient or service user enjoys proactive, joined up care that 

supports them to live as healthily and independently as possible and achieve the best 

possible outcomes.  

Alongside this, our vision is to create a sustainable health and social care system that 

promotes health and wellbeing whilst addressing quality and safety issues, in order to 

prevent ill health and deliver improved patient experience and outcomes for our 

population. This will be delivered through a focus on population needs, better prevention, 

self-care, improved detection, early intervention, proactive and joined up responses to 

people that require care and support across traditional organisational and geographical 

boundaries. 

We have been working together as commissioners across the East Sussex care economy for 

some time to refine our vision. We recognise that we cover a large geographic area and that 

the needs of our communities differ. We also recognise where we need to act together to 

deliver meaningful improvements in outcomes in response to local need and what our 

residents have told us is important to them.  

The Better Care Fund provides the opportunity to strengthen our unified approach and to 

ensure delivery of  “excellent sustainable services with a local focus” and we have 

committed much of our leadership energies as a system to delivering this, working through 

it consistently since the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in our area were formed. 

We have worked and will continue to work with partners and local people to develop our 

plans for the next five years: 

 We have already undertaken a wide ranging programme of engagement with system 

stakeholders to develop our approach which includes care design groups, shaping health 

events and partnership boards  

 Building on this we are committed to involving our partners and local people in shaping 

future services. We need to have an open and honest conversation about how we can 

Page 63



 

3 

 

meet the challenges that we face. We need to make sure that we do what is best for the 

population of East Sussex as a whole. 

 We continue to involve our partners and local people in developing our overarching 

approach to make sure it is right first, before we begin developing more detailed 

implementation plans with them, to ensure that they reflect and meet the needs of the 

distinct populations served by each commissioner. 

3. The evidence base supporting the case for change 

Everything we do is based squarely on a consistent strategic framework which links directly 

to: 

 Our detailed knowledge of the changing needs and demands for our services – 

encapsulated in our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA); 

 The priorities we have agreed through our Health and Wellbeing Board – encapsulating 

what we will do in all key population groups;  

 The components of the new system we need to deliver and the enablers required to get 

us there; and  

 The activity we need to undertake now through clear strategies for primary care, 

integrated service, mental health and a range of other strategic plans, which are 

practically based. 

In East Sussex we are very clear on both the need and the opportunity to improve services 

through greater integration. The CCGs and East Sussex County Council are committed to 

commissioning a range of services to improve the health of people in East Sussex. Services 

must work together so people receive seamless health and social care that is designed 

around their individual needs. We will build on the existing skills and expertise in the 

community based teams and local people to deliver services that meet the specific health 

needs and geography for the people of East Sussex. This understanding has been 

determined through; 

 Evidence from existing integrated and collaborative commissioning across health and 

social care in East Sussex 

 Programme reviews to compare service outcomes and levels of investment – ie. 

spotlight those with relatively low outcomes yet relatively high spend 

 The demographic trajectory of the population will require a greater focus on joined up 

care as more people live longer facing more co-morbidities and complex care needs. 

Page 64



 

4 

 

 Understanding the opportunity to reduce the incidence of unplanned care in the form of 

attendances at A&E departments and emergency admissions to acute hospitals.   

 Preventing or minimising people reaching a crisis that requires acute or unplanned 

interventions when it could be avoided, is the right thing to do. 

A detailed analysis of the current position across East Sussex has been carried out, 

illustrating the current resource use and highlighting the challenges and opportunities. This 

includes a range of information pertaining to the following: 

 Current activity and resource profile stratified by commissioner, by age, care type and 

provider; 

 Predicted required health and social care resource vs available spend in a ‘do nothing’ 

scenario for each commissioner; 

 Inequalities in health and unmet need; 

 Opportunities for improvement based on best practice examples 

 Benchmarking information supporting savings targets across secondary care and 

prescribing 

 Initial savings targets and reinvestment levels 

 Savings and reinvestment profiles and resulting surplus/deficit positions 

 

4. Our coordinated and integrated plan of action for delivering that 

change 

Our integrated approach is based on a set of key principles and our commitments to: 

 Deliver wholesale change – we are adopting a phased approach to delivering the 

changes required; 

 Build on evidence about what works – both learning from our experience locally, as well 

as from elsewhere (nationally and internationally); 

 Develop services based on a ‘You said, we delivered’ approach; 

 Deliver consistently high quality services and outcomes across the county – with locality 

based delivery solutions based on local need; 

 Invest in community and primary care as the keys to shifting finite resources out of 

acute care; and  

 Use a phased approach – including using the Better Care Fund (BCF) as one of our key 

mechanisms for delivering high quality, safe and sustainable care at scale and pace. 

 

Page 65



 

5 

 

5. How we plan to meet each national condition 

i) Plans to be jointly agreed  

These plans are jointly agreed between the commissioning organisations within the East 

Sussex HWB footprint.  

ii) Maintain provision of social care services (not spending) 

We aim to ensure the protection of social care services in East Sussex by ensuring that the 

legal responsibilities and duties required in Law and regulation are represented in any 

future operating models, namely: 

 Adult social care means the care and support provided by local social services authorities 

pursuant to their responsibilities towards adults who need extra support.  

 The Local Authorities responsibilities towards adults who need extra support are set out 

in the Care Act and a list of statutes in the NHS and Community Care Act 1990, where 

they are referred to as assessment for and arrangement of community care services.  

 Community care services are those which local social service authorities are required to 

provide if assessed as needed. 

 Relevant social work in adult social care is that which is required to be provided by local 

social services authorities if assessed as needed. 

 Registered social workers are trained to undertake relevant social work and are 

registered as capable of so doing. 

Social work in adult social care consists of a relationship which goes beyond customer 

boundaries in order to promote or contribute to the wellbeing of a person in need of extra 

support. The social work relationship, as with all adult social care (Children’s Social Care is 

defined by law), is governed by a set of principles which have been set out by the Law 

Commission. The relationship becomes social work when the following subset of those 

principles needs to be applied. 

The principles are that social work must: 

 recognise when the individual may not be the best judge of their own wellbeing in that 

they might lack the mental capacity to make relevant decisions 

 recognise when it may not be appropriate to follow the individual’s views, wishes and 

feelings 

 achieve a balance with the wellbeing of others, if this is relevant and practicable 

 safeguard adults wherever practicable from abuse and neglect  

 use the least restrictive solution where it is necessary to interfere with the individual’s 

rights and freedom of action wherever that is practicable. 

 

Year on year we continue to support people to remain living independently in their own 

homes, with maximum choice and control over the support they receive. Within the context 

Page 66



 

6 

 

of growing demand and significant budgetary pressures we want to continue to develop 

personalised services by approaching them in a more innovative way. We want to help more 

people to help themselves, as well as focusing on reablement and more proactive support 

to ensure people remain well, are engaged with self-management, and where ever possible 

improve people’s independence so they can stay within their own home and avoid 

admission to hospital and/or institutional care 

The ambition is to ensure that all partner organisations recognise the value of social work 

and social services and the key role they play in the management of services that are 

focussed on prevention, cost avoidance and maintaining independence 

NHS funding for social care has been used in East Sussex to enable the local authority to 
sustain the current level of eligibility criteria. It is also being used to continue to provide 
capacity within the range of social care services outlined below:  

 
Health funding for Social Care 2016/17  
 

Health funding for Social Care 
Categories 

Commentary - service and activity Area Team 

Subjective Codes 

16/17 

Planned 

£'000 

Telecare Telecare/Telehealth 52131016 301 

Integrated Crisis and Response Integrated Night Service 52131017 62 

Re-enablement Services Including JCR and ICAP 52131019  1,165             

Bed Based Intermediate Care Including Milton Grange and 
Firwood 

52131020 451                      

Early Supported Hospital 
Discharge Schemes 

Including hospital teams 52131021  636 

Mental Health Services Including Assessment and Care 
Management  

52131022 1,604                        

Other Preventative Services Including stroke support and Living 
Well 

52131023  134 

Community Equipment and 
Adaptations 

 n/a  -    

Maintaining Eligibility Criteria Eligibility maintained at Substantial 
and Critical 

52131018 5,343                      

Total Investment of Health 
funding for Social Care 

   9,696 

 

   

     

iii) Agreement for the delivery of 7-day services across health and 

social care to prevent unnecessary non-elective admissions to 

Page 67



 

7 

 

acute settings and to facilitate transfer to alternative care settings 

when clinically appropriate 

East Sussex has a good record of investing in community services that deliver “7 day 

working” in an integrated delivery model. This includes our integrated services such as 

Health and Social care Connect, the Joint Community Rehabilitation Team, Integrated Night 

Service as well as a range of other core services including District Nursing teams and 

homecare providers. In 16/17, Integrated Locality teams and Communities of practice are 

being implemented to provide a joined up approach to the delivery of 7 day services.  

The plans to further develop health and Social care Connect alongside the implementation 

of locality teams will ensure a consistent 24/7 community offer to support admission 

avoidance and discharge from hospital including at weekends. The locality model will 

provide a systematic approach to understanding service gaps within local areas to inform 

future commission intentions.  

There is more that we can do to ensure there is a systematic whole system approach to 7 

day service delivery with the clear objective benefit of admission avoidance and timely 

discharge from inpatient settings. To this effect, further work with stakeholders is planned 

within 2016/17 to ensure planned service developments support effective and efficient 

hospital discharges at weekends as well as during the week. 

The key risk to 7 day services is the availability of workforce.  This risk is recorded on 

relevant risk registers and has been identified as a specific work stream within 

transformation programmes.  

 

iv) Better data sharing between health and social care, based on the 

NHS number 

The CCGs have established a Joint East Sussex Informatics Group, which includes the three 

East Sussex CCGs, the Council, the Ambulance Service, the Out of Hours GP service, the local 

mental health trust and the local acute/community services trust. The group has developed 

a joint Informatics Strategy, which sets out the principles for information sharing, a five year 

vision/five year goals.  All of our key providers are being asked to sign up to the principles 

and vision. On the strength of this, the CCGs and the Council have agreed to implement the 

ROCI solution (Read Only Care Information), by which relevant providers have read-only 

access to each other’s care records, within the boundaries of their role and of people’s 

consent.  

All health and social care services will use the NHS Number subject to resolution of national 

information governance issues. The NHS number is regularly matched to Social Care records 

Page 68



 

8 

 

held on CareFirst. It is expected that this will be fully in place by April 2016. The current 

coverage of the NHS number for active Social Services clients stands at over 90%. 

We are committed to using systems that are based upon Open APIs and Open Standards. As 

providers implement new information systems eg. System One, we will look to maximise 

opportunities to improve the interface between systems to support integrated working.  

“We commit ourselves to aim for interoperability (i.e. use Informatics systems that can 

communicate with each other through electronic means). When this is not possible in the 

short term, the CCGs will ensure the information they hold is capable of being viewed 

electronically by other parties, as appropriate. The CCGs are committed to system-wide 

solutions and system-wide behaviours to achieve this, and this commitment includes their 

work on Informatics. The principle of interoperability will apply to the CCGs’ commissioning 

and re-commissioning or procurement of new clinical services and Informatics systems. We 

will ask our key providers to be mindful of these principles when they undertake their own 

procurement of new Informatics systems.” (Ref: Principle 9 of our Informatics Strategy)   

We are committed to using systems that are based upon Open APIs and Open Standards, 

including use of GSX and nhs.net secure email. We also use the voltage secure email for 

communicating between East Sussex County Council and the public and third/voluntary 

sector. 

 “We are committed to being mindful and respectful of the need for best practice and take 

account of good IG practice, Caldicott, and the significant legal framework that supports this 

area of work. The CCGs’ default position will be for information to be shared, unless there 

are specific reasons why this should not happen (e.g. consent not given).” (Ref: Principle 8 of 

our Informatics Strategy)   

The following key documents are explicitly referenced in the strategy: 

• Securing excellence in Primary Care IMT.  

• Caldicott Standards/Caldicott 2 Report. 

• HM Government Information Sharing: Pocket Guide. 

• Health and Social Care Information Centre Information Governance Toolkit. 

• Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) Statutory Data Sharing Cod of Practice. 

• NHS Confidentiality Code of Practice. 

 

We will review and continue to maintain an information governance framework that 

ensures we meet all Caldicott requirements. This will meet the NHS standard contract 

requirements and support professional and clinical practice. All practices’ compliance with 

the IG toolkit is monitored on a biannual basis. 

 

Page 69



 

9 

 

v) Ensure a joint approach to assessments and care planning and 

ensure that, where funding is used for integrated packages of care, 

there will be an accountable professional 

 

East Sussex has been developing multi-disciplinary working, centred around risk 

stratification of GP Practice populations using Sussex Combined Predictive Mechanism 

(CPM).  Monthly multi-disciplinary meetings have been taking place, working towards 

ensuring that all people who are high risk of hospital admissions have a care plan with a 

named lead professional.  

As well as focussing on those at very high and high risk of hospital admission the 

Multidisciplinary team meetings also identify people at medium risk where their risk score is 

rising. Proactive care and interventions are then planned with the individual proactively to 

help prevent them deteriorating. 

East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust has been working closely with East Sussex Adult Social 

Care via Virtual Management Teams to promote joint working within CCG areas. Joint 

working has also involved Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust engagement in the 

Virtual Management teams and monthly multi-disciplinary meetings, to ensure the holistic 

approach to person centred planning includes consideration of psychological wellbeing and 

mental health needs. Work is underway to establish a joint health and social care business 

intelligence tool which will support the risk profiling and care planning process. 

In 2016/17, Integrated Locality teams and Communities of Practice will be implemented 

ensuring these joint working developments are built upon to define and implement locality 

models of care, ensuring accountable lead professionals are allocated and care plans are in 

place for the identified patient/service user cohorts. Local Primary Care strategies envision 

GPs taking a lead in coordinating care for people at high risk of hospital admission.  

vi) Agreement on the consequential impact of the changes on the 

providers that are predicted to be substantially affected by the 

plans 

Agreement to all the intentions within the BCF Plans will be incorporated into the contracts 

with providers for 2016/17.  

vii) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital 

services  

The detail of this will follow once the 15/16 NEA position is understood and contracts have 

been finalised with providers.  

Page 70



 

10 

 

viii) Agreement on a local target for Delayed Transfers of Care 

(DTOC) and develop a joint local action plan 

East Sussex recognises this as an important piece of work which needs to be taken forward 

in a thorough and meaningful way, including all stakeholders. A steering group will be 

established to develop the agreed local target and action plan to include the following:  

 Agreed Local target  

 Additional measures 

 Evidence of agreement 

 Situation Analysis 

 Analysis of patient flow 

 Local Capacity Mapping 

 Patient co-ordination 

 Involvement of service users/patients and carers 

 Engagement with wider providers eg. Care Homes  

 Workforce Strategy 

 Governance and accountability structure 

 Commissioning Approach  

 

6. The agreed approach to financial risk sharing and contingency. 

The partners have agreed risk share principles as set out below, which provide for financial 

risks arising within the commissioning of services from the Better Care Fund pooled budget. 

RISK SHARE PRINCIPLES IN RESPECT OF THE EAST SUSSEX BETTER CARE FUND 

Background 

This agreement describes the key principles underpinning the risk share arrangements between 

Commissioners in East Sussex in respect of the Better Care Fund (BCF). These commissioners 

comprise High Weald Lewes Havens (HWLH) CCG, CCG Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford (EHS) CCG, 

Hastings and Rother (HR) CCG and East Sussex County Council (ESCC). These principles should be 

applied consistently to each East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board Framework Section 75 

agreement relating to the Better Care Fund and the Commissioning of Health and Social Care 

Services within East Sussex. 

The governance of the risk share principles on behalf of HWLH and ESCC will be the Connecting 4 

You Programme Board. The governance of the risk share principles on behalf of EHS, HR  and ESCC 

will be the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board. Each Programme Board will review this 

schedule annually. 

For 2016/17 the contributions to the East Sussex BCF totals £43.499m. The following table details 

these contributions by organisation: 

Page 71



 

11 

 

 ESCC/ESBT ESCC/HWLH Total 

 £m £m £m 

High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 0 10.583 10.583 

Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford 
CCG 

12.955 0 12.955 

Hastings and Rother CCG 13.263 0 13.263 

East Sussex County Council 5.016 1.682 6.698 

Total 31.234 12.265 43.499 

 

The BCF is intended to provide a framework for investment in schemes that promote better 

integration between social and health care services, to improve people’s health and social care 

experience while also delivering the benefits identified in the Connecting 4 You and ESBT 

programmes.  

Individual organisations are jointly responsible for risk managing the BCF s75 pooled budget 

arrangements and shall reflect and report identified organisational risk in their own corporate risk 

registers.  

Where there is any inconsistency between the risk share principles set out in this schedule and a s75 

agreement, the relevant Programme Board will determine the appropriate action. 

Principle 1 

The risk share fund and contingency arrangement are intended to address financial risks associated 

with the delivery of the 2016/17 BCF plan and ensures BCF investment does not cause a CCG partner 

to over extend in financial terms and put the achievement of its financial balance at risk.  

Principle 2 

That a risk share fund is established for each CCG which as a minimum is equal to the difference 

between the value of planned BCF healthcare activity reductions and the reductions realised within 

2016/17 healthcare contracts. The full value of the risk share fund is retained by each CCG from their 

BCF allocation which is paid into the pooled budget at the beginning of the year. 

Principle 3 

A contingency fund is established at the beginning of each year within the Pooled Fund equal to the 

difference between total BCF investment (excluding Risk Share Funds) and forecast expenditure in 

total on the individual approved BCF schemes.  

Principle 4 

New business cases for BCF will be approved by the relevant Programme Board or delegated sub- 

committee. Investment shall include a clear appraisal of financial risks associated with delivery and 

provide clarity on whether financial risk crystalizing is an appropriate call on risk share fund or 

contingency arrangements. The relevant Programme Board shall agree all investment decisions and 

risk handling mechanisms. 

Page 72



 

12 

 

Principle 5 

The lead commissioner as identified within the s75 agreements will be responsible for reporting to 

the Programme Boards the achievement of the BCF plans and for ensuring commissioning contracts 

reflect BCF savings and investment plans. 

Principle 6 

Each organisation will annually and following a properly conducted risk assessment of each BCF 

saving and investment scheme provide the relevant Programme   Board with a detailed plan of how 

the total quantum of risk is mitigated. The assessment shall include the likelihood and impact of 

each scheme delivering the expected outcomes at an organisational level in terms of activity 

reduction, cost reduction and operational and quality indicators. 

Principle 7 

The East Sussex Finance Sub Group will be responsible for co-ordinating the performance 

management of BCF schemes and will report to the relevant Programme Board quarterly. The East 

Sussex Finance  Sub Group will make recommendations to the relevant Programme Board regarding 

mitigating actions, the application of risk share funds, contingency and underspends on schemes and 

the source of any additional pool funding required. 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Selected Health and Well Being Board:
East Sussex

Data Submission Period:
2016/17

4. HWB Expenditure Plan

34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46

Scheme Name
Scheme Type (see table below for 

descriptions) Please specify if 'Scheme Type' is 'other' Area of Spend
Please specify if 'Area of 

Spend' is 'other' Commissioner
if Joint 
% NHS

if Joint 
% LA Provider Source of Funding

2016/17 Expenditure 
(£)

New or Existing 
Scheme

Total 15-16 
Expenditure (£) 

(if existing 
scheme)

Protecting Social Care Services Personalised support/ care at home Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £9,696,000 Existing £9,696,000

Reablement:Intermediate Care Intermediate care services Community Health Local Authority NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution £592,175 Existing £0

Reablement:Intermediate Care Intermediate care services Community Health Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £516,049 Existing £299,000

Reablement:Intermediate Care Intermediate care services Community Health Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £342,134 Existing £0

Reablement:Maintaining Independence Reablement services Community Health Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £690,000 Existing £591,000

Care Act Personalised support/ care at home Social Care Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £1,486,000 Existing £1,486,000

Disabled Facilities Grant Personalised support/ care at home Social Care Local Authority Private Sector Local Authority Social Services £5,582,273 Existing £3,107,000

Carers Support for carers Social Care Local Authority Charity/Voluntary Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £1,479,000 Existing £1,442,000

Carers Support for carers Social Care Local Authority Private Sector Local Authority Social Services £1,116,000 Existing £1,116,000

Carers Support for carers Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £1,564,000 Existing £1,515,000

Carers Support for carers Social Care Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £570,000 Existing £656,000

East Sussex Mobile App Assistive Technologies Other Covers multiple areas CCG CCG CCG Minimum Contribution £9,000 New

Community Therapy and Falls Reablement services Community Health Local Authority NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution £1,052,927 New

Health and Social Care Connect Integrated care teams Other Covers multiple areas Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £664,696 New

Health and Social Care Connect Integrated care teams Other Covers multiple areas Local Authority NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution £160,700 New

Telecare Assistive Technologies Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £302,058 New

Expert Benefits Advice Service Personalised support/ care at home Social Care Local Authority Charity/Voluntary Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £150,000 New

Commissioning Support for Projects Other Staff working on various projects Other Staffing Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £376,725 New

Commissioning Support for Projects Other Staff working on various projects Other Staffing CCG CCG CCG Minimum Contribution £32,270 New

ESBT Programme and Project Support Other Staff working on various projects Other Staffing Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £384,615 New

ESBT Programme and Project Support Other Staff working on various projects Other Staffing CCG CCG CCG Minimum Contribution £105,579 New

NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services Other Will cover multiple schemes, plans to be confirmed with trusts Community Health CCG NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution £10,916,000 New

Contingency Other Contingency Acute CCG CCG CCG Minimum Contribution £5,403,559 Existing £0

IT Systems (ROCI) Assistive Technologies Other Covers multiple areas Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £49,330 Existing £55,000

IT Systems (ROCI) Assistive Technologies Other Covers multiple areas Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £53,308 Existing £37,000

TECS Assistive Technologies Community Health Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution £69,033 New

TECS Assistive Technologies Community Health Local Authority NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution £87,750 New

TECS Assistive Technologies Community Health Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution £47,490 New

Scheme Type
Reablement services
Personalised support/ care at home
Intermediate care services
Integrated care teams
Improving healthcare services to care 
Support for carers
7 day working
Assistive Technologies

The development of support networks to maintain the patient at home independently or through appropriate interventions delivered in the community setting. Improved independence, avoids 

Template for BCF submission 2: due on 25th April 2016
Sheet: 4. Health and Well-Being Board Expenditure Plan

This sheet should be used to set out the full BCF scheme level spending plan. The table is set out to capture a range of information about how schemes are being funded and the types of services they are providing, which is required to demonstrate how the national policy framework is being achieved.  Where a scheme has multiple funding sources this can be indicated and split out, but there may still be instances when 
several lines need to be completed in order to fully describe a single scheme. In this case please use the scheme name column to indicate this.
 On this tab please enter the following information: 
 - Enter a scheme name in column B;
 - Select the scheme type in column C from the dropdown menu (descriptions of each are located in cells B270 - C278); if the scheme type is not adequately described by one of the dropdown options please choose 'other' and give further explanation in column D;
 - Select the area of spending the scheme is directed at using from the dropdown menu in column E; if the area of spending is not adequately described by one of the dropdown options please choose 'other' and give further explanation in column F;
 - Select the commissioner and provider for the scheme using the dropdown menu in columns G and J, noting that  if a scheme has more than one provider or commissioner, you should complete one row for each. For example, if both the CCG and the local authority will contract with a third party to provide a joint service, there would be two lines for the scheme: one for the CCG commissioning from the third party and one 
for the local authority commissioning from the third party;
 - In Column K please state where the expenditure is being funded from. If this falls across multiple funding streams please enter the scheme across multiple lines;
 - Complete column L to give the planned spending on the scheme in 2016/17;
 - Please use column M to indicate whether this is a new or existing scheme.
 - Please use column N to state the total 15-16 expenditure (if existing scheme) This is the only detailed information on BCF schemes being collected centrally for 2016-17 but it is expected that detailed scheme level plans will continue to be developed locally.

Expenditure

Description

Supportive technologies for self management and telehealth. Admission avoidance and improves quality of care

Schemes specifically designed to ensure that the patient can be supported at home instead of admission to hospital or to a care home. May promote self management/expert patient, 
Community based services 24x7.  Step-up and step-down. Requirement for more advanced nursing care. Admissions avoidance, early discharge.
Improving outcomes for patients by developing multi-disciplinary health and social care teams based in the community. Co-ordinated and proactive management of individual cases. Improved 
Improve the quality of primary and community health services delivered to care home residents. To improve the consistency and quality of healthcare outcomes for care home residents. 
Supporting people so they can continue in their roles as carers and avoiding hospital admissions. Advice, advocacy, information, assessment, emotional and physical support, training, 
Seven day working across health and/or social care settings. Reablement and  avoids admissions

P
age 75

A
ppendix 2



Selected Health and Well Being Board:
East Sussex

Data Submission Period:
2016/17

5. HWB Metrics

3 4 5 6

47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59

Contributing CCGs

CCG Total 
Non-Elective 
Admission 
Plan*

HWB Non-
Elective 
Admission 
Plan**

CCG Total 
Non-Elective 
Admission 
Plan*

HWB Non-
Elective 
Admission 
Plan**

CCG Total 
Non-Elective 
Admission 
Plan*

HWB Non-
Elective 
Admission 
Plan**

CCG Total 
Non-Elective 
Admission 
Plan*

HWB Non-
Elective 
Admission 
Plan**

CCG Total 
Non-Elective 
Admission 
Plan*

HWB Non-
Elective 
Admission 
Plan**

NHS Brighton and Hove CCG 1.0% 0.6% 5,284 54 5,238 53 4,988 51 5,244 53 20,754 212
NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG 100.0% 34.5% 4,217 4,217 4,264 4,264 3,654 3,654 3,614 3,614 15,749 15,749
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG 99.7% 33.3% 4,623 4,609 4,674 4,659 3,792 3,780 3,751 3,739 16,840 16,787
NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 98.1% 29.7% 3,371 3,307 3,265 3,203 3,285 3,223 3,369 3,305 13,290 13,038
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 2.9% 1.2% 4,412 126 4,511 129 4,168 119 4,248 121 17,339 495
NHS West Kent CCG 0.8% 0.7% 9,434 76 9,538 77 9,538 77 9,331 75 37,841 304

Totals 100% 31,341 12,388 31,490 12,385 29,425 10,903 29,557 10,908 121,813 46,585
57

No
If yes, please complete HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figures 58 59 60 61

0 0 0 0 0
12,388 12,385 10,903 10,908 46,585
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

62
No

£10,457,629
63 64

£1,490
£1,490

£0 £0
HWB Plan Reduction % 0.00%

HWB Quarterly Plan Reduction %

Template for BCF submission 2: due on 25th April 2016
Sheet: 5. Health and Well-Being Board Better Care Fund Metrics

This sheet should be used to set out the Health and Wellbeing Board's performance plans for each of the Better Care Fund metrics in 2016-17. This should build on planned and actual performance on these metrics in 2015-16. The BCF 
requires plans to be set for 4 nationally defined metrics and 2 locally defined metrics. The non-elective admissions metric section is pre-populated with activity data from CCG Operating Plan submissions for all contributing CCGs, which 
has then been mapped to the HWB footprint to provide a default HWB level NEA activity plan for 2016-17. There is then the option to adjust this by indicating how many admissions can be avoided through the BCF plan, which are not 
already built into CCG operating plan assumptions. Where it is decided to plan for an additional reduction in NEA activity through the BCF the option is also provided within the template to set out an associated risk sharing arrangement.  
Once CCG have made their second operating plan activity uploads via Unify this data will be populated into a second version of this template by the national team and sent back in time for the second BCF submission. At this point Health 
and Wellbeing Boards will be able to amend, confirm, and comment on non-elective admission targets again based on the new data. The full specification and details around each of the six metrics is included in the BCF Planning 
Requirements document. Comments and instructions in the sheet should provide the information required to complete the sheet.

Further information on how when reductions in Non-Elective Activity and associated risk sharing arrangements should be considered is set out within the BCF Planning Requirements document.

5.1 HWB NEA Activity Plan

 - Please use cell E43 to confirm if you are planning on any additional quarterly reductions (Yes/No)
 - If you have answered Yes in cell E43 then in cells G45, I45, K45 and M45 please enter the quarterly additional reduction figures for Q1 to Q4.
 - In cell E49 please confirm whether you are putting in place a local risk sharing agreement (Yes/No)
 - In cell E54 please confirm or amend the cost of a non elective admission. This is used to calculate a risk share fund, using the quarterly additional reduction figures.
 - Please use cell F54 to provide a reason for any adjustments to the cost of NEA for 16/17 (if necessary) 

% CCG 
registered 

population that 
has resident 
population in 
East Sussex

% East 
Sussex 
resident 

population 
that is in CCG 

registered 

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total (Q1 - Q4)

Are you planning on any additional quarterly reductions?

HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure
HWB NEA Plan (after reduction)

Are you putting in place a local risk sharing agreement on NEA?

BCF revenue funding from CCGs ring-fenced for NHS out of 
hospital commissioned services/risk share ***

Cost of NEA as used during 15/16 **** Please add the reason, for any adjustments to the cost of NEA for 16/17 in the cell below.
Cost of NEA for 16/17 ****

Additional NEA reduction delivered through the BCF

* This is taken from the latest CCG NEA plan figures included in the Unify2 planning template, aggregated to quarterly level, extracted on 7th March 2016.
** This is calculated as the % contribution of each CCG to the HWB level plan, based on the CCG-HWB mapping (see CCG - HWB Mapping tab)
*** Within the sum subject to the condition on NHS out of hospital commissioned services/risk share, for any local area putting in place a risk share for 2016/17 as part of its BCF planning, we would expect the value of the risk share to be 

P
age 76



65 66 67
Actual 
14/15*****

Planned 
15/16*****

Forecast 
15/16 Planned 16/17

Annual rate 545.5 552.6 526.0 516.0
Numerator 726 748 712 712

Denominator 133,095 135,359 135,359 137,996

68 70
69 71 72

Actual 
14/15***** Planned 15/16

Forecast 
15/16 Planned 16/17

Annual % 88.8% 91.2% 89.1% 89.1%
Numerator 225 570 98 98

Denominator 250 625 110 110
*****Any numerator or denominator less than 6 has been supressed in the published data and is therefore showing blank in the cells above. These cells will also be blank if an estimate has been used in the published data.

73 74 75 76 77 78 79

Q1 (Apr 15 - 
Jun 15)

Q2 (Jul 15 - 
Sep 15)

Q3 (Oct 15 - 
Dec 15)

Q4 (Jan 16 - 
Mar 16)

Q1 (Apr 15 - 
Jun 15)

Q2 (Jul 15 - 
Sep 15)

Q3 (Oct 15 - 
Dec 15)

Q4 (Jan 16 - 
Mar 16)

Q1 (Apr 16 - 
Jun 16)

Q2 (Jul 16 - 
Sep 16)

Q3 (Oct 16 - 
Dec 16)

Q4 (Jan 
17 - Mar 
17)

Quarterly rate 1065.5 1194.4 927.9 920.5 1390.1 1571.8 1722.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Numerator 4,639 5,200 4,040 4,039 6,052 6,843 7,497 0 0 0 0 0
Denominator 435,372 435,372 435,372 438,772 435,372 435,372 435,372 438,772 438,772 438,772 438,772 442,002

81 84

82 85
83 86 87

80

Planned 
15/16 Planned 16/17

5.2 Residential Admissions

**** Please use the following document and amend the cost if necessary in cell E54. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/477919/2014-15_Reference_costs_publication.pdf

 - Please use rows 93-95 (columns K-L  for Q3-Q4 15-16 forecasts and columns M-P for 16-17 plans) to set out the Delayed Transfers Of Care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population (aged 18+). The denominator figure in row 95 is pre-populated (population - aged 18+). The 
numerator figure in cells K94-P94 (the Delayed Transfers Of Care (delayed days) from hospital) needs entering. The rate will be calculated for you in cells K93-O93. Please add a commentary in column H to provide any useful information in relation to how you have agreed this figure.

 - In cell G69 please enter your forecasted level of residential admissions for 2015-16.  In cell H69 please enter your planned level of residential admissions for 2016-17. The actual rate for 14-15 and the planned rate for 15-
16 are provided for comparison. Please add a commentary in column I to provide any useful information in relation to how you have agreed this figure.

Comments

Long-term support needs of older people (aged 
65 and over) met by admission to residential and 
nursing care homes, per 100,000 population

Population figure is 133,095 (latest ONS estimates), therefore forecast = 535.0
Proposed target for 2016/17 is to maintain performance at 535.0, however differnce in 
popultaiton figure as highlighted above, means that annual rate is not calculated correctly. 

*****Actual 14/15 & Planned 15/16 collected using the following definition - 'Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population'. Any numerator less 
than 6 has been supressed in the published data and is therefore showing blank in the numerator and annual rate cells above. These cells will also be blank if an estimate has been used in the published data.

5.3 Reablement

 - Please use cells G82-83 (forecast for 15-16) and H82-83 (planned 16-17) to set out the proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation 
services. By entering the denominator figure in cell G83/H83 (the planned total number of older people (65 and over) discharged from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services) and the numerator figure in cell 
G82/H82 (the number from within that group still at home after 91 days) the proportion will be calculated for you in cell G81/H81. Please add a commentary in column I to provide any useful information in relation to how you 
have agreed this figure.

Comments

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who 
were still at home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services

Forecast reflects ASCOF measure defintion. Planned reflected whole year.
Proposed target for 2016/17 is to maintain performance above 89%

5.4 Delayed Transfers of Care

15-16 plans 15-16 actual (Q1, Q2 & Q3) and forecast (Q4) figures 16-17 plans

Comments

Delayed Transfers of Care (delayed days) from 
hospital per 100,000 population (aged 18+).

Target for 2016/17 is not yet agreed 
and will be included in the final 
submission, 

5.5 Local performance metric (as described in your BCF 16/17 planning submission 1 return)

 - Please use rows 105-107 to update information relating to your locally selected performance metric. The local performance metric set out in cell C105 has been taken from your BCF 16-17 
planning submission 1 template - these local metrics can be amended, as required.

Comments

P
age 77



Metric Value 60.0 67.0
Numerator 5,889.0 6,296.0
Denominator 9,815.0 9,396.0

89 92
90 93

91 94 95

88

Planned 
15/16 Planned 16/17

Metric Value 19.3 19.5
Numerator 226,240.0 138,716.0
Denominator 11,738.0 7,122.0

 - You may also use rows 117-119 to update information relating to your locally selected patient experience metric. The local patient experience metric set out in cell C117 has been taken 
from your BCF 16-17 planning submission 1 template - these local metrics can be amended, as required.

Comments

Social care related Quality of Life (ASCOF 1a) 

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with 
dementia  

Planned target is to achieve diagnostic rate of 67% of the estimated local prevalence of 
dementia by 2016/17

5.6 Local defined patient experience metric (as described in your BCF 16/17 planning submission 1 return)

P
age 78



Selected Health and Well Being Board:
East Sussex

Data Submission Period:
2016/17

6. National Conditions

National Conditions For The Better Care Fund 2016-17

Does your BCF plan 
for 2016-17 set out a 

clear plan to meet 
this condition?

1) Plans to be jointly agreed Yes 96
2) Maintain provision of social care services (not spending) Yes 97
3) Agreement for the delivery of 7-day services across health and 
social care to prevent unnecessary non-elective admissions to 
acute settings and to facilitate transfer to alternative care settings 
when clinically appropriate

Yes

98
4) Better data sharing between health and social care, based on 
the NHS number

Yes 99
5) Ensure a joint approach to assessments and care planning 
and ensure that, where funding is used for integrated packages 
of care, there will be an accountable professional

Yes
100

6) Agreement on the consequential impact of the changes on the 
providers that are predicted to be substantially affected by the 
plans

No - in development
101

7) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital 
services 

No - in development 102
8) Agreement on a local target for Delayed Transfers of Care 
(DTOC) and develop a joint local action plan

No - in development 103
A working group is being established to develop an agreed local Action plan as outlined in 
the Narrative 

Template for BCF submission 2: due on 25th April 2016
Sheet: 6. National Conditions

This sheet requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm whether the eight national conditions detailed in the Better Care Fund Planning Guidance are on track to be met 
through the delivery of your plan in 2016-17.  The conditions are set out in full in the BCF Policy Framework and further guidance is provided in the BCF Planning Requirements 
document. Please answer as at the time of completion.  On this tab please enter the following information: 
 - For each national condition please use column C to indicate whether the condition is being met.  The sheet sets out the eight conditions and requires the Health & Wellbeing 
Board to confirm either 'Yes', 'No' or 'No - in development' for each one. 'Yes' should be used when the condition is already being fully met, or will be by 31st March 2016. 'No - in 
development' should be used when a condition is not currently being met but a plan is in development to meet this through the delivery of your BCF plan in 2016-17. 'No' should be 
used to indicate that there is currently no plan agreed for meeting this condition by 31st March 2017. 
 - Please use column C to indicate when it is expected that the condition will be met / agreed if it is not being currently. 
 - Please detail in the comments box issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the condition, or any other relevant information.

Please detail in the comments box issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet 
the condition, or any other relevant information.

Agreement to all the intentions within the BCF Plans will be incorporated into the contracts 
with providers for 2016/17. 

The detail of this will follow once the 15/16 NEA position is understood and contracts have 
been finalised with providers. 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 
and 

NHS EASTBOURNE, HAILSHAM AND SEAFORD 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

and 
NHS HASTINGS AND ROTHER CLINICAL 

COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FRAMEWORK SECTION 75 PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

RELATING THE BETTER CARE FUND AND THE 
COMMISSIONING OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 

SERVICES  
 

 
  

Page 81

Appendix 3



 

i 
 

Contents 

Item Page 

 

PARTIES 1 

BACKGROUND 1 

1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION 2 

2 TERM 6 

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 6 

4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES 6 

5 FUNCTIONS 7 

6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 7 

7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND 8 

8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT 9 

10 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 9 

11 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 10 

12 RISK SHARE ARRANGMENTS, OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS 10 

14 VAT 10 

15 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS 10 

16 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 11 

17 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE 11 

18 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 12 

19 GOVERNANCE 12 

20 REVIEW  12 

21 COMPLAINTS 12 

22 TERMINATION & DEFAULT 12 

23 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 13 

24 FORCE MAJEURE 14 

25 CONFIDENTIALITY 14 

26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION REGULATIONS 15 

27 OMBUDSMEN 15 

28 INFORMATION SHARING 15 

29 NOTICES 15 

30 VARIATION  16 

31 CHANGE IN LAW 16 

32 WAIVER 16 

33 SEVERANCE 16 

34 ASSIGNMENT  AND SUB CONTRACTING 16 

35 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY 17 

36 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 17 

37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 17 

38 COUNTERPARTS 17 

Page 82



 

ii 
 

39 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 17 

 
  
 

Page 83



  
 
 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made on   day of       2016 
 
PARTIES 

(1) EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL (the "Council") 

(2) NHS EASTBOURNE, HAILSHAM AND SEAFORD CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

(3) NHS HASTINGS AND ROTHER CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP  

(4) The two Clinical Commissioning Groups, reference in (2) and (3) above, are collectively referenced 
to as the “CCG”. 

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Council has responsibility for commissioning and/or providing social care services on behalf of 
the population of the county of East Sussex. 

(B) The CCG has the responsibility for commissioning health services pursuant to the 2006 Act in the 
county of East Sussex, within the geographic areas covered by the Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG and Hastings and Rother CCG 

(C) The Better Care Fund has been established by the Government to provide funds to local areas to 
support the integration of health and social care and to seek to achieve the National Conditions and 
Local Objectives.  It is a requirement of the Better Care Fund that the CCG and the Council establish 
a pooled fund for this purpose. 

(D) Section 75 of the 2006 Act gives powers to local authorities and clinical commissioning groups to 
establish and maintain pooled funds out of which payment may be made towards expenditure 
incurred in the exercise of prescribed local authority functions and prescribed NHS functions.  

(E) The purpose of this Agreement is to set out the terms on which the Partners have agreed to 
collaborate and to establish a framework through which the Partners can secure the future position 
of health and social care services through lead or joint commissioning arrangements.   

(F) The aims and benefits of the Partners in entering in to this Agreement are to: 

a) improve the quality and efficiency of the Services; 

b) meet the National Conditions and Local Objectives;[and]  

c) make more effective use of resources through the establishment and maintenance of a pooled  
fund for revenue expenditure on the Services 

(G) The Partners have jointly carried out consultations on the proposals for this Agreement with all those 
persons likely to be affected by the arrangements.   

(H) The Partners are entering into this Agreement in exercise of the powers referred to in Section 75 of 
the 2006 Act and/or Section 13Z(2) and 14Z(3) of the 2006 Act as applicable, to the extent that 
exercise of these powers is required for this Agreement. 

 

 

 

Page 84



 

2 
 

1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement, save where the context requires otherwise, the following words, terms and 
expressions shall have the following meanings: 

 1998 Act means the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 2000 Act means the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 2004 Regulations means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004. 

 2006 Act means the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 Affected Partner means, in the context of Clause 22, the Partner whose obligations under the 
Agreement have been affected by the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event 

 Agreement means this agreement including its Schedules and Appendices. 

 Approved Expenditure means any additional expenditure approved by the Partners in relation to an 
Individual Service above any Contract Price and Performance Payments. 

 Authorised Officers means an officer of each Partner appointed to be that Partner's representative 
for the purpose of this Agreement. 

 Better Care Fund means the Better Care Fund as described in NHS England Publications Gateway 
Ref. No.00314 and NHS England Publications Gateway Ref. No.00535 as relevant to the Partners. 

 Better Care Fund Plan means the plan attached at Schedule 3 setting out the Partners plan for the 
use of the Better Care Fund. 

 CCG Statutory Duties means the Duties of the CCG pursuant to Sections 14P to 14Z2  of the 2006 
Act  

 Change in Law means the coming into effect or repeal (without re-enactment or consolidation) in 
England of any Law, or any amendment or variation to any Law, or any judgment of a relevant court 
of law which changes binding precedent in England after the date of this Agreement 

 Commencement Date means 00:01 hrs on 1 April 2016. 

 Confidential Information means information, data and/or material of any nature which any Partner 
may receive or obtain in connection with the operation of this Agreement and the Services and: 

(a) which comprises Personal Data or Sensitive Personal Data or which relates to any patient or 
his treatment or medical history; 

(b) the release of which is likely to prejudice the commercial interests of a Partner or the 
interests of a Service User respectively; or 

(c) which is a trade secret. 

 Contract Price means any sum payable to a Provider under a Service Contract as consideration for 
the provision of Services and which, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include any Default Liability 
or Performance Payment. 

 Default Liability means any sum which is agreed or determined by Law or in accordance with the 
terms of a Services Contract to be payable by any Partner(s) to the Provider as a consequence of (i) 
breach by any or all of the Partners of an obligation(s) in whole or in part under the relevant Services 
Contract or (ii) any act or omission of a third party for which any or all of the Partners are, under the 
terms of the relevant Services Contract, liable to the Provider. 

Page 85



 

3 
 

 Financial Contributions means the financial contributions made by each Partner to a Pooled Fund 
in any Financial Year. 

 Financial Year means each financial year running from 1 April in any year to 31 March in the 
following calendar year.  

Force Majeure Event means one or more of the following: 
(a) war, civil war (whether declared or undeclared), riot or armed conflict; 

(b) acts of terrorism; 

(c) acts of God; 

(d) fire or flood; 

(e) industrial action; 

(f) prevention from or hindrance in obtaining raw materials, energy or other supplies; 

(g) any form of contamination or virus outbreak; and 
(h) any other event, 
in each case where such event is beyond the reasonable control of the Partner claiming relief  

  
 Functions means the NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions 
  
 Health Related Functions means those of the health related functions of the Council, specified in 

Regulation 6 of the Regulations as relevant to the commissioning of the Services and which may be 
further described in the relevant Scheme InvestmentsDescriptions (Schedule 3).  

 Host Partner means the Partner that will host the Pooled Fund. 

 Health and Wellbeing Board means the Health and Wellbeing Board established by the Council 
pursuant to Section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 Indirect Losses means loss of profits, loss of use, loss of production, increased operating costs, 
loss of business, loss of business opportunity, loss of reputation or goodwill or any other 
consequential or indirect loss of any nature, whether arising in tort or on any other basis. 

 Individual Scheme means one of the schemes which is agreed by the Partners to be included 
within this Agreement using the powers under Section 75 as documented in a Scheme Description. 

 Joint Commissioning means a mechanism by which the Partners jointly commission a service.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, a joint commissioning arrangement does not involve the delegation of any 
functions pursuant to Section 75. 

 Law means: 

(a) any statute or proclamation or any delegated or subordinate legislation; 

(b) any enforceable community right within the meaning of Section 2(1) European Communities 
Act 1972; 

(c) any guidance, direction or determination with which the Partner(s) or relevant third party (as 
applicable) are bound to comply to the extent that the same are published and publicly 
available or the existence or contents of them have been notified to the Partner(s) or relevant 
third party (as applicable); and 

(d) any judgment of a relevant court of law which is a binding precedent in England. 

 Lead Commissioning Arrangements means the arrangements by which one Partner commissions 
Services in relation to an Individual Scheme on behalf of the other Partner in exercise of both the 
NHS Functions and the Council Functions. 

Page 86



 

4 
 

 Lead Commissioner means the Partner responsible for commissioning an Individual Service under 
a Scheme Specification. 

 Losses means all damage, loss, liabilities, claims, actions, costs, expenses (including the cost of 
legal and/or professional services), proceedings, demands and charges whether arising under 
statute, contract or at common law but excluding Indirect Losses and "Loss" shall be interpreted 
accordingly. 

 Month means a calendar month. 

 National Conditions mean the national conditions as set out in the NHS England Planning 
Guidance as are amended or replaced from time to time. 

 NHS Functions means those of the NHS functions listed in Regulation 5 of the Regulations as are 
exercisable by the CCG as are relevant to the commissioning of the Services and which may be 
further described in each Service Schedule  

 Non Pooled Fund means the budget detailing the financial contributions of the Partners which are 
not included in a Pooled Fund in respect of a particular Service as set out in the relevant Scheme 
Specification  

 Overspend means any expenditure from the Pooled Fund in a Financial Year which exceeds the 
Financial Contributions for that Financial Year.  

 Partner means each of the CCG and the Council, and references to "Partners" shall be construed 
accordingly. 

 Programme Board means the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board responsible for 
review of performance and oversight of this Agreement as set out in Schedule 2. 

 Permitted Budget means in relation to a Service where the Council is the Provider, the budget that 
the Partners have set in relation to the particular Service. 

 Permitted Expenditure has the meaning given in Clause [7.3]. 

 Personal Data means Personal Data as defined by the 1998 Act. 

 Pooled Fund means any pooled fund established and maintained by the Partners as a pooled fund 
in accordance with the Regulations 

 Pooled Fund Manager means such officer of the Host Partner which includes a Section 113 Officer 
for the relevant Pooled Fund established under an Individual Scheme as is nominated by the Host 
Partner from time to time to manage the Pooled Fund in accordance with Clause 9. 

 Provider means a provider of any Services commissioned under the arrangements set out in this 
Agreement. 

 Public Health England means the SOSH trading as Public Health England. 

 Quarter means each of the following periods in a Financial Year: 

1 April to 30 June 

1 July to 30 September 

1 October to 31 December 

1 January to 31 March  

Page 87



 

5 
 

and "Quarterly" shall be interpreted accordingly. 

 Regulations means the means the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements 
Regulations 2000 No 617 (as amended).  

 Scheme Description means a specification setting out the arrangements for an Individual Scheme 
agreed by the Partners to be commissioned under this Agreement. 

 Sensitive Personal Data means Sensitive Personal Data as defined in the 1998 Act. 

 Services means such health and social care services as agreed from time to time by the Partners as 
commissioned under the arrangements set out in this Agreement and more specifically defined in 
each Scheme Description. 

 Services Contract means an agreement for the provision of Services entered into with a Provider 
by one or more of the Partners in accordance with the relevant Individual Scheme. 

 Service Users means those individual for whom the Partners have a responsibility to commission 
the Services. 

 SOSH means the Secretary of State for Health.  

 Third Party Costs means all such third party costs (including legal and other professional fees) in 
respect of each Individual Scheme as a Partner reasonably and properly incurs in the proper 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement and as agreed by the Partnership Board. 

 Working Day means 8.00am to 6.00pm on any day except Saturday, Sunday, Christmas Day, Good 
Friday or a day which is a bank holiday (in England) under the Banking & Financial Dealings Act 
1971 and Working Days shall be interpreted accordingly. 

1.2 In this Agreement, all references to any statute or statutory provision shall be deemed to include 
references to any statute or statutory provision which amends, extends, consolidates or replaces the 
same and shall include any orders, regulations, codes of practice, instruments or other subordinate 
legislation made thereunder and any conditions attaching thereto.  Where relevant, references to 
English statutes and statutory provisions shall be construed as references also to equivalent 
statutes, statutory provisions and rules of law in other jurisdictions. 

1.3 Any headings to Clauses, together with the front cover and the index are for convenience only and 
shall not affect the meaning of this Agreement.  Unless the contrary is stated, references to Clauses 
and Schedules shall mean the clauses and schedules of this Agreement. 

1.4 Any reference to the Partners shall include their respective statutory successors, employees and 
agents. 

1.5 In the event of a conflict, the conditions set out in the Clauses to this Agreement shall take priority 
over the Schedules.  

1.6 Where a term of this Agreement provides for a list of items following the word "including" or 
"includes", then such list is not to be interpreted as being an exhaustive list. 

1.7 In this Agreement, words importing any particular gender include all other genders, and the term 
"person" includes any individual, partnership, firm, trust, body corporate, government, governmental 
body, trust, agency, unincorporated body of persons or association and a reference to a person 
includes a reference to that person's successors and permitted assigns. 

1.8 In this Agreement, words importing the singular only shall include the plural and vice versa. 

1.9 In this Agreement, "staff" and "employees" shall have the same meaning and shall include reference 
to any full or part time employee or officer, director, manager and agent. 

Page 88



 

6 
 

1.10 Subject to the contrary being stated expressly or implied from the context in these terms and 
conditions, all communication between the Partners shall be in writing. 

1.11 Unless expressly stated otherwise, all monetary amounts are expressed in pounds sterling but in the 
event that pounds sterling is replaced as legal tender in the United Kingdom by a different currency 
then all monetary amounts shall be converted into such other currency at the rate prevailing on the 
date such other currency first became legal tender in the United Kingdom. 

1.12 All references to the Agreement include (subject to all relevant approvals) a reference to the 
Agreement as amended, supplemented, substituted, novated or assigned from time to time. 

2 TERM 

2.1 This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement Date. 

2.2 This Agreement shall continue until it is terminated in accordance with Clause 20.  

2.3 The duration of the arrangements for each individual scheme shall be as set out in the relevant 
Scheme Specification. 

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 

3.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall affect:  

3.1.1 the liabilities of the Partners to each other or to any third parties for the exercise of their 
respective functions and obligations (including the Functions); or 

3.1.2 any power or duty to recover charges for the provision of any services (including the 
Services) in the exercise of any local authority function. 

3.2 The Partners agree to: 

3.2.1 treat each other with respect and an equality of esteem; 

3.2.2 be open with information about the performance and financial status of each; and 

3.2.3 provide early information and notice about relevant problems. 

3.3 For the avoidance of doubt, the aims and outcomes relating to an Individual Scheme may be set out 
in the relevant Scheme specification. 

4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES 

4.1 This Agreement sets out the mechanism through which the Partners will work together to establish 
one or more of the following:  

4.1.1 East Sussex Better Together (ESBT): The Better Care Fund Pooled Budget operates 
within the governance of the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board. Oversight 
and reporting of the pooled budget will be within the ESBT structure. 

4.1.2 Joint Commissioning Arrangements: The East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board and 
the governing bodies of the two CCGs are ultimately responsible for the delivery and 
management of risk of the ESBT Programme and the Better Care Fund. In practice, the 
development of all joint strategic planning activity and the management of existing 
contracts will be overseen by the ESBT Programme Board Supported by a programme 
management operating structure. 

4.1.3 The ESBT Programme Board will receive monthly highlight reports from the operational 
commissioning groups and all programmes of work will be the subject of escalation 

Page 89



 

7 
 

procedures including those funded through the Better Care Fund, if they are not 
performing as intended. 

4.1.4 The Better Care Fund pooled budget maybe subject to amendment as services, external 
to the original pooled budget, are recommissioned and, potentially brought within the 
Pooled Budget arrangements.   

4.2 The CCG delegates to the Council and the Council agrees to exercise on the CCG's behalf the NHS 
Functions to the extent necessary for the purpose of performing its obligations under this Agreement 
in conjunction with the Health Related Functions.  

4.3 Where the powers of a Partner to delegate any of its statutory powers or functions are restricted, 
such limitations will automatically be deemed to apply to the relevant Scheme Specification and the 
Partners shall agree arrangements designed to achieve the greatest degree of delegation to the 
other Partner necessary for the purposes of this Agreement which is consistent with the statutory 
constraints. 

5 FUNCTIONS  

5.1 The purpose of this Agreement is to establish a framework through which the Partners can secure 
the provision of health and social care services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.   

5.2 This Agreement shall include such functions as shall be agreed from time to time by the Partners.   

5.3 Where the Partners add a new Individual Scheme to this Agreement a Scheme Specification for 
each Individual Scheme shall be in the form set out in Schedule 1 shall be completed and agreed 
between the Partners. The initial scheme specification is set out in schedule 1 part 2. 

5.4 The Partners shall not enter into a Scheme Specification in respect of an Individual Scheme unless 
they are satisfied that the Individual Scheme in question will improve health and well-being in 
accordance with this Agreement. 

5.5 The introduction of any Individual Scheme will be subject to business case approval by and the East 
Sussex Better Together Programme Board. 

6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 

Joint Commissioning Arrangements 

6.1 Both Partners shall be responsible for compliance with and making payments of all sums due to a 
Provider pursuant to the terms of each Service Contract. 

6.2 Both Partners shall work in cooperation and endeavour to ensure that the relevant Services as set 
out in each Scheme Specification are commissioned within each Partners Financial Contribution in 
respect of that particular Service in each Financial Year. 

6.3 The Partners shall comply with the arrangements in respect of the Joint Commissioning as set out in 
the relevant Scheme Specification. 

6.4 Each Partner shall keep the other Partners regularly informed of the effectiveness of the 
arrangements including the Better Care Fund and any Overspend or Underspend in a Pooled Fund 
or Non Pooled Fund. 

6.5 The Partnership Board will report back to the Health and Wellbeing Board as required by its Terms 
of Reference.  

 

 

Page 90



 

8 
 

Appointment of a Lead Commissioner 

6.6 Where there are Lead Commissioning Arrangements in respect of an Service Scheme the Lead 
Commissioner shall: 

6.6.1 exercise the NHS Functions in conjunction with the Health Related Functions as identified 
in the relevant Scheme Specification; 

6.6.2 endeavour to ensure that the NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions are 
funded within the parameters of the Financial Contributions of each Partner in relation to 
each particular Service in each Financial Year. 

6.6.3 commission Services for individuals who meet the eligibility criteria set out in the relevant 
Scheme Specification; 

6.6.4 contract with Provider(s) for the provision of the Services on terms agreed with the other 
Partners; 

6.6.5 comply with all relevant legal duties and guidance of both Partners in relation to the 
Services being commissioned; 

6.6.6 where Services are commissioned using the NHS Standard Form Contract, perform the 
obligations of the “Commissioner” and “Co-ordinating Commissioner” with all due skill, 
care and attention and where Services are commissioned using any other form of 
contract to perform its obligations with all due skill and attention; 

6.6.7 undertake performance management and contract monitoring of all Service Contracts; 

6.6.8 make payment of all sums due to a Provider pursuant to the terms of any Services 
Contract. 

6.6.9 keep the other Partner and the relevant joint commissioning governance boards regularly 
informed of the effectiveness of the arrangements including the Better Care Fund and 
any Overspend or Underspend in a Pooled Fund. 

7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND 

7.1 In exercise of their respective powers under Section 75 of the 2006 Act, the Partners have agreed to 
establish and maintain such Pooled Funds for revenue expenditure as set out in Schedule 3 Scheme 
Investments.  

7.2 The Pooled Fund shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

7.3 It is agreed that the monies held in a Pooled Fund may only be expended on permitted expenditure, 
as agreed annually by the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board; being the following: 

7.3.1 Service contracts  

7.3.2 Transfer of funding to District and Borough Councils, for Disabled Facilities Grants 

7.3.3 Capital Grants 

7.3.4 Specific funding allocations, as determined within Better Care Fund Guidance.  

7.4 The Partners may only depart from the definition of Permitted Expenditure to include or exclude 
other revenue expenditure with the express written agreement of each Partner. 

7.5 For the avoidance of doubt, monies held in the Pooled Fund may not be expended on Default 
Liabilities unless this is agreed by all Partners.  

Page 91



 

9 
 

7.6 Pursuant to this Agreement, the Partners have agreed to appoint the Council as Host Partner for the 
Better Care Fund Pooled Budget as set out in the Scheme Specifications. The Host Partner shall be 
the Partner responsible for: 

7.6.1 holding all monies contributed to the Pooled Fund on behalf of itself and the other 
Partners; 

7.6.2 providing the financial administrative systems for the Pooled Fund; and 

7.6.3 appointing the Pooled Fund Manager; 

7.6.4 ensuring that the Pooled Fund Manager complies with its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT 

8.1 The Pooled Fund Manager for the Better Care Fund Pooled Budget shall have the following duties 
and responsibilities: 

8.1.1 the day to day operation and management of the Pooled Fund;  

8.1.2 ensuring that all expenditure from the Pooled Fund is in accordance with the provisions of 
this Agreement and the relevant Scheme Specification;  

8.1.3 maintaining an overview of all joint financial issues affecting the Partners in relation to the 
Services and the Pooled Fund;  

8.1.4 ensuring that full and proper records for accounting purposes are kept in respect of the 
Pooled Fund;  

8.1.5 reporting to the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board as required by the East 
Sussex Better Together Programme Board and the relevant Scheme Specification; 

8.1.6 ensuring action is taken to manage any projected Underspend or Overspend relating to 
the Pooled Fund in accordance with this Agreement; 

8.1.7 preparing and submitting to the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board quarterly 
reports (or more frequent reports if required by the East Sussex Better Together 
Programme Board) and an annual return about the income and expenditure from the 
Pooled Fund together with such other information as may be required by the Partners 
and the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board to monitor the effectiveness of 
the Pooled Fund and to enable the Partners to complete their own financial accounts and 
returns. The Partners agree to provide all necessary information to the Pooled Fund 
Manager in time for the reporting requirements to be met. 

8.1.8 preparing and submitting reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board as required by it. 

8.2 In carrying out their responsibilities as provided under Clause 8.1 the Pooled Fund Manager shall 
have regard to the recommendations of the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board and 
shall be accountable to the Partners. 

9 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

9.1 The Financial Contribution of the CCG and the Council to the Better Care Pooled Budget for the 
2016/17 Financial Year  is as set out in Schedule 3 - Scheme Descriptions. 

9.2 Future financial contributions will be determined annually by the ESBT Programme Board. 

Page 92



 

10 
 

9.3 Financial Contributions to the Better Care Fund Pooled Budget will be made on 15 April, 15 June, 15 
September and 15 December for each financial year. 

9.4 With the exception of Clause 12, no provision of this Agreement shall preclude the Partners from 
making additional contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments to the Pooled Fund from time to time by 
mutual agreement.  Any such additional contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments shall be explicitly 
recorded in the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board minutes and recorded in the budget 
statement as a separate item. 

10 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

10.1 The Better Care Fund pooled budget will operate under the governance arrangements of East 
Sussex Better Together.  

11 RISK SHARE ARRANGMENTS, OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS 

Risk share arrangements  

11.1 The partners have agreed risk share arrangements as set out in Schedule 1, which provide for 
financial risks arising within the commissioning of services from the Better Care Fund pooled budget 
and the financial risk to the pool arising from the payment for performance element of the Better 
Care Fund.  

Overspends on Better Care Fund pooled budget 

11.2 Subject to Clause [11.1], the Host Partner for the relevant Pooled Fund shall manage expenditure 
from a Pooled Fund within the Financial Contributions and shall ensure that the expenditure is 
limited to Permitted Expenditure. 

11.3 The Host Partner shall not be in breach of its obligations under this Agreement if an Overspend 
occurs PROVIDED THAT the only expenditure from a Pooled Fund has been in accordance with 
Permitted Expenditure and it has informed the Partnership Board in accordance with Clause 11.4. 

11.4 In the event that the Pooled Fund Manager identifies an actual or projected overspend the Pooled 
Fund Manager must ensure that the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board is informed of 
the actual or projected Overspend as soon as reasonably possible. 

Underspend on Better Care Fund pooled budget 

11.5 In the event that expenditure from the Better Care Fund pooled budget in any Financial Year is less 
than the aggregate value of the Financial Contributions made for that Financial Year the Partners 
shall agree how the surplus monies shall be spent, carried forward and/or returned to the Partners. 
Such arrangements shall be subject to the Law and the Standing Orders and Standing Financial 
Instructions (or equivalent) of the Partners and the terms of the Performance Payment Arrangement. 

12 VAT 

12.1 The Partners shall agree the treatment of the Better Care Fund pooled budget for VAT purposes in 
accordance with any relevant guidance from HM Customs and Excise.  

13 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS   

13.1 All Partners shall promote a culture of probity and sound financial discipline and control.  The Host 
Partner shall arrange for the audit of the accounts of the Pooled Budget and the certification of the 
annual return of those accounts. 

13.2 All internal and external auditors and all other persons authorised by the Partners will be given the 
right of access by them to any document, information or explanation they require from any 
employee, member of the Partner in order to carry out their duties. This right is not limited to financial 

Page 93



 

11 
 

information or accounting records and applies equally to premises or equipment used in connection 
with this Agreement.  Access may be at any time without notice, provided there is good cause for 
access without notice. 

14 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY  

14.1 Subject to Clause 14.2, and 14.3, if a Partner (“First Partner”) incurs a loss arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement or the Services Contract as a consequence of any act or omission of 
another Partner (“Other Partner”) which constitutes negligence, fraud or a breach of contract in 
relation to this Agreement or the Services Contract then the Other Partner shall be liable to the First 
Partner for that Loss and shall indemnify the First Partner accordingly.  

14.2 Clause 14.1 shall only apply to the extent that the acts or omissions of the Other Partner contributed 
to the relevant Loss. Furthermore, it shall not apply if such act or omission occurred as a 
consequence of the Other Partner acting in accordance with the instructions or requests of the First 
Partner or the Partnership Board.  

14.3 If any third party makes a claim or intimates an intention to make a claim against either Partner, 
which may reasonably be considered as likely to give rise to liability under this Clause 14. the 
Partner that may claim against the other indemnifying Partner will: 

14.3.1 as soon as reasonably practicable give written notice of that matter to the Other Partner 
specifying in reasonable detail the nature of the relevant claim; 

14.3.2 not make any admission of liability, agreement or compromise in relation to the relevant 
claim without the prior written consent of the Other Partner (such consent not to be 
unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed); 

14.3.3 give the Other Partner and its professional advisers reasonable access to its premises 
and personnel and to any relevant assets, accounts, documents and records within its 
power or control so as to enable the Indemnifying Partner and its professional advisers to 
examine such premises, assets, accounts, documents and records and to take copies at 
their own expense for the purpose of assessing the merits of, and if necessary defending, 
the relevant claim. 

14.4 Each Partner shall ensure that they maintain policies of insurance (or equivalent arrangements 
through schemes operated by the National Health Service Litigation Authority) in respect of all 
potential liabilities arising from this Agreement. 

14.5 Each Partner shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any loss for which 
one party is entitled to bring a claim against the other pursuant to this Agreement. 

15 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE 

15.1 The Partners will at all times comply with Law and ensure good corporate governance in respect of 
each Partner (including the Partners respective Standing Orders and Standing Financial 
Instructions).  

15.2 The Council is subject to the duty of Best Value under the Local Government Act 1999.  This 
Agreement and the operation of the Pooled Budget is therefore subject to the Council’s obligations 
for Best Value and the other Partners will co-operate with all reasonable requests from the Council 
which the Council considers necessary in order to fulfil its Best Value obligations. 

15.3 The CCG is subject to the CCG Statutory Duties and these incorporate a duty of clinical governance, 
which is a framework through which they are accountable for continuously improving the quality of its 
services and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an environment in which excellence in 
clinical care will flourish.  This Agreement and the operation of the Pooled Funds are therefore 
subject to ensuring compliance with the CCG Statutory Duties and clinical governance obligations. 

Page 94



 

12 
 

15.4 The Partners are committed to an approach to equality and equal opportunities as represented in 
their respective policies.  The Partners will maintain and develop these policies as applied to service 
provision, with the aim of developing a joint strategy for all elements of the service. 

16 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

16.1 The Partners shall comply with the agreed policy for identifying and managing conflicts of interest. A 
Register of Interests will be maintained by each organisation and relevant interests notified to the 
East Sussex Better Together Programme Board. 

17 GOVERNANCE 

17.1 Overall strategic oversight of partnership working between the partners is vested in the Health and 
Well Being Board, which for these purposes shall make recommendations to the Partners as to any 
action it considers necessary. 

17.2 The Partners have established the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board to lead the 
development of integrated health and social care service within East Sussex. The Better Care Fund 
pooled budget will operate within the East Sussex Better Together Programme. 

17.3 The terms of reference of the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board shall be as set out in 
Schedule 2 (Governance Arrangements). 

17.4 Each Partner has secured internal reporting arrangements to ensure the standards of accountability 
and probity required by each Partner's own statutory duties and organisation are complied with.   

17.5 The East Sussex Better Together Programme Board shall be responsible for the overall approval of 
commissioned services, ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund Plan and the strategic 
direction of the Better Care Fund.  

18 REVIEW  

18.1 Save where the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board agree alternative arrangements 
(including alternative frequencies) the Partners shall undertake an annual review (“Annual Review”) 
of the operation of this Agreement and the provision of the Services within three (3) months of the 
end of each Financial Year. 

18.2 Subject to any variations to this process required by the East Sussex Better Together Programme 
Board, annual reviews shall be conducted in good faith and, where applicable, in accordance with 
the governance arrangements set out in this agreement. 

18.3 The Partners shall within twenty (20) Working Days of the annual review prepare a joint annual 
report documenting the matters referred to in this Clause 18.  A copy of this report shall be provided 
to the East Sussex Better Together Programme Board. 

18.4 In the event that the Partners fail to meet the requirements of the Better Care Fund Plan and NHS 
England, the Partners shall provide full co-operation with NHS England to agree a recovery plan. 

19 COMPLAINTS 

19.1 The Partners’ own complaints procedures shall apply to this Agreement. The Partners agree to 
assist one another in the management of complaints arising from this Agreement or the provision of 
the Services.  

20 TERMINATION & DEFAULT 

20.1 This Agreement may be terminated by any Partner giving not less than twelve (12) months' notice in 
writing to terminate this Agreement.  

Page 95



 

13 
 

20.2 If any Partner (“Relevant Partner”) fails to meet any of its obligations under this Agreement, the other 
Partners (acting jointly) may by notice require the Relevant Partner to take such reasonable action 
within a reasonable timescale as the other Partners may specify to rectify such failure.  Should the 
Relevant Partner fail to rectify such failure within such reasonable timescale, the matter shall be 
referred for resolution in accordance with Clause 21. 

20.3 Termination of this Agreement (whether by effluxion of time or otherwise) shall be without prejudice 
to the Partners’ rights in respect of any antecedent breach. 

20.4 Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever the following shall apply: 

20.4.1 the Partners agree that they will work together and co-operate to ensure that the winding 
down and disaggregation of the integrated and joint activities to the separate 
responsibilities of the Partners is carried out smoothly and with as little disruption as 
possible to service users, employees, the Partners and third parties, so as to minimise 
costs and liabilities of each Partner in doing so; 

20.4.2 where either Partner has entered into a Service Contract which continues after the 
termination of this Agreement, both Partners shall continue to contribute to the Contract 
Price in accordance with the agreed contribution for that Service prior to termination and 
will enter into all appropriate legal documentation required in respect of this; 

20.4.3 the Lead Commissioner shall make reasonable endeavours to amend or terminate a 
Service Contract (which shall for the avoidance of doubt not include any act or omission 
that would place the Lead Commissioner in breach of the Service Contract) where the 
other Partner requests the same in writing Provided that the Lead Commissioner shall not 
be required to make any payments to the Provider for such amendment or termination 
unless the Partners shall have agreed in advance who shall be responsible for any such 
payment. 

20.4.4 where a Service Contract held by a Lead Commissioner relates all or partially to services 
which relate to the other Partner's Functions then provided that the Service Contract 
allows the other Partner may request that the Lead Commissioner assigns the Service 
Contract in whole or part upon the same terms mutatis mutandis as the original contract. 

20.4.5 The East Sussex Better Together Programme Board shall continue to operate for the 
purposes of functions associated with this Agreement for the remainder of any Service 
Contracts and commitments relating to this Agreement; and 

20.4.6 Termination of this Agreement shall have no effect on the liability of any rights or 
remedies of either Partner already accrued, prior to the date upon which such termination 
takes effect. 

21 DISPUTE RESOLUTION   

21.1 In the event of a dispute between the Partners arising out of this Agreement, either Partner may 
serve written notice of the dispute on the other Partner, setting out full details of the dispute. 

21.2 The Authorised Officer shall meet in good faith as soon as possible and in any event within seven (7) 
days of notice of the dispute being served pursuant to Clause 21.1, at a meeting convened for the 
purpose of resolving the dispute. 

21.3 If the dispute remains after the meeting detailed in Clause 21.2 has taken place, the Partners' 
respective Chief Operating Officer(s) and/or Director(s) or nominees shall meet in good faith as soon 
as possible after the relevant meeting and in any event with fourteen (14) days of the date of the 
meeting, for the purpose of resolving the dispute. 

21.4 If the dispute remains after the meeting detailed in Clause 21.3 has taken place, then the Partners 
will attempt to settle such dispute by mediation in accordance with the CEDR Model Mediation 
Procedure or any other model mediation procedure as agreed by the Partners. To initiate mediation, 

Page 96



 

14 
 

either Partner may give notice in writing (a "Mediation Notice") to the other requesting mediation of 
the dispute and shall send a copy thereof to CEDR or an equivalent mediation organisation as 
agreed by the Partners asking them to nominate a mediator.  The mediation shall commence within 
twenty (20) Working Days of the Mediation Notice being served.  Neither Partner will terminate such 
mediation until each of them has made its opening presentation and the mediator has met each of 
them separately for at least one (1) hour.  Thereafter, paragraph 14 of the Model Mediation 
Procedure will apply (or the equivalent paragraph of any other model mediation procedure agreed by 
the Partners).  The Partners will co-operate with any person appointed as mediator, providing him 
with such information and other assistance as he shall require and will pay his costs as he shall 
determine or in the absence of such determination such costs will be shared equally. 

21.5 Nothing in the procedure set out in this Clause 21 shall in any way affect either Partner's right to 
terminate this Agreement in accordance with any of its terms or take immediate legal action. 

22 FORCE MAJEURE 

22.1 Neither Partner shall be entitled to bring a claim for a breach of obligations under this Agreement by 
the other Partner or incur any liability to the other Partner for any losses or damages incurred by that 
Partner to the extent that a Force Majeure Event occurs and it is prevented from carrying out its 
obligations by that Force Majeure Event. 

22.2 On the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Affected Partner shall notify the other Partner as 
soon as practicable.  Such notification shall include details of the Force Majeure Event, including 
evidence of its effect on the obligations of the Affected Partner and any action proposed to mitigate 
its effect. 

22.3 As soon as practicable, following notification as detailed in Clause 22.2, the Partners shall consult 
with each other in good faith and use best endeavours to agree appropriate terms to mitigate the 
effects of the Force Majeure Event and, subject to Clause 22.4, facilitate the continued performance 
of the Agreement. 

22.4 If the Force Majeure Event continues for a period of more than sixty (60) days, either Partner shall 
have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving fourteen (14) days written notice of termination 
to the other Partner.  For the avoidance of doubt, no compensation shall be payable by either 
Partner as a direct consequence of this Agreement being terminated in accordance with this Clause 
22. 

23 CONFIDENTIALITY 

23.1 In respect of any Confidential Information a Partner receives from another Partner (the "Discloser") 
and subject always to the remainder of this Clause 25, each Partner (the "Recipient”) undertakes to 
keep secret and strictly confidential and shall not disclose any such Confidential Information to any 
third party, without the Discloser’s prior written consent provided that: 

23.1.1 the Recipient shall not be prevented from using any general knowledge, experience or 
skills which were in its possession prior to the Commencement Date; and 

23.1.2 the provisions of this Clause 23 shall not apply to any Confidential Information which: 

(a) is in or enters the public domain other than by breach of the Agreement or other 
act or omission of the Recipient; or 

(b) is obtained by a third party who is lawfully authorised to disclose such information. 

23.2 Nothing in this Clause 23 shall prevent the Recipient from disclosing Confidential Information where 
it is required to do so in fulfilment of statutory obligations or by judicial, administrative, governmental 
or regulatory process in connection with any action, suit, proceedings or claim or otherwise by 
applicable Law. 

23.3 Each Partner:  

Page 97



 

15 
 

23.3.1 may only disclose Confidential Information to its employees and professional advisors to 
the extent strictly necessary for such employees to carry out their duties under the 
Agreement; and 

23.3.2 will ensure that, where Confidential Information is disclosed in accordance with Clause 
23.3.1, the recipient(s) of that information is made subject to a duty of confidentiality 
equivalent to that contained in this Clause 23; 

23.3.3 shall not use Confidential Information other than strictly for the performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement. 

24 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION REGULATIONS 

24.1 The Partners agree that they will each cooperate with each other to enable any Partner receiving a 
request for information under the 2000 Act or the 2004 Regulations to respond to a request promptly 
and within the statutory timescales.  This cooperation shall include but not be limited to finding, 
retrieving and supplying information held, directing requests to other Partners as appropriate and 
responding to any requests by the Partner receiving a request for comments or other assistance. 

24.2 Any and all agreements between the Partners as to confidentiality shall be subject to their duties 
under the 2000 Act and 2004 Regulations.  No Partner shall be in breach of Clause 24 if it makes 
disclosures of information in accordance with the 2000 Act and/or 2004 Regulations. 

25 OMBUDSMEN 

25.1 The Partners will co-operate with any investigation undertaken by the Health Service Commissioner 
for England or the Local Government Ombudsman for England (or both of them) in connection with 
this Agreement. 

26 INFORMATION SHARING 

26.1 The Partners will follow the Information Governance Protocol set out in Schedule 4, and in so doing 
will  ensure that the operation this Agreement complies with Law, in particular the 1998 Act.  

27 NOTICES 

27.1 Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall either be delivered personally or sent by facsimile 
or sent by first class post or electronic mail.  The address for service of each Partner shall be as set 
out in Clause 27.3 or such other address as each Partner may previously have notified to the other 
Partner in writing.  A notice shall be deemed to have been served if: 

27.1.1 personally delivered, at the time of delivery;  

27.1.2 sent by facsimile, at the time of transmission; 

27.1.3 posted, at the expiration of forty eight (48) hours after the envelope containing the same 
was delivered into the custody of the postal authorities; and 

27.1.4 if sent by electronic mail, at the time of transmission and a telephone call must be made 
to the recipient warning the recipient that an electronic mail message has been sent to 
him (as evidenced by a contemporaneous note of the Partner sending the notice) and a 
hard copy of such notice is also sent by first class recorded delivery post (airmail if 
overseas) on the same day as that on which the electronic mail is sent. 

27.2 In proving such service, it shall be sufficient to prove that personal delivery was made, or that the 
envelope containing such notice was properly addressed and delivered into the custody of the postal 
authority as prepaid first class or airmail letter (as appropriate), or that the facsimile was transmitted 
on a tested line or that the correct transmission report was received from the facsimile machine 

Page 98



 

16 
 

sending the notice, or that the electronic mail was properly addressed and no message was received 
informing the sender that it had not been received by the recipient (as the case may be). 

27.3 The address for service of notices as referred to in Clause 27.1 shall be as follows unless otherwise 
notified to the other Partner in writing: 

27.3.1 if to the Council, addressed to the Director of Adult Social Care and Health for 

East Sussex County Council, County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent, Lewes, East Sussex, BN7 
1UE      

 

27.3.2 if to the CCG, addressed to Chief Officer for: 

(a) NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford Clinical Commissioning Group 

 36-38 Friars Walk, Lewes, east Sussex, BN7 2PB 

(b) NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Bexhill Hospital, Holliers Hill, Bexhill on Sea, TN40 2DZ    
     

28 VARIATION  

28.1 No variations to this Agreement will be valid unless they are recorded in writing and signed for and 
on behalf of each of the Partners. 

29 CHANGE IN LAW 

29.1 The Partners shall ascertain, observe, perform and comply with all relevant Laws, and shall do and 
execute or cause to be done and executed all acts required to be done under or by virtue of any 
Laws.  

29.2 On the occurrence of any Change in Law, the Partners shall agree in good faith any amendment 
required to this Agreement as a result of the Change in Law subject to the Partners using all 
reasonable endeavours to mitigate the adverse effects of such Change in Law and taking all 
reasonable steps to minimise any increase in costs arising from such Change in Law. 

29.3 In the event of failure by the Partners to agree the relevant amendments to this Agreement (as 
appropriate), Clause 21 (Dispute Resolution) shall apply. 

30 WAIVER 

30.1 No failure or delay by any Partner to exercise any right, power or remedy will operate as a waiver of 
it nor will any partial exercise preclude any further exercise of the same or of some other right to 
remedy. 

31 SEVERANCE 

31.1 If any provision of this Agreement, not being of a fundamental nature, shall be held to be illegal or 
unenforceable, the enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement shall not thereby be affected. 

32 ASSIGNMENT  AND SUB CONTRACTING 

32.1 The Partners shall not sub contract, assign or transfer the whole or any part of this Agreement, 
without the prior written consent of the other Partners, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed. This shall not apply to any assignment to a statutory successor of all or part of a Partner’s 
statutory functions. 

Page 99



 

17 
 

33 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY 

33.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create a partnership under the Partnership 
Act 1890 or the Limited Partnership Act 1907, a joint venture or the relationship of employer and 
employee between the Partners or render either Partner directly liable to any third party for the 
debts, liabilities or obligations of the other.   

33.2 Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement or where the context or any statutory 
provision otherwise necessarily requires, neither Partner will have authority to, or hold itself out as 
having authority to: 

33.2.1 act as an agent of the other; 

33.2.2 make any representations or give any warranties to third parties on behalf of or in respect 
of the other; or 

33.2.3 bind the other in any way. 

34 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

34.1 Unless the right of enforcement is expressly provided, no third party shall have the right to pursue 
any right under this agreement pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or 
otherwise. 

35 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

35.1 The terms herein contained together with the contents of the Schedules constitute the complete 
agreement between the Partners with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all 
previous communications representations understandings and agreement and any representation 
promise or condition not incorporated herein shall not be binding on any Partner. 

35.2 No agreement or understanding varying or extending or pursuant to any of the terms or provisions 
hereof shall be binding upon any Partner unless in writing and signed by a duly authorised officer or 
representative of the Partners. 

36 COUNTERPARTS 

36.1 This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts.  Any single counterpart or a set of 
counterparts executed, in either case, by all Partners shall constitute a full original of this Agreement 
for all purposes.  

37 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

37.1 This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or 
formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of England and Wales. 

37.2 Subject to Clause 21 (Dispute Resolution), the Partners irrevocably agree that the courts of England 
and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and settle any action, suit, proceedings, dispute 
or claim, which may arises out of, or in connection with, this Agreement, its subject matter or 
formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims). 

  

Page 100



 

18 
 

SCHEDULE 1 
 
RISK SHARE PRINCIPLES IN RESPECT OF THE EAST SUSSEX BETTER CARE FUND 
 
Background 
 
This agreement describes the key principles underpinning the risk share arrangements between 
Commissioners in East Sussex in respect of the Better Care Fund (BCF). These commissioners comprise 
High Weald Lewes Havens (HWLH) CCG Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford (EHS) CCG, Hastings and 
Rother (HR) CCG and East Sussex County Council (ESCC). These principles should be applied consistently 
to each East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board Framework Section 75 agreement relating to the Better 
Care Fund and the Commissioning of Health and Social Care Services within East Sussex. 
 
The governance of the risk share principles on behalf of HWLH and ESCC will be the Connecting 4 You 
Programme Board who will review this schedule annually. 
 
For 2016/17 the contributions to the East Sussex BCF totals £43.499m. The following table details these 
contributions by organisation: 
 

 Total East 
Sussex HWB 

£m 

Total HR 
/EHS/ ESCC 

s75 £m 

Total HWLH / 
ESCC s75 

£m 

HWLH CCG 10.583 0 10.583 

EHS CCG 12.955 12.955 0 

HR CCG 13.263 13.263 0 

ESCC 6.698 5.016 1.682 

Total 43.499 31.234 12.265 

 
The BCF is intended to provide a framework for investment in schemes that promote better integration 
between social and health care services, to improve people’s health and social care experience while also 
delivering the benefits identified in the Connecting 4 You and ESBT programmes.  
 
Individual organisations are jointly responsible for risk managing the BCF s75 pooled budget arrangements 
and shall reflect and report identified organisational risk in their own corporate risk registers.  
 
Where there is any inconsistency between the risk share principles set out in this schedule and a s75 
agreement, the relevant Programme   Board will determine the appropriate action. 
 
Principle 1 
The risk share fund and contingency arrangement are intended to address financial risks associated with the 
delivery  of the 2016/17 BCF plan and ensures BCF investment does not cause a CCG partner to over 
extend in financial terms and put the achievement of its financial balance at risk.  
 
Principle 2 
That a risk share fund is established for each CCG which as a minimum is equal to the difference between 
the value of planned BCF healthcare activity reductions and the reductions realised within 2016/17 
healthcare contracts. The full value of the risk share fund is retained by each CCG from their BCF allocation 
which is paid into the pooled budget at the beginning of the year. 
 
Principle 3 
A contingency fund is established at the beginning of each year within the Pooled Fund equal to the 
difference between total BCF investment (excluding Risk Share Funds) and forecast expenditure in total of 
the individual approved BCF schemes.  
 
Principle 4 
New business cases for BCF will be approved by the relevant Programme Board or delegated sub- 
committee. Investment shall include a clear appraisal of financial risks associated with delivery and provide 
clarity on whether financial risk crystalizing is an appropriate call on risk share fund or contingency 
arrangements. The relevant Programme Board shall agree all investment decisions and risk handling 
mechanisms. 

Page 101



 

19 
 

 
Principle 5 
The lead commissioner as identified within the s75 agreements   will be responsible for reporting to the 
Programme   Boards the achievement of the BCF plans and for ensuring commissioning contracts reflect 
BCF savings and investment plans. 
 
Principle 6 
Each organisation will annually and following a properly conducted risk assessment of each BCF saving and 
investment scheme provide the relevant Programme   Board with a detailed plan of how the total quantum of 
risk is mitigated. The assessment shall include the likelihood and impact of each scheme delivering the 
expected outcomes at an organisational level in terms of activity reduction, cost reduction and operational 
and quality indicators.  
 
Principle 7 
The East Sussex Finance Sub Group will be responsible for co-ordinating the performance management of 
BCF schemes and will report to the relevant Programme Board quarterly. The East Sussex Finance Sub 
Group will make recommendations to the relevant Programme Board regarding mitigating actions, the 
application of risk share funds, contingency and underspends on schemes and the source of any additional 
pool funding required. 
  

Page 102



 

20 
 

SCHEDULE 2 
 
Governance Arrangements 
 
Terms of reference  
 
East Sussex Better Together Programme Board 
 
TO BE UPDATED AND ADDED 
       
East Sussex Finance Sub Group 
 
TOR to be added 
 

 
SCHEDULE 3: SCHEME INVESTMENTS 

Ref 
no. 

Scheme 2015/16 

 

£000 

 

1 Protecting Adult Social Care: a range of social care 

services that support health care, with a focus on 

discharge support. 

6,908 

2 Re-ablement: Community bed based intermediate care 

Re-ablement: JCR services to be reviewed and further 

developed to support discharge, admissions avoidance 

and enhanced rapid response 

1,450 
 

492 

3 IT systems: shared access to client records and 

enhancing risk stratification methodology  

73 

4 Carers: investment to support implementing the 

agreed joint multiagency approach to help people 

continue in their caring roles. 

3,369 

5 Care Act Implementation: amount of BCF identified by 

government as contributing to implementation of Care 

Bill, including additional assessments, safeguarding and 

Care Accounts for the care cost cap system. 

1,059 

6 Disabled Facilities Grant: existing grant for residents 

not in social housing, enabling disabled people to 

remain at home. 

4,221 

7 NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services 8,329 

8 East Sussex Mobile App 6 

9 Community Therapy and Falls 1,053 

10 Health and Social Care Connect   589 

11 Telecare  215 

Page 103



 

21 
 

12 TECS  145 

13 Expert Benefits Advice Service 150 

14 Commissioning Support for Services 358 

15 ESBT Programme 423 

   

16 Contingency 2,394 

   

 Total 31,234 

 
 
SCHEDULE 4: INFORMATION GOVERNANCE 
 
TO BE ADDED 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed by the Partners on the date of this Agreement 
 
 
 
THE COMMON  SEAL of EAST SUSSEX  )  
COUNTY COUNCIL [                      ] )  
was hereunto affixed in the presence of: )  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………… 
Authorised Signatory 
 
 
Signed for on behalf of NHS 
EASTBOURNE, HAILSHAM AND 
SEAFORD CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
 
Authorised Signatory 

 
 
 
 

 
 

   
   
 
Signed for on behalf of NHS HASTINGS 
AND ROTHER CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
 
Authorised Signatory 

Page 104



  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 
NHS HIGH WEALD LEWES HAVENS CLINICAL 

COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FRAMEWORK SECTION 75 PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

RELATING THE BETTER CARE FUND AND THE 
COMMISSIONING OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 

SERVICES  
 

 
  

Page 105

Appendix 4



i 
 

Contents 

Item Page 

 

PARTIES 1 

BACKGROUND 1 

1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION 1 

2 TERM 6 

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 6 

4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES 6 

5 FUNCTIONS 7 

6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 7 

7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND 8 

8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT 9 

10 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 9 

11 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 9 

12 RISK SHARE ARRANGMENTS, OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS 10 

14 VAT 10 

15 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS 10 

16 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 10 

17 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE 11 

18 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 11 

19 GOVERNANCE 11 

20 REVIEW  12 

21 COMPLAINTS 12 

22 TERMINATION & DEFAULT 12 

23 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 13 

24 FORCE MAJEURE 14 

25 CONFIDENTIALITY 14 

26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION REGULATIONS 15 

27 OMBUDSMEN 15 

28 INFORMATION SHARING 15 

29 NOTICES 15 

30 VARIATION  16 

31 CHANGE IN LAW 16 

32 WAIVER 16 

33 SEVERANCE 16 

34 ASSIGNMENT  AND SUB CONTRACTING 16 

35 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY 16 

36 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 17 

37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 17 

38 COUNTERPARTS 17 

Page 106



ii 
 

39 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 17 

 
  
 

Page 107



  
 
 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made on   day of       2016 
 
PARTIES 

(1) EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL (the "Council") 

(2) NHS HIGH WEALD LEWES HAVENS CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP (the “CCG”) 

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Council has responsibility for commissioning and/or providing social care services on behalf of 
the population of the county of East Sussex. 

(B) The CCG has the responsibility for commissioning health services pursuant to the 2006 Act in the 
county of East Sussex within the geographical area covered by the CCG. 

(C) The Better Care Fund has been established by the Government to provide funds to local areas to 
support the integration of health and social care and to seek to achieve the National Conditions and 
Local Objectives.  It is a requirement of the Better Care Fund that the CCG and the Council establish 
a pooled fund for this purpose. 

(D) Section 75 of the 2006 Act gives powers to local authorities and clinical commissioning groups to 
establish and maintain pooled funds out of which payment may be made towards expenditure 
incurred in the exercise of prescribed local authority functions and prescribed NHS functions.  

(E) The purpose of this Agreement is to set out the terms on which the Partners have agreed to 
collaborate and to establish a framework through which the Partners can secure the future position 
of health and social care services through lead or joint commissioning arrangements.   

(F) The aims and benefits of the Partners in entering in to this Agreement are to: 

a) improve the quality and efficiency of the Services; 

b) meet the National Conditions and Local Objectives;[and]  

c) make more effective use of resources through the establishment and maintenance of a pooled  
fund for revenue expenditure on the Services 

(G) The Partners have jointly carried out consultations on the proposals for this Agreement with all those 
persons likely to be affected by the arrangements.   

(H) The Partners are entering into this Agreement in exercise of the powers referred to in Section 75 of 
the 2006 Act and/or Section 13Z(2) and 14Z(3) of the 2006 Act as applicable, to the extent that 
exercise of these powers is required for this Agreement. 

 

1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement, save where the context requires otherwise, the following words, terms and 
expressions shall have the following meanings: 

 1998 Act means the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 2000 Act means the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 2004 Regulations means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004. 

Page 108



2 
 

 2006 Act means the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 Affected Partner means, in the context of Clause 22, the Partner whose obligations under the 
Agreement have been affected by the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event 

 Agreement means this agreement including its Schedules and Appendices. 

 Approved Expenditure means any additional expenditure approved by the Partners in relation to an 
Individual Service above any Contract Price and Performance Payments. 

 Authorised Officers means an officer of each Partner appointed to be that Partner's representative 
for the purpose of this Agreement. 

 Better Care Fund means the Better Care Fund as described in NHS England Publications Gateway 
Ref. No.00314 and NHS England Publications Gateway Ref. No.00535 as relevant to the Partners. 

 Better Care Fund Plan means the plan attached at Schedule 3 setting out the Partners plan for the 
use of the Better Care Fund. 

 CCG Statutory Duties means the Duties of the CCG pursuant to Sections 14P to 14Z2  of the 2006 
Act  

 Change in Law means the coming into effect or repeal (without re-enactment or consolidation) in 
England of any Law, or any amendment or variation to any Law, or any judgment of a relevant court 
of law which changes binding precedent in England after the date of this Agreement 

 Commencement Date means 00:01 hrs on 1 April 2016. 

 Confidential Information means information, data and/or material of any nature which any Partner 
may receive or obtain in connection with the operation of this Agreement and the Services and: 

(a) which comprises Personal Data or Sensitive Personal Data or which relates to any patient or 
his treatment or medical history; 

(b) the release of which is likely to prejudice the commercial interests of a Partner or the 
interests of a Service User respectively; or 

(c) which is a trade secret. 

 Connecting 4 You Programme Board means the partnership board responsible for review of 
performance and oversight of this Agreement as set out in Schedule 2. 

 Contract Price means any sum payable to a Provider under a Service Contract as consideration for 
the provision of Services and which, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include any Default Liability 
or Performance Payment. 

 Default Liability means any sum which is agreed or determined by Law or in accordance with the 
terms of a Services Contract to be payable by any Partner(s) to the Provider as a consequence of (i) 
breach by any or all of the Partners of an obligation(s) in whole or in part under the relevant Services 
Contract or (ii) any act or omission of a third party for which any or all of the Partners are, under the 
terms of the relevant Services Contract, liable to the Provider. 

 Financial Contributions means the financial contributions made by each Partner to a Pooled Fund 
in any Financial Year. 

 Financial Year means each financial year running from 1 April in any year to 31 March in the 
following calendar year.  

Force Majeure Event means one or more of the following: 

Page 109



3 
 

(a) war, civil war (whether declared or undeclared), riot or armed conflict; 

(b) acts of terrorism; 

(c) acts of God; 

(d) fire or flood; 

(e) industrial action; 

(f) prevention from or hindrance in obtaining raw materials, energy or other supplies; 

(g) any form of contamination or virus outbreak; and 
(h) any other event, 
in each case where such event is beyond the reasonable control of the Partner claiming relief  

  
 Functions means the NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions 
  
 Health Related Functions means those of the health related functions of the Council, specified in 

Regulation 6 of the Regulations as relevant to the commissioning of the Services and which may be 
further described in the relevant Scheme Investments (Schedule 3).  

 Host Partner means the Partner that will host the Pooled Fund. 

 Health and Wellbeing Board means the Health and Wellbeing Board established by the Council 
pursuant to Section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 Indirect Losses means loss of profits, loss of use, loss of production, increased operating costs, 
loss of business, loss of business opportunity, loss of reputation or goodwill or any other 
consequential or indirect loss of any nature, whether arising in tort or on any other basis. 

 Individual Scheme means one of the schemes which is agreed by the Partners to be included 
within this Agreement using the powers under Section 75 as documented in a Scheme Description. 

 Joint Commissioning means a mechanism by which the Partners jointly commission a service.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, a joint commissioning arrangement does not involve the delegation of any 
functions pursuant to Section 75. 

 Law means: 

(a) any statute or proclamation or any delegated or subordinate legislation; 

(b) any enforceable community right within the meaning of Section 2(1) European Communities 
Act 1972; 

(c) any guidance, direction or determination with which the Partner(s) or relevant third party (as 
applicable) are bound to comply to the extent that the same are published and publicly 
available or the existence or contents of them have been notified to the Partner(s) or relevant 
third party (as applicable); and 

(d) any judgment of a relevant court of law which is a binding precedent in England. 

 Lead Commissioning Arrangements means the arrangements by which one Partner commissions 
Services in relation to an Individual Scheme on behalf of the other Partner in exercise of both the 
NHS Functions and the Council Functions. 

 Lead Commissioner means the Partner responsible for commissioning an Individual Service under 
a Scheme Specification. 

 Losses means all damage, loss, liabilities, claims, actions, costs, expenses (including the cost of 
legal and/or professional services), proceedings, demands and charges whether arising under 
statute, contract or at common law but excluding Indirect Losses and "Loss" shall be interpreted 
accordingly. 

Page 110



4 
 

 Month means a calendar month. 

 National Conditions mean the national conditions as set out in the NHS England Planning 
Guidance as are amended or replaced from time to time. 

 NHS Functions means those of the NHS functions listed in Regulation 5 of the Regulations as are 
exercisable by the CCG as are relevant to the commissioning of the Services and which may be 
further described in each Service Schedule  

 Non Pooled Fund means the budget detailing the financial contributions of the Partners which are 
not included in a Pooled Fund in respect of a particular Service as set out in the relevant Scheme 
Specification  

 Overspend means any expenditure from the Pooled Fund in a Financial Year which exceeds the 
Financial Contributions for that Financial Year.  

 Partner means each of the CCG and the Council, and references to "Partners" shall be construed 
accordingly. 

 Permitted Budget means in relation to a Service where the Council is the Provider, the budget that 
the Partners have set in relation to the particular Service. 

 Permitted Expenditure has the meaning given in Clause [7.3]. 

 Personal Data means Personal Data as defined by the 1998 Act. 

 Pooled Fund means any pooled fund established and maintained by the Partners as a pooled fund 
in accordance with the Regulations 

 Pooled Fund Manager means such officer of the Host Partner which includes a Section 113 Officer 
for the relevant Pooled Fund established under an Individual Scheme as is nominated by the Host 
Partner from time to time to manage the Pooled Fund in accordance with Clause 9. 

 Provider means a provider of any Services commissioned under the arrangements set out in this 
Agreement. 

 Public Health England means the SOSH trading as Public Health England. 

 Quarter means each of the following periods in a Financial Year: 

1 April to 30 June 

1 July to 30 September 

1 October to 31 December 

1 January to 31 March  

and "Quarterly" shall be interpreted accordingly. 

 Regulations means the means the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements 
Regulations 2000 No 617 (as amended).  

 Scheme Description means a specification setting out the arrangements for an Individual Scheme 
agreed by the Partners to be commissioned under this Agreement. 

 Sensitive Personal Data means Sensitive Personal Data as defined in the 1998 Act. 

Page 111



5 
 

 Services means such health and social care services as agreed from time to time by the Partners as 
commissioned under the arrangements set out in this Agreement and more specifically defined in 
each Scheme Description. 

 Services Contract means an agreement for the provision of Services entered into with a Provider 
by one or more of the Partners in accordance with the relevant Individual Scheme. 

 Service Users means those individual for whom the Partners have a responsibility to commission 
the Services. 

 SOSH means the Secretary of State for Health.  

 Third Party Costs means all such third party costs (including legal and other professional fees) in 
respect of each Individual Scheme as a Partner reasonably and properly incurs in the proper 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement and as agreed by the Partnership Board. 

 Working Day means 8.00am to 6.00pm on any day except Saturday, Sunday, Christmas Day, Good 
Friday or a day which is a bank holiday (in England) under the Banking & Financial Dealings Act 
1971 and Working Days shall be interpreted accordingly. 

1.2 In this Agreement, all references to any statute or statutory provision shall be deemed to include 
references to any statute or statutory provision which amends, extends, consolidates or replaces the 
same and shall include any orders, regulations, codes of practice, instruments or other subordinate 
legislation made thereunder and any conditions attaching thereto.  Where relevant, references to 
English statutes and statutory provisions shall be construed as references also to equivalent 
statutes, statutory provisions and rules of law in other jurisdictions. 

1.3 Any headings to Clauses, together with the front cover and the index are for convenience only and 
shall not affect the meaning of this Agreement.  Unless the contrary is stated, references to Clauses 
and Schedules shall mean the clauses and schedules of this Agreement. 

1.4 Any reference to the Partners shall include their respective statutory successors, employees and 
agents. 

1.5 In the event of a conflict, the conditions set out in the Clauses to this Agreement shall take priority 
over the Schedules.  

1.6 Where a term of this Agreement provides for a list of items following the word "including" or 
"includes", then such list is not to be interpreted as being an exhaustive list. 

1.7 In this Agreement, words importing any particular gender include all other genders, and the term 
"person" includes any individual, partnership, firm, trust, body corporate, government, governmental 
body, trust, agency, unincorporated body of persons or association and a reference to a person 
includes a reference to that person's successors and permitted assigns. 

1.8 In this Agreement, words importing the singular only shall include the plural and vice versa. 

1.9 In this Agreement, "staff" and "employees" shall have the same meaning and shall include reference 
to any full or part time employee or officer, director, manager and agent. 

1.10 Subject to the contrary being stated expressly or implied from the context in these terms and 
conditions, all communication between the Partners shall be in writing. 

1.11 Unless expressly stated otherwise, all monetary amounts are expressed in pounds sterling but in the 
event that pounds sterling is replaced as legal tender in the United Kingdom by a different currency 
then all monetary amounts shall be converted into such other currency at the rate prevailing on the 
date such other currency first became legal tender in the United Kingdom. 

Page 112



6 
 

1.12 All references to the Agreement include (subject to all relevant approvals) a reference to the 
Agreement as amended, supplemented, substituted, novated or assigned from time to time. 

2 TERM 

2.1 This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement Date. 

2.2 This Agreement shall continue until it is terminated in accordance with Clause 20.  

2.3 The duration of the arrangements for each individual scheme shall be as set out in the relevant 
Scheme Specification. 

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 

3.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall affect:  

3.1.1 the liabilities of the Partners to each other or to any third parties for the exercise of their 
respective functions and obligations (including the Functions); or 

3.1.2 any power or duty to recover charges for the provision of any services (including the 
Services) in the exercise of any local authority function. 

3.2 The Partners agree to: 

3.2.1 treat each other with respect and an equality of esteem; 

3.2.2 be open with information about the performance and financial status of each; and 

3.2.3 provide early information and notice about relevant problems. 

3.3 For the avoidance of doubt, the aims and outcomes relating to an Individual Scheme may be set out 
in the relevant Scheme specification. 

4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES 

4.1 This Agreement sets out the mechanism through which the Partners will work together to establish 
one or more of the following:  

Connecting 4 You: The Better Care Fund pooled budget within the remit of this Agreement operates 
within the governance of the Connecting 4 You Programme Board. Oversight and reporting of the 
pooled budget will be within the Connecting 4 You structure. 

4.1.1 Joint Commissioning Arrangements: The East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board and 
the Governing Body of the CCG are ultimately responsible for the delivery and 
management of risk, including the Better Care Fund. In practice, the development of all 
joint strategic planning activity and the management of existing contracts will be overseen 
by the Connecting 4 You Programme Board. The Connecting 4 You Programme Board 
will receive highlight reports from all programmes of work which will be the subject of 
escalation procedures including those funded through the Better Care Fund, if they are 
not performing as intended. 

4.1.2 The Better Care Fund pooled budget maybe subject to amendment as services, external 
to the original pooled budget, are recommissioned and, potentially brought within the 
Pooled Budget arrangements.   

4.2 The CCG delegates to the Council and the Council agrees to exercise on the CCG's behalf the NHS 
Functions to the extent necessary for the purpose of performing its obligations under this Agreement 
in conjunction with the Health Related Functions.  

Page 113



7 
 

4.3 Where the powers of a Partner to delegate any of its statutory powers or functions are restricted, 
such limitations will automatically be deemed to apply to the relevant Scheme Specification and the 
Partners shall agree arrangements designed to achieve the greatest degree of delegation to the 
other Partner necessary for the purposes of this Agreement which is consistent with the statutory 
constraints. 

5 FUNCTIONS  

5.1 The purpose of this Agreement is to establish a framework through which the Partners can secure 
the provision of health and social care services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.   

5.2 This Agreement shall include such functions as shall be agreed from time to time by the Partners.   

5.3 The Partners shall not enter into a Scheme Specification in respect of an Individual Scheme unless 
they are satisfied that the Individual Scheme in question will improve health and well-being in 
accordance with this Agreement. 

5.4 The introduction of any Individual Scheme will be subject to business case approval by the 
Connecting 4 You Programme Board. 

6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 

Joint Commissioning Arrangements 

6.1 Both Partners shall be responsible for compliance with and making payments of all sums due to a 
Provider pursuant to the terms of each Service Contract. 

6.2 Both Partners shall work in cooperation and endeavour to ensure that the relevant Services as set 
out in each Scheme Specification are commissioned within each Partners Financial Contribution in 
respect of that particular Service in each Financial Year. 

6.3 The Partners shall comply with the arrangements in respect of the Joint Commissioning as set out in 
the relevant Scheme Specification. 

6.4 Each Partner shall keep the other Partners regularly informed of the effectiveness of the 
arrangements including the Better Care Fund and any Overspend or Underspend in a Pooled Fund 
or Non Pooled Fund. 

6.5 The Connecting 4 You Programme Board will report back to the Health and Wellbeing Board as 
required by its Terms of Reference.  

Appointment of a Lead Commissioner  

6.6 The Connecting 4 You Programme Board will approve the appointment of a Lead Commissioner. 
Where there are Lead Commissioning Arrangements in respect of an Service Scheme the Lead 
Commissioner shall: 

6.6.1 exercise the NHS Functions in conjunction with the Health Related Functions as identified 
in the relevant Scheme Specification; 

6.6.2 endeavour to ensure that the NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions are 
funded within the parameters of the Financial Contributions of each Partner in relation to 
each particular Service in each Financial Year. 

6.6.3 commission Services for individuals who meet the eligibility criteria set out in the relevant 
Scheme Specification; 

6.6.4 contract with Provider(s) for the provision of the Services on terms agreed with the other 
Partners; 

Page 114



8 
 

6.6.5 comply with all relevant legal duties and guidance of both Partners in relation to the 
Services being commissioned; 

6.6.6 where Services are commissioned using the NHS Standard Form Contract, perform the 
obligations of the “Commissioner” and “Co-ordinating Commissioner” with all due skill, 
care and attention and where Services are commissioned using any other form of 
contract to perform its obligations with all due skill and attention; 

6.6.7 undertake performance management and contract monitoring of all Service Contracts; 

6.6.8 make payment of all sums due to a Provider pursuant to the terms of any Services 
Contract. 

6.6.9 keep the other Partner and the relevant joint commissioning governance boards regularly 
informed of the effectiveness of the arrangements including the Better Care Fund and 
any Overspend or Underspend in a Pooled Fund. 

7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND 

7.1 In exercise of their respective powers under Section 75 of the 2006 Act, the Partners have agreed to 
establish and maintain such Pooled Funds for revenue expenditure as set out in the Scheme 
Investments, per Schedule 3.  

7.2 The Pooled Fund shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

7.3 It is agreed that the monies held in a Pooled Fund may only be expended on permitted expenditure, 
as agreed annually by the Connecting 4 You Programme  Board; being the following: 

7.3.1 Service contracts  

7.3.2 Transfer of funding to District and Borough Councils, for Disabled Facilities Grants 

7.3.3 Capital Grants 

7.3.4 Specific funding allocations, as determined within Better Care Fund Guidance.  

7.4 The Partners may only depart from the definition of Permitted Expenditure to include or exclude 
other revenue expenditure with the express written agreement of the other Partner. 

7.5 For the avoidance of doubt, monies held in the Pooled Fund may not be expended on Default 
Liabilities unless this is agreed by both Partners.  

7.6 Pursuant to this Agreement, the Partners have agreed to appoint the Council as Host Partner for the 
Better Care Fund Pooled Budget as set out in the Scheme Specifications. The Host Partner shall be 
the Partner responsible for: 

7.6.1 holding all monies contributed to the Pooled Fund on behalf of itself and the other 
Partners; 

7.6.2 providing the financial administrative systems for the Pooled Fund; and 

7.6.3 appointing the Pooled Fund Manager; 

7.6.4 ensuring that the Pooled Fund Manager complies with its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

 

 

Page 115



9 
 

8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT 

8.1 The Pooled Fund Manager for the Better Care Fund Pooled Budget shall have the following duties 
and responsibilities: 

8.1.1 the day to day operation and management of the Pooled Fund;  

8.1.2 ensuring that all expenditure from the Pooled Fund is in accordance with the provisions of 
this Agreement and the relevant Scheme Specification;  

8.1.3 maintaining an overview of all joint financial issues affecting the Partners in relation to the 
Services and the Pooled Fund;  

8.1.4 ensuring that full and proper records for accounting purposes are kept in respect of the 
Pooled Fund;  

8.1.5 reporting to the Connecting 4 You Programme Board ; 

8.1.6 ensuring action is taken to manage any projected under or overspends relating to the 
Pooled Fund in accordance with this Agreement; 

8.1.7 preparing and submitting to the Connecting 4 You Programme Board quarterly reports (or 
more frequent reports if required) and an annual return about the income and expenditure 
from the Pooled Fund together with such other information as may be required by the 
Partners and the Connecting 4 You Programme t Board to monitor the effectiveness of 
the Pooled Fund and to enable the Partners to complete their own financial accounts and 
returns. The Partners agree to provide all necessary information to the Pooled Fund 
Manager in time for the reporting requirements to be met. 

8.1.8 preparing and submitting reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board as required by it. 

8.2 In carrying out their responsibilities as provided under Clause 8.1 the Pooled Fund Manager shall 
have regard to the recommendations of the Connecting 4 You Programme Board and shall be 
accountable to the Partners. 

9 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

9.1 The Financial Contribution of the CCG and the Council to the Better Care Pooled Budget for the 
2016/17 Financial Year is as set out in Schedule 3 - Scheme Investments. 

9.2 Future financial contributions will be determined annually by the Connecting 4 You Programme 
Board and the Council. 

9.3 Financial Contributions to the Better Care Fund Pooled Budget will be made on 15 April, 15 June, 15 
September and 15 December each financial year. 

9.4 With the exception of Clause 12, no provision of this Agreement shall preclude the Partners from 
making additional contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments to the Pooled Fund from time to time by 
mutual agreement.  Any such additional contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments shall be explicitly 
recorded in the Connecting 4 You Programme Board minutes and recorded in the budget statement 
as a separate item. 

10 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

10.1 The Better Care Fund Pooled Budget will operate under the governance arrangements of 
Connecting 4 You.  

 

Page 116



10 
 

11 RISK SHARE ARRANGMENTS, OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS 

Risk share arrangements  

11.1 The partners have agreed risk share principles as set out in schedule 1, which provide for financial 
 risks arising within the commissioning of services from the Better Care Fund pooled budget.  

Overspends on Better Care Fund pooled budget 

11.2 Subject to Clause 11.1, the Host Partner for the relevant Pooled Fund shall manage expenditure 
from a Pooled Fund within the Financial Contributions and shall ensure that the expenditure is 
limited to Permitted Expenditure. 

11.3 The Host Partner shall not be in breach of its obligations under this Agreement if an Overspend 
occurs PROVIDED THAT the only expenditure from a Pooled Fund has been in accordance with 
Permitted Expenditure and it has informed the Connecting 4 You Programme Board in accordance 
with Clause 11.4. 

11.4 In the event that the Pooled Fund Manager identifies an actual or projected Overspend the Pooled 
Fund Manager must ensure that the Connecting 4 You Programme Board is informed of the actual 
or projected Overspend as soon as reasonably possible. 

Underspend on Better Care Fund pooled budget 

11.5 In the event that expenditure from the Better Care Fund pooled budget in any Financial Year is less 
than the aggregate value of the Financial Contributions made for that Financial Year the Partners 
shall agree how the surplus monies shall be spent, carried forward and/or returned to the Partners. 
Such arrangements shall be subject to the Law and the Standing Orders and Standing Financial 
Instructions (or equivalent) of the Partners.  

12 VAT 

12.1 The Partners shall agree the treatment of the Better Care Fund pooled budget for VAT purposes in 
accordance with any relevant guidance from HM Customs and Excise.  

13 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS   

13.1 All Partners shall promote a culture of probity and sound financial discipline and control.  The Host 
Partner shall arrange for the audit of the accounts of the Pooled Budget and the certification of the 
annual return of those accounts. 

13.2 All internal and external auditors and all other persons authorised by the Partners will be given the 
right of access by them to any document, information or explanation they require from any 
employee, member of the Partner in order to carry out their duties. This right is not limited to financial 
information or accounting records and applies equally to premises or equipment used in connection 
with this Agreement.  Access may be at any time without notice, provided there is good cause for 
access without notice. 

14 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY  

14.1 Subject to Clause 14.2, and 14.3, if a Partner (“First Partner”) incurs a loss arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement or the Services Contract as a consequence of any act or omission of 
another Partner (“Other Partner”) which constitutes negligence, fraud or a breach of contract in 
relation to this Agreement or the Services Contract then the Other Partner shall be liable to the First 
Partner for that Loss and shall indemnify the First Partner accordingly.  

14.2 Clause 14.1 shall only apply to the extent that the acts or omissions of the Other Partner contributed 
to the relevant Loss. Furthermore, it shall not apply if such act or omission occurred as a 

Page 117



11 
 

consequence of the Other Partner acting in accordance with the instructions or requests of the First 
Partner or the Programme Board.  

14.3 If any third party makes a claim or intimates an intention to make a claim against either Partner, 
which may reasonably be considered as likely to give rise to liability under this Clause 14. the 
Partner that may claim against the other indemnifying Partner will: 

14.3.1 as soon as reasonably practicable give written notice of that matter to the Other Partner 
specifying in reasonable detail the nature of the relevant claim; 

14.3.2 not make any admission of liability, agreement or compromise in relation to the relevant 
claim without the prior written consent of the Other Partner (such consent not to be 
unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed); 

14.3.3 give the Other Partner and its professional advisers reasonable access to its premises 
and personnel and to any relevant assets, accounts, documents and records within its 
power or control so as to enable the Indemnifying Partner and its professional advisers to 
examine such premises, assets, accounts, documents and records and to take copies at 
their own expense for the purpose of assessing the merits of, and if necessary defending, 
the relevant claim. 

14.4 Each Partner shall ensure that they maintain policies of insurance (or equivalent arrangements 
through schemes operated by the National Health Service Litigation Authority) in respect of all 
potential liabilities arising from this Agreement. 

14.5 Each Partner shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any loss for which 
one party is entitled to bring a claim against the other pursuant to this Agreement. 

15 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE 

15.1 The Partners will at all times comply with Law and ensure good corporate governance in respect of 
each Partner (including the Partners respective Standing Orders and Standing Financial 
Instructions).  

15.2 The Council is subject to the duty of Best Value under the Local Government Act 1999.  This 
Agreement and the operation of the Pooled Budget is therefore subject to the Council’s obligations 
for Best Value and the other Partners will co-operate with all reasonable requests from the Council 
which the Council considers necessary in order to fulfil its Best Value obligations. 

15.3 The CCG is subject to the CCG Statutory Duties and these incorporate a duty of clinical governance, 
which is a framework through which they are accountable for continuously improving the quality of its 
services and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an environment in which excellence in 
clinical care will flourish.  This Agreement and the operation of the Pooled Funds are therefore 
subject to ensuring compliance with the CCG Statutory Duties and clinical governance obligations. 

15.4 The Partners are committed to an approach to equality and equal opportunities as represented in 
their respective policies.  The Partners will maintain and develop these policies as applied to service 
provision, with the aim of developing a joint strategy for all elements of the service. 

16 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

16.1 The Partners shall comply with their organisations approved policy for identifying and managing 
conflicts of interest. A Register of Interests will be maintained by each organisation and relevant 
interests notified to the Connecting 4 You Programme Board.  

17 GOVERNANCE 

17.1 Overall strategic oversight of partnership working between the Partners is vested in the Health and 
Well Being Board, which for these purposes shall make recommendations to the Partners as to any 
action it considers necessary. 

Page 118



12 
 

17.2 The Partners have established the Connecting 4 You Programme Board to lead the development of 
integrated health and social care services within the CCG area of High Weald Lewes and Havens.  

17.3 The terms of reference of the Connecting 4 You Programme Board are set out in Schedule 2 
(Governance Arrangements). 

17.4 Each Partner has secured internal reporting arrangements to ensure the standards of accountability 
and probity required by each Partner's own statutory duties and organisation are complied with.   

17.5 The Connecting 4 You Programme Board shall be responsible for the overall approval of 
commissioned services, ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund Plan and the strategic 
direction of the Better Care Fund.  

18 REVIEW  

18.1 Save where the Connecting 4 You Programme Board agree alternative arrangements (including 
alternative frequencies) the Partners shall undertake an annual review (“Annual Review”) of the 
operation of this Agreement and the provision of the Services within three (3) months of the end of 
each Financial Year. 

18.2 Subject to any variations to this process required by the Connecting 4 You  Programme Board, 
annual reviews shall be conducted in good faith and, where applicable, in accordance with the 
governance arrangements set out in this Agreement.. 

18.3 The Partners shall within twenty (20) Working Days of the annual review prepare a joint annual 
report documenting the matters referred to in this Clause 18.  A copy of this report shall be provided 
to the Connecting 4 You Programme Board. 

18.4 In the event that the Partners fail to meet the requirements of the Better Care Fund Plan and NHS 
England, the Partners shall provide full co-operation with NHS England to agree a recovery plan. 

19 COMPLAINTS 

19.1 The Partners’ own complaints procedures shall apply to this Agreement. The Partners agree to 
assist one another in the management of complaints arising from this Agreement or the provision of 
the Services.  

20 TERMINATION & DEFAULT 

20.1 This Agreement may be terminated by any Partner giving not less than twelve (12) months' notice in 
writing to terminate this Agreement.  

20.2 If any Partner (“Relevant Partner”) fails to meet any of its obligations under this Agreement, the other 
Partners (acting jointly) may by notice require the Relevant Partner to take such reasonable action 
within a reasonable timescale as the other Partners may specify to rectify such failure.  Should the 
Relevant Partner fail to rectify such failure within such reasonable timescale, the matter shall be 
referred for resolution in accordance with Clause 21. 

20.3 Termination of this Agreement (whether by effluxion of time or otherwise) shall be without prejudice 
to the Partners’ rights in respect of any antecedent breach. 

20.4 Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever the following shall apply: 

20.4.1 the Partners agree that they will work together and co-operate to ensure that the winding 
down and disaggregation of the integrated and joint activities to the separate 
responsibilities of the Partners is carried out smoothly and with as little disruption as 
possible to service users, employees, the Partners and third parties, so as to minimise 
costs and liabilities of each Partner in doing so; 

Page 119



13 
 

20.4.2 where either Partner has entered into a Service Contract which continues after the 
termination of this Agreement, both Partners shall continue to contribute to the Contract 
Price in accordance with the agreed contribution for that Service prior to termination and 
will enter into all appropriate legal documentation required in respect of this; 

20.4.3 the Lead Commissioner shall make reasonable endeavours to amend or terminate a 
Service Contract (which shall for the avoidance of doubt not include any act or omission 
that would place the Lead Commissioner in breach of the Service Contract) where the 
other Partner requests the same in writing Provided that the Lead Commissioner shall not 
be required to make any payments to the Provider for such amendment or termination 
unless the Partners shall have agreed in advance who shall be responsible for any such 
payment. 

20.4.4 where a Service Contract held by a Lead Commissioner relates all or partially to services 
which relate to the other Partner's Functions then provided that the Service Contract 
allows the other Partner may request that the Lead Commissioner assigns or novates the 
Service Contract in whole or part upon the same terms mutatis mutandis as the original 
contract. 

20.4.5 The Connecting 4 You Programme  Board shall continue to operate for the purposes of 
functions associated with this Agreement for the remainder of any Service Contracts and 
commitments relating to this Agreement; and 

20.4.6 Termination of this Agreement shall have no effect on the liability of any rights or 
remedies of either Partner already accrued, prior to the date upon which such termination 
takes effect. 

21 DISPUTE RESOLUTION   

21.1 In the event of a dispute between the Partners arising out of this Agreement, either Partner may 
serve written notice of the dispute on the other Partner, setting out full details of the dispute. 

21.2 The Authorised Officers of both Partners shall meet in good faith as soon as possible and in any 
event within seven (7) days of notice of the dispute being served pursuant to Clause 21.1, at a 
meeting convened for the purpose of resolving the dispute. 

21.3 If the dispute remains after the meeting detailed in Clause 21.2 has taken place, the Partners' 
respective Chief Operating Officer(s) and/or Director(s) or nominees shall meet in good faith as soon 
as possible after the relevant meeting and in any event with fourteen (14) days of the date of the 
meeting, for the purpose of resolving the dispute. 

21.4 If the dispute remains after the meeting detailed in Clause 21.3 has taken place, then the Partners 
will attempt to settle such dispute by mediation in accordance with the CEDR Model Mediation 
Procedure or any other model mediation procedure as agreed by the Partners. To initiate mediation, 
either Partner may give notice in writing (a "Mediation Notice") to the other requesting mediation of 
the dispute and shall send a copy thereof to CEDR or an equivalent mediation organisation as 
agreed by the Partners asking them to nominate a mediator.  The mediation shall commence within 
twenty (20) Working Days of the Mediation Notice being served.  Neither Partner will terminate such 
mediation until each of them has made its opening presentation and the mediator has met each of 
them separately for at least one (1) hour.  Thereafter, paragraph 14 of the Model Mediation 
Procedure will apply (or the equivalent paragraph of any other model mediation procedure agreed by 
the Partners).  The Partners will co-operate with any person appointed as mediator, providing him 
with such information and other assistance as he shall require and will pay his costs as he shall 
determine or in the absence of such determination such costs will be shared equally. 

21.5 Nothing in the procedure set out in this Clause 21 shall in any way affect either Partner's right to 
terminate this Agreement in accordance with any of its terms or take immediate legal action. 

 

Page 120



14 
 

22 FORCE MAJEURE 

22.1 Neither Partner shall be entitled to bring a claim for a breach of obligations under this Agreement by 
the other Partner or incur any liability to the other Partner for any losses or damages incurred by that 
Partner to the extent that a Force Majeure Event occurs and it is prevented from carrying out its 
obligations by that Force Majeure Event. 

22.2 On the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Affected Partner shall notify the other Partner as 
soon as practicable.  Such notification shall include details of the Force Majeure Event, including 
evidence of its effect on the obligations of the Affected Partner and any action proposed to mitigate 
its effect. 

22.3 As soon as practicable, following notification as detailed in Clause 22.2, the Partners shall consult 
with each other in good faith and use all best endeavours to agree appropriate terms to mitigate the 
effects of the Force Majeure Event and, subject to Clause 22.4, facilitate the continued performance 
of this Agreement. 

22.4 If the Force Majeure Event continues for a period of more than sixty (60) days, either Partner shall 
have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving fourteen (14) days written notice of termination 
to the other Partner.  For the avoidance of doubt, no compensation shall be payable by either 
Partner as a direct consequence of this Agreement being terminated in accordance with this Clause 
22. 

23 CONFIDENTIALITY 

23.1 In respect of any Confidential Information a Partner receives from another Partner (the "Discloser") 
and subject always to the remainder of this Clause 25, each Partner (the "Recipient”) undertakes to 
keep secret and strictly confidential and shall not disclose any such Confidential Information to any 
third party, without the Discloser’s prior written consent provided that: 

23.1.1 the Recipient shall not be prevented from using any general knowledge, experience or 
skills which were in its possession prior to the Commencement Date; and 

23.1.2 the provisions of this Clause 23 shall not apply to any Confidential Information which: 

(a) is in or enters the public domain other than by breach of the Agreement or other 
act or omission of the Recipient; or 

(b) is obtained by a third party who is lawfully authorised to disclose such information. 

23.2 Nothing in this Clause 23 shall prevent the Recipient from disclosing Confidential Information where 
it is required to do so in fulfilment of statutory obligations or by judicial, administrative, governmental 
or regulatory process in connection with any action, suit, proceedings or claim or otherwise by 
applicable Law. 

23.3 Each Partner:  

23.3.1 may only disclose Confidential Information to its employees and professional advisors to 
the extent strictly necessary for such employees to carry out their duties under the 
Agreement; and 

23.3.2 will ensure that, where Confidential Information is disclosed in accordance with Clause 
23.3.1, the recipient(s) of that information is made subject to a duty of confidentiality 
equivalent to that contained in this Clause 23; 

23.3.3 shall not use Confidential Information other than strictly for the performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement. 

 

Page 121



15 
 

24 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION REGULATIONS 

24.1 The Partners agree that they will each cooperate with each other to enable any Partner receiving a 
request for information under the 2000 Act or the 2004 Regulations to respond to a request promptly 
and within the statutory timescales.  This cooperation shall include but not be limited to finding, 
retrieving and supplying information held, directing requests to the other Partner as appropriate and 
responding to any requests by the Partner receiving a request for comments or other assistance. 

24.2 Any and all agreements between the Partners as to confidentiality shall be subject to their duties 
under the 2000 Act and 2004 Regulations.  No Partner shall be in breach of Clause 24 if it makes 
disclosures of information in accordance with the 2000 Act and/or 2004 Regulations. 

25 OMBUDSMEN 

25.1 The Partners will co-operate with any investigation undertaken by the Health Service Commissioner 
for England or the Local Government Ombudsman for England (or both of them) in connection with 
this Agreement. 

26 INFORMATION SHARING 

26.1 The Partners will follow the Information Governance Protocol set out in schedule 4, and in so doing 
will  ensure that the operation this Agreement complies with Law, in particular the 1998 Act.  

27 NOTICES 

27.1 Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall either be delivered personally or sent by facsimile 
or sent by first class post or electronic mail.  The address for service of each Partner shall be as set 
out in Clause 27.3 or such other address as each Partner may previously have notified to the other 
Partner in writing.  A notice shall be deemed to have been served if: 

27.1.1 personally delivered, at the time of delivery;  

27.1.2 sent by facsimile, at the time of transmission; 

27.1.3 posted, at the expiration of forty eight (48) hours after the envelope containing the same 
was delivered into the custody of the postal authorities; and 

27.1.4 if sent by electronic mail, at the time of transmission and a telephone call must be made 
to the recipient warning the recipient that an electronic mail message has been sent to 
him (as evidenced by a contemporaneous note of the Partner sending the notice) and a 
hard copy of such notice is also sent by first class recorded delivery post (airmail if 
overseas) on the same day as that on which the electronic mail is sent. 

27.2 In proving such service, it shall be sufficient to prove that personal delivery was made, or that the 
envelope containing such notice was properly addressed and delivered into the custody of the postal 
authority as prepaid first class or airmail letter (as appropriate), or that the facsimile was transmitted 
on a tested line or that the correct transmission report was received from the facsimile machine 
sending the notice, or that the electronic mail was properly addressed and no message was received 
informing the sender that it had not been received by the recipient (as the case may be). 

27.3 The address for service of notices as referred to in Clause 27.1 shall be as follows unless otherwise 
notified to the other Partner in writing: 

27.3.1 if to the Council, addressed to the Director of Adult Social Care and Health for; 

East Sussex County Council, County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent, Lewes, East Sussex, BN7 
1UE  

 

Page 122



16 
 

27.3.2 if to the CCG, addressed to The Accountable Officer for: 

NHS High Weald Lewes Havens Clinical Commissioning Group, 36-38 Friars Walk, Lewes, 
East Sussex. BN7 2PB.         

28 VARIATION  

28.1 No variations to this Agreement will be valid unless they are recorded in writing and signed for and 
on behalf of both the Partners. 

29 CHANGE IN LAW 

29.1 The Partners shall ascertain, observe, perform and comply with all relevant Laws, and shall do and 
execute or cause to be done and executed all acts required to be done under or by virtue of any 
Laws.  

29.2 On the occurrence of any Change in Law, the Partners shall agree in good faith any amendment 
required to this Agreement as a result of the Change in Law subject to the Partners using all 
reasonable endeavours to mitigate the adverse effects of such Change in Law and taking all 
reasonable steps to minimise any increase in costs arising from such Change in Law. 

29.3 In the event of failure by the Partners to agree the relevant amendments to this Agreement (as 
appropriate), Clause 21 (Dispute Resolution) shall apply. 

30 WAIVER 

30.1 No failure or delay by any Partner to exercise any right, power or remedy will operate as a waiver of 
it nor will any partial exercise preclude any further exercise of the same or of some other right to 
remedy. 

31 SEVERANCE 

31.1 If any provision of this Agreement, not being of a fundamental nature, shall be held to be illegal or 
unenforceable, the enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement shall not thereby be affected. 

32 ASSIGNMENT  AND SUB CONTRACTING 

32.1 The Partners shall not sub contract, assign or transfer the whole or any part of this Agreement, 
without the prior written consent of the other Partners, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed. This shall not apply to any assignment to a statutory successor of all or part of a Partner’s 
statutory functions. 

33 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY 

33.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create a partnership under the Partnership 
Act 1890 or the Limited Partnership Act 1907, a joint venture or the relationship of employer and 
employee between the Partners or render either Partner directly liable to any third party for the 
debts, liabilities or obligations of the other.   

33.2 Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement or where the context or any statutory 
provision otherwise necessarily requires, neither Partner will have authority to, or hold itself out as 
having authority to: 

33.2.1 act as an agent of the other; 

33.2.2 make any representations or give any warranties to third parties on behalf of or in respect 
of the other; or 

33.2.3 bind the other in any way. 

Page 123



17 
 

34 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

34.1 Unless the right of enforcement is expressly provided, no third party shall have the right to pursue 
any right under this agreement pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or 
otherwise. 

35 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

35.1 The terms herein contained together with the contents of the Schedules constitute the complete 
agreement between the Partners with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all 
previous communications representations understandings and agreement and any representation 
promise or condition not incorporated herein shall not be binding on any Partner. 

35.2 No agreement or understanding varying or extending or pursuant to any of the terms or provisions 
hereof shall be binding upon any Partner unless in writing and signed by a duly authorised officer or 
representative of the Partners. 

36 COUNTERPARTS 

36.1 This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts.  Any single counterpart or a set of 
counterparts executed, in either case, by all Partners shall constitute a full original of this Agreement 
for all purposes.  

37 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

37.1 This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or 
formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of England and Wales. 

37.2 Subject to Clause 21 (Dispute Resolution), the Partners irrevocably agree that the courts of England 
and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and settle any action, suit, proceedings, dispute 
or claim, which may arises out of, or in connection with, this Agreement, its subject matter or 
formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims). 

 
  

Page 124



18 
 

SCHEDULE 1 
 
RISK SHARE PRINCIPLES IN RESPECT OF THE EAST SUSSEX BETTER CARE FUND 
 
Background 
 
This agreement describes the key principles underpinning the risk share arrangements between 
Commissioners in East Sussex in respect of the Better Care Fund (BCF). These commissioners comprise 
High Weald Lewes Havens (HWLH) CCG Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford (EHS) CCG, Hastings and 
Rother (HR) CCG and East Sussex County Council (ESCC). These principles should be applied consistently 
to each East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board Framework Section 75 agreement relating to the Better 
Care Fund and the Commissioning of Health and Social Care Services within East Sussex. 
 
The governance of the risk share principles on behalf of HWLH and ESCC will be the Connecting 4 You 
Programme Board who will review this schedule annually. 
 
For 2016/17 the contributions to the East Sussex BCF totals £43.499m. The following table details these 
contributions by organisation: 
 

 Total East 
Sussex HWB 

£m 

Total HR 
/EHS/ ESCC 

s75 £m 

Total HWLH / 
ESCC s75 

£m 

HWLH CCG 10.583 0 10.583 

EHS CCG 12.955 12.955 0 

HR CCG 13.263 13.263 0 

ESCC 6.698 5.016 1.682 

Total 43.499 31.234 12.265 

 
The BCF is intended to provide a framework for investment in schemes that promote better integration 
between social and health care services, to improve people’s health and social care experience while also 
delivering the benefits identified in the Connecting 4 You and ESBT programmes.  
 
Individual organisations are jointly responsible for risk managing the BCF s75 pooled budget arrangements 
and shall reflect and report identified organisational risk in their own corporate risk registers.  
 
Where there is any inconsistency between the risk share principles set out in this schedule and a s75 
agreement, the relevant Programme   Board will determine the appropriate action. 
 
Principle 1 
The risk share fund and contingency arrangement are intended to address financial risks associated with the 
delivery  of the 2016/17 BCF plan and ensures BCF investment does not cause a CCG partner to over 
extend in financial terms and put the achievement of its financial balance at risk.  
 
Principle 2 
That a risk share fund is established for each CCG which as a minimum is equal to the difference between 
the value of planned BCF healthcare activity reductions and the reductions realised within 2016/17 
healthcare contracts. The full value of the risk share fund is retained by each CCG from their BCF allocation 
which is paid into the pooled budget at the beginning of the year. 
 
Principle 3 
A contingency fund is established at the beginning of each year within the Pooled Fund equal to the 
difference between total BCF investment (excluding Risk Share Funds) and forecast expenditure in total of 
the individual approved BCF schemes.  
 
Principle 4 
New business cases for BCF will be approved by the relevant Programme Board or delegated sub- 
committee. Investment shall include a clear appraisal of financial risks associated with delivery and provide 
clarity on whether financial risk crystalizing is an appropriate call on risk share fund or contingency 
arrangements. The relevant Programme Board shall agree all investment decisions and risk handling 
mechanisms. 

Page 125



19 
 

 
Principle 5 
The lead commissioner as identified within the s75 agreements   will be responsible for reporting to the 
Programme   Boards the achievement of the BCF plans and for ensuring commissioning contracts reflect 
BCF savings and investment plans. 
 
Principle 6 
Each organisation will annually and following a properly conducted risk assessment of each BCF saving and 
investment scheme provide the relevant Programme   Board with a detailed plan of how the total quantum of 
risk is mitigated. The assessment shall include the likelihood and impact of each scheme delivering the 
expected outcomes at an organisational level in terms of activity reduction, cost reduction and operational 
and quality indicators.  
 
Principle 7 
The East Sussex Finance Sub Group will be responsible for co-ordinating the performance management of 
BCF schemes and will report to the relevant Programme Board quarterly. The East Sussex Finance Sub 
Group will make recommendations to the relevant Programme Board regarding mitigating actions, the 
application of risk share funds, contingency and underspends on schemes and the source of any additional 
pool funding required. 
 
  

Page 126



20 
 

SCHEDULE 2 
 
Governance Arrangements 
 
Terms of reference: Connecting 4 You Programme Board   
TO BE ADDED 
        
Terms of reference: East Sussex Finance Sub 
 
TO BE ADDED 
 
 

 
SCHEDULE 3: SCHEME INVESTMENTS 

Ref 
no. 

Scheme 2016/17 

 

£000 

 
1 Protecting Adult Social Care: a range of social care 

services that support health care, with a focus on 

discharge support. 

2,789 

2 Re-ablement: JCR services to be reviewed and further 

developed to support discharge, admissions avoidance 

and enhanced rapid response 

198 

3 IT systems: shared access to client records and 

enhancing risk stratification methodology  

30 

4 Carers: investment to support implementing the 

agreed joint multiagency approach to help people 

continue in their caring roles. 

1,360 

5 Care Act Implementation: amount of BCF identified by 

government as contributing to implementation of Care 

Bill, including additional assessments, safeguarding and 

Care Accounts for the care cost cap system. 

427 

6 Disabled Facilities Grant: existing grant for residents 

not in social housing, enabling disabled people to 

remain at home. 

1,361 

7 NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services 2,587 

8 East Sussex Mobile App 3 

9 Health and Social Care Connect 237 

10 Telecare 87 

11 TECS 59 

12 Commissioning Support for Services  51 

13 ESBT Programme 68 

Page 127



21 
 

   

14 Contingency  3,008 

   

 TOTAL  12,265 

 
 
SCHEDULE 4: INFORMATION GOVERNANCE 
 
TO BE ADDED 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed by the Partners on the date of this Agreement 
 
 
 
THE COMMON SEAL of EAST SUSSEX  )  
COUNTY COUNCIL [                      ] )  
was hereunto affixed in the presence of: )  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
………………………… 
Authorised Signatory 
 
 
 
 
Signed for on behalf of NHS HIGH WEALD 
LEWES HAVENS CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
………………………… 
Authorised Signatory 

 
 
 
 

 
 

   
   

 

Page 128


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held on 26 January 2016
	5 East Sussex Armed Forces Community
	Appendix 1 - Further reading

	6 The East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Strategic Plan 2015-18 Progress Report
	Appendix 1 - The East Sussex SAB Strategic Plan 2015-18

	7 Update on Mental Health Crisis Concordat
	Appendix 1 - East Sussex Crisis Care Concordat Action Plan

	8 Better Care Fund 2016/17
	Appendix 1 -  East Sussex 2016/17 BCF High level narrative plan
	Appendix 2 - East Sussex 2016/17 BCF Planning template
	Appendix 3 - BCF Section 75 agreement EHS/HR
	Appendix 4 -  BCF Section 75 agreement HWLH


